
For the best experience, open this PDF portfolio in
 
Acrobat X or Adobe Reader X, or later.
 

Get Adobe Reader Now! 

http://www.adobe.com/go/reader




T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2021 PACKETS\01-12-2021\07a-Kettle Park West Parkland Annexation 2021.doc 


CITY OF STOUGHTON, 207 S. Forrest Street, Stoughton, WI 53589 


ORDINANCE OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 


AN ORDINANCE PROVIDING FOR THE DIRECT ANNEXATION BY UNANIMOUS 


APPROVAL OF A PORTION OF THE TOWN OF RUTLAND TO THE CITY OF STOUGHTON, 


DANE COUNTY, WISCONSIN 


Committee Action:   Plan Commission recommends Council approval unanimously 


Fiscal Impact:       Unknown 


File Number: O-1- 2021 First Reading: 


Second Reading: 


January 12, 2021 


January 26, 2021 


RECITALS 


A. Kettle Park West LLC (“Owner”) owns land in the Town of Rutland as described in Exhibit A


and shown in Exhibit B (the “Territory”) and is seeking to annex the Territory (part of parcel


#052/0510-013-8385-0) by unanimous approval to the City of Stoughton, pursuant to Wis.


Stat. § 66.0217(2).


B. The City of Stoughton Plan Commission has recommended that the Territory be annexed to the


City, and that the Territory be assigned a zoning classification of I – Institutional (Park).


C. The proposed annexation has been reviewed by the Wisconsin Department of Administration


(MBR #14357) to and has been determined to be in the public interest.


D. The population of the annexation area is 0.


E. The annexation represents approximately 4.010 acres from the Town of Rutland.


NOW, THEREFORE, the Common Council of the City of Stoughton, Dane County, Wisconsin, 


does ordain as follows: 


ORDINANCE 


1. Recitals.  The above recitals are material to and are incorporated in this Ordinance.


2. Territory Annexed.  The Territory is annexed to the City of Stoughton pursuant to Wis.


Stat. § 66.0217(2). 


3. Effect of Annexation.  From and after the effective date of this ordinance, the Territory


shall be a part of the City of Stoughton for any and all purposes provided by law, and all


persons coming or residing within such Territory shall be subject to all ordinances,


rules, and regulations governing the City of Stoughton.







T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2021 PACKETS\01-12-2021\07a-Kettle Park West Parkland Annexation 2021.doc 


4. Zoning Designation.  The Territory shall be zoned I – Institutional (Park). 


5. Ward Designation.  The Territory shall be added to Ward No. 9 of the City of 


Stoughton. 


6. Clerk Duties.  The City Clerk is hereby directed to publish notice of and provide copies 


of this Ordinance in accordance with the applicable Wisconsin Statutes. 


7. Effective Date.  This ordinance shall take effect upon passage and publication as 


provided by law. 
 


 


 


APPROVED: 


 


 


By:        


Tim Swadley, Mayor 


 


ATTEST: 


 


        


Holly Licht, City Clerk 


APPROVED:  ___________ 


PUBLISHED: ___________ 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2021 PACKETS\01-12-2021\07a-Kettle Park West Parkland Annexation 2021.doc 


 


 


EXHIBIT  A 


 


PARKLAND DEDICATION 
Legal Description 


 
Part of the Northeast Quarter of the Southwest Quarter of Section 01, Township 05 North, Range 10 


East, Town of Rutland, Dane County, Wisconsin, more particularly described as follows: 


 


Commencing at the South Quarter corner of Section 01, aforesaid; thence North 00 degrees 04 minutes 


33 seconds West along the East line of the Southwest Quarter, aforesaid, 1320.87 feet to the Southeast 


corner of the Northeast Quarter of the Southwest Quarter, also being the Point of Beginning; thence 


North 87 degrees 05 minutes 33 seconds West along the South line of the Northeast Quarter of the 


Southwest Quarter of Section 01, aforesaid, 521.10 feet; thence North 00 degrees 04 minutes 33 


seconds West, 337.39 feet; thence South 86 degrees 42 minutes 21 seconds East, 521.30 feet to the 


East line of the Southwest Quarter of Section 01, aforesaid; thence South 00 degrees 04 minutes 33 


seconds East along said line, 333.87 feet to the Point of Beginning. 


 


Containing 174,661 square feet or 4.010 acres. 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


 


 


 


 


 







T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2021 PACKETS\01-12-2021\07a-Kettle Park West Parkland Annexation 2021.doc 


EXHIBIT  B 


 


 















Dan O’Callaghan 
222 W. Washington Ave., Ste. 705 


Madison, WI 53703-2745 
direct: 608.888.1685 


dan.ocallaghan@carlsonblack.com 


CARLSON BLACK O’CALLAGHAN & BATTENBERG LLP carlsonblack.com 


November 10, 2020 


VIA U.S. MAIL AND EMAIL 


Holly Licht, City Clerk 
207 S. Forrest St. 
Stoughton, WI 53589 


Re: Annexation Petition filed by Kettle Park West, LLC 


Dear Ms. Licht: 


On behalf of Kettle Park West, LLC, enclosed for filing please find a Petition for Direct 
Annexation by Unanimous Consent, which seeks to annex approximately 4 acres from the Town 
of Rutland to the City of Stoughton, as more fully described in the petition.  Copies of the 
petition are being filed with the Department of Administration and the Rutland Town Clerk. 


Very truly yours, 


CARLSON BLACK O’CALLAGHAN & BATTENBERG LLP 


Daniel O’Callaghan 


Enclosure 


cc: David Jenkins, Kettle Park West, LLC 
Dawn George, Clerk, Town of Rutland 
Erich Schmidtke, Municipal Boundary Review, DOA 
Rodney Scheel, Planning Director, City of Stoughton 



schmiejjwl

MBR Date Received



schmiejjwl

Text Box

November 10, 2020







10th November







	


 
 


PART OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF 
SECTION 01, TOWNSHIP 05 NORTH, RANGE 10 EAST, DANE COUNTY, WISCONSIN 


Legal Description 
 
 
Part of the Northeast Quarter of the Southwest Quarter of Section 01, Township 05 North, Range 10 East, Town of 
Rutland, Dane County, Wisconsin, more particularly described as follows: 
 
Commencing at the South Quarter corner of Section 01, aforesaid; thence North 00 degrees 04 minutes 33 seconds West 
along the East line of the Southwest Quarter, aforesaid, 1320.87 feet to the Southeast corner of the Northeast Quarter of 
the Southwest Quarter, also being the Point of Beginning; thence North 87 degrees 05 minutes 33 seconds West along 
the South line of the Northeast Quarter of the Southwest Quarter of Section 01, aforesaid, 521.10 feet; thence North 00 
degrees 04 minutes 33 seconds West, 337.39 feet; thence South 86 degrees 42 minutes 21 seconds East, 521.30 feet to 
the East line of the Southwest Quarter of Section 01, aforesaid; thence South 00 degrees 04 minutes 33 seconds East 
along said line, 333.87 feet to the Point of Beginning. 
 
Containing 174,661 square feet or 4.010 acres. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 















November 12, 2020 PETITION FILE NO. 14357


HOLLY LICHT, CLERK
CITY OF STOUGHTON
207 S FORREST ST
STOUGHTON, WI 53589-1724


DAWN GEORGE, CLERK
TOWN OF RUTLAND
4177 OLD STAGE RD
BROOKLYN, WI 53521-9473


Subject: KETTLE PARK WEST ANNEXATION


Section 66.0217 (6), Wis. Stats., provides that the annexation of lands to cities and villages within a county 
having a population of 50,000 or more shall be reviewed by the Department of Administration in order to 
determine if the proposed annexation is in the public interest or against the public interest. The proposed 
annexation from the TOWN OF RUTLAND to the CITY OF STOUGHTON (see attached description) 
must be reviewed pursuant to the statute.


To assist us in making this determination, we urge that you promptly supply the data requested on the 
enclosed questionnaire (where possible) and return the questionnaire to the department.


The purpose of this questionnaire is to assist the department in determining "Whether the governmental 
services, including zoning, to be supplied to the territory could clearly be better supplied by the town...." 
The statute further stipulates that the department shall study the "shape of the proposed annexation and the 
homogeneity of the territory with the annexing municipality." In addition, we would appreciate receiving 
from you any comments or information bearing on governmental services or shape and homogeneity that 
would indicate whether the annexation is in or against the public interest.


Please return the questionnaire as soon as possible so that the information can be reviewed prior to the 
department's statutory deadline of November 30, 2020. Direct any questions and comments to Erich 
Schmidtke at (608) 264-6102. Thank you for your cooperation.


For additional information on annexation or other land use issues, visit our web site at 
http://doa.wi.gov/municipalboundaryreview/.


Sincerely,


Erich Schmidtke


Enclosures


TONY EVERS


JOEL BRENNAN


GOVERNOR


SECRETARY


Municipal Boundary Review
PO Box 1645, Madison WI 53701
Voice (608) 264-6102     Fax (608) 264-6104
Email: wimunicipalboundaryreview@wi.gov
Web: http://doa.wi.gov/municipalboundaryreview















      


 


 


 


TONY EVERS 
 


  


  


GOVERNOR 
 


  


  


JOEL BRENNAN 
 


  


  


SECRETARY 
 


  


  


Municipal Boundary Review 
PO Box 1645, Madison WI 53701 
Voice (608) 264-6102     Fax (608) 264-6104 
Email: wimunicipalboundaryreview@wi.gov 
Web: http://doa.wi.gov/municipalboundaryreview 


 


 


     


      


      


 November 30, 2020  PETITION FILE NO. 14357 


         


 HOLLY LICHT, CLERK 


CITY OF STOUGHTON 


207 S FORREST ST 


STOUGHTON, WI 53589-1724 


 DAWN GEORGE, CLERK 


TOWN OF RUTLAND 


4177 OLD STAGE RD 


BROOKLYN, WI 53521-9473 


         


 Subject: KETTLE PARK WEST ANNEXATION 


 


The proposed annexation submitted to our office on November 10, 2020, has been reviewed and found to be in the 


public interest. In determining whether an annexation is in the public interest, s. 66.0217 (6), Wis. Stats. requires the 


Department to examine "[t]he shape of the proposed annexation and the homogeneity of the territory with the 


annexing village or city…." so as, to ensure the resulting boundaries are rational and compact. The statute also 


requires the Department to consider whether the annexing city or village can provide needed municipal services to 


the territory. The subject petition is for territory that is reasonably shaped and contiguous to the CITY OF 


STOUGHTON, which is able to provide needed municipal services. 


 


 


Note:  The boundary of the territory to be annexed as shown on the scale map does not match the boundary described 


in the legal description; please revise so that the boundary map and description match prior to inclusion in the 


annexation ordinance. 


 


Note: The Dane County Land Records Review Analyst has the following comments: The legal description used as a 


description for the annexed lands does not match the area shown on the corresponding map. The legal description 


also does not match the description of lands deeded to the petitioner, so if the described lands are annexed it would 


include lands of others. If the legal description were to be amended to match the lands displayed on the map it would 


then include lands of the petitioner. 


 


 


The Department reminds clerks of annexing municipalities of the requirements of s. 66.0217 (9)(a), Wis. Stats., 


which states: 


 


"The clerk of a city or village which has annexed shall file immediately with the secretary of administration a 


certified copy of the ordinance, certificate and plat, and shall send one copy to each company that provides any 


utility service in the area that is annexed. The clerk shall record the ordinance with the register of deeds and file a 


signed copy of the ordinance with the clerk of any affected school district..." 


 


State and federal aids based on population and equalized value may be significantly affected through failure to file 


with the Department of Administration. Please file a copy of your annexing ordinance, including a statement 


certifying the population of the annexed territory. Please include your MBR number 14357 with your ordinance. 


Ordinance filing checklist available at http://mds.wi.gov/, click on "Help on How to Submit Municipal Records". 


Email scanned copy of required materials (color scan maps with color) to mds@wi.gov or mail to: Wisconsin 


Department of Administration, Municipal Boundary Review, PO Box 1645, Madison WI 53701-1645. 


 


 


 



http://mds.wi.gov/

mailto:mds@wi.gov





 


 


Page 2                                                                                                                                  PETITION FILE NO. 14357                                                            


November 30, 2020 


 


 


The petition file is available for viewing at: http://mds.wi.gov/View/Petition?ID=2431 


Please call me at (608) 264-6102, should you have any questions concerning this annexation review. 


         


 Sincerely, 


 


 


 Erich Schmidtke, Municipal Boundary Review  cc: petitioner 
 


 



http://mds.wi.gov/View/Petition?ID=2431



		07a-Kettle Park West Parkland Annexation 2021

		07b-Kettle Park West LLC Parkland Annexation

		LD-EM-157018 LD Parkland Legal (2020-12-02).pdf

		LD-157018 LD Parkland Legal (2020-12-02)

		EM-157018 Exhibit-Park Ded-Rutland Annexation (12-02-2020)














T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2021 PACKETS\01-12-2021\08a-Junction 138 Annexation 2021.doc 


CITY OF STOUGHTON, 207 S. Forrest Street, Stoughton, WI 53589 


 


ORDINANCE OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 


AN ORDINANCE PROVIDING FOR THE DIRECT ANNEXATION BY UNANIMOUS 


APPROVAL OF A PORTION OF THE TOWN OF RUTLAND TO THE CITY OF STOUGHTON, 


DANE COUNTY, WISCONSIN 


 


Committee Action:    Plan Commission recommends Council approval unanimously  


Fiscal Impact:       Unknown 


File Number: O -2- 2021 First Reading: 


Second Reading: 


January 12, 2021 


January 26, 2021 


 


RECITALS 


 


A. JUNCTION 138, LLC (“Owner”) owns land in the Town of Rutland (parcel #052/0510-121-


8031-0) as described in Exhibit A and shown in Exhibit B (the “Territory”) and is seeking to 


annex the Territory by unanimous approval to the City of Stoughton, pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 


66.0217(2). 


 


B. The City of Stoughton Plan Commission has recommended that the Territory be annexed to the 


City, and that the Territory be assigned a temporary zoning classification of RH - Rural 


Holding. 


 


C. The proposed annexation has been reviewed by the Wisconsin Department of Administration 


(MBR #14356) and has been determined to be in the public interest. 


 


D. The population of the proposed land is 0. 


 


E. The annexation represents approximately 1.152 acres from the Town of Rutland. 


 


 


NOW, THEREFORE, the Common Council of the City of Stoughton, Dane County, Wisconsin, 


does ordain as follows: 


 


ORDINANCE 


 


1. Recitals.  The above recitals are material to and are incorporated in this Ordinance. 


 


2. Territory Annexed.  The Territory is annexed by unanimous approval to the City of 


Stoughton pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 66.0217(2). 


3. Effect of Annexation.  From and after the effective date of this ordinance, the Territory 


shall be a part of the City of Stoughton for any and all purposes provided by law, and all 







T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2021 PACKETS\01-12-2021\08a-Junction 138 Annexation 2021.doc 


persons coming or residing within such Territory shall be subject to all ordinances, 


rules, and regulations governing the City of Stoughton. 


4. Temporary Zoning Designation.  The Territory shall be temporarily zoned R-H Rural


Holding. 


5. Ward Designation.  The Territory shall be added to Ward No. 9 of the City of


Stoughton. 


6. Clerk Duties.  The City Clerk is hereby directed to publish notice of and provide copies


of this Ordinance in accordance with the applicable Wisconsin Statutes.


7. Effective Date.  This ordinance shall take effect upon passage and publication as


provided by law.


APPROVED: 


By: 


Tim Swadley, Mayor 


ATTEST: 


Holly Licht, City Clerk 


APPROVED:  ___________ 


PUBLISHED: ___________ 







T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2021 PACKETS\01-12-2021\08a-Junction 138 Annexation 2021.doc 


 


 


 


EXHIBIT  A 


 


LEGAL DESCRIPTION 


 
Part of the Northeast Quarter of the Northeast Quarter of Section 12, Township 05 North, Range 10 East, Town 
of Rutland, Dane County, Wisconsin, more particularly described as follows: 
 
Commencing at the Northeast corner of Section 12, aforesaid; thence North 87 degrees 05 minutes 45 seconds 
West along the North line of the Northeast Quarter, aforesaid, 294.30 feet to the Point of Beginning; thence 
South 02 degrees 53 minutes 47 seconds West, 250.87 feet; thence North 87 degrees 05 minutes 45 seconds 
West, 200.00 feet; thence North 02 degrees 53 minutes 47 seconds East, 250.87 feet to the North line of the 
Northeast Quarter; thence South 87 degrees 05 minutes 45 seconds East along said line, 200.00 feet to the 
Point of Beginning. 
 
Containing 50,174 square feet or 1.152 acres. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2021 PACKETS\01-12-2021\08a-Junction 138 Annexation 2021.doc 


EXHIBIT  B 


 
 







schmiejjwl

Date Stamp



schmiejjwl

Text Box

October 22, 2020































November 09, 2020 PETITION FILE NO. 14356


HOLLY LICHT, CLERK
CITY OF STOUGHTON
207 S FORREST ST
STOUGHTON, WI 53589-1724


DAWN GEORGE, CLERK
TOWN OF RUTLAND
4177 OLD STAGE RD
BROOKLYN, WI 53521-9473


Subject: JUNCTION 138 LLC ANNEXATION


Section 66.0217 (6), Wis. Stats., provides that the annexation of lands to cities and villages within a county 
having a population of 50,000 or more shall be reviewed by the Department of Administration in order to 
determine if the proposed annexation is in the public interest or against the public interest. The proposed 
annexation from the TOWN OF RUTLAND to the CITY OF STOUGHTON (see attached description) 
must be reviewed pursuant to the statute.


To assist us in making this determination, we urge that you promptly supply the data requested on the 
enclosed questionnaire (where possible) and return the questionnaire to the department.


The purpose of this questionnaire is to assist the department in determining "Whether the governmental 
services, including zoning, to be supplied to the territory could clearly be better supplied by the town...." 
The statute further stipulates that the department shall study the "shape of the proposed annexation and the 
homogeneity of the territory with the annexing municipality." In addition, we would appreciate receiving 
from you any comments or information bearing on governmental services or shape and homogeneity that 
would indicate whether the annexation is in or against the public interest.


Please return the questionnaire as soon as possible so that the information can be reviewed prior to the 
department's statutory deadline of November 27, 2020. Direct any questions and comments to Erich 
Schmidtke at (608) 264-6102. Thank you for your cooperation.


For additional information on annexation or other land use issues, visit our web site at 
http://doa.wi.gov/municipalboundaryreview/.


Sincerely,


Erich Schmidtke


Enclosures


TONY EVERS


JOEL BRENNAN


GOVERNOR


SECRETARY


Municipal Boundary Review
PO Box 1645, Madison WI 53701
Voice (608) 264-6102     Fax (608) 264-6104
Email: wimunicipalboundaryreview@wi.gov
Web: http://doa.wi.gov/municipalboundaryreview







November 24, 2020 PETITION FILE NO. 14356


HOLLY LICHT, CLERK
CITY OF STOUGHTON
207 S FORREST ST
STOUGHTON, WI 53589-1724


DAWN GEORGE, CLERK
TOWN OF RUTLAND
4177 OLD STAGE RD
BROOKLYN, WI 53521-9473


Subject: JUNCTION 138 LLC ANNEXATION


The proposed annexation submitted to our office on November 06, 2020, has been reviewed and found to be in the 
public interest. In determining whether an annexation is in the public interest, s. 66.0217 (6), Wis. Stats. requires the 
Department to examine "[t]he shape of the proposed annexation and the homogeneity of the territory with the 
annexing village or city…." so as, to ensure the resulting boundaries are rational and compact. The statute also 
requires the Department to consider whether the annexing city or village can provide needed municipal services to 
the territory. The subject petition is for territory that is reasonably shaped and contiguous to the CITY OF 
STOUGHTON, which is able to provide needed municipal services.


The Department reminds clerks of annexing municipalities of the requirements of s. 66.0217 (9)(a), Wis. Stats., 
which states:


"The clerk of a city or village which has annexed shall file immediately with the secretary of administration a 
certified copy of the ordinance, certificate and plat, and shall send one copy to each company that provides any utility 
service in the area that is annexed. The clerk shall record the ordinance with the register of deeds and file a signed 
copy of the ordinance with the clerk of any affected school district..."


State and federal aids based on population and equalized value may be significantly affected through failure to file 
with the Department of Administration. Please file a copy of your annexing ordinance, including a statement 
certifying the population of the annexed territory. Please include your MBR number 14356 with your ordinance. 
Ordinance filing checklist available at http://mds.wi.gov/, click on "Help on How to Submit Municipal Records". 
Email scanned copy of required materials (color scan maps with color) to mds@wi.gov or mail to: Wisconsin 
Department of Administration, Municipal Boundary Review, PO Box 1645, Madison WI 53701-1645.


The petition file is available for viewing at: http://mds.wi.gov/View/Petition?ID=2430
Please call me at (608) 264-6102, should you have any questions concerning this annexation review.


Sincerely,


Erich Schmidtke, Municipal Boundary Review cc: petitioner


TONY EVERS


JOEL BRENNAN


GOVERNOR


SECRETARY


Municipal Boundary Review
PO Box 1645, Madison WI 53701
Voice (608) 264-6102     Fax (608) 264-6104
Email: wimunicipalboundaryreview@wi.gov
Web: http://doa.wi.gov/municipalboundaryreview



http://mds.wi.gov/

mailto:mds@wi.gov

http://mds.wi.gov/View/Petition?ID=2430

http://mds.wi.gov/View/Petition?ID=2430













Sources: Esri, HERE, Garmin, Intermap, increment P Corp., GEBCO, USGS, FAO, NPS, NRCAN, GeoBase, IGN, Kadaster NL, Ordnance Survey, Esri Japan,
METI, Esri China (Hong Kong), (c) OpenStreetMap contributors, and the GIS User Community


Junction 138 LLC Annexation


Dane County Mask
Dane County Mask
Parcels


November 24, 2020 0 250 500125 Feet


¯



mstacey

Highlight



mstacey

Highlight





		08a-Junction 138 Annexation 2021

		08b-Junction 138 Annexation










T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2021 PACKETS\01-12-2021\09a-Amend Swimming Pool Section 78-722.docx 


CITY OF STOUGHTON, 207 S. Forrest Street, Stoughton, WI 53589 


ORDINANCE OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 


Amending Zoning Code Sections 78-722 of the Stoughton Municipal Code 


Committee 


Action:   


Plan Commission recommends approval unanimously 


Fiscal Impact:      None 


File Number: O -3-2021 First Reading: 


Second Reading: 


January 12, 2021 


January 26, 2021 


The Common Council of the City of Stoughton do ordain as follows: 


Sec. 78-722 – Swimming Pool Standards  


(1) Definition. A "swimming pool" means an outdoor structure containing a body of water in


a receptacle or other container having a depth for water at any point greater than 36


inches located above or below the surface of ground elevation or deck, used or intended 


to be used solely by the owner, operator or lessee thereof and his by family and by 


friends invited to use it, and includes all structural facilities, appliances and 


appurtenances, equipment and other items used and intended to be used for the 


operation and maintenance of a private or residential swimming pool.  


(2) Exempt pools. Non-filtered storable swimming or wading pools that are so constructed


that they may be readily disassembled for storage and reassembled to their original


integrity and have a maximum water capacity of 36 inches are exempt from the 


provisions of this section. Decorative pools that are 36 inches or less in maximum 


water depth are exempt from the provisions of this section. Spas and hot tubs with 


lockable tops are also exempt.  


(3) Permit required. Before work is commenced on the construction or erection of a private or


residential swimming pool or on any alterations, additions, remodeling or other


improvements, an application for a swimming pool building permit to construct, erect, 


alter, remodel or add thereto must be submitted in writing to the building inspector. 


Plans and specifications and pertinent explanatory data should be submitted to the 


building inspector at the time of application. No work or any part of the work shall be 


commenced until a written permit for such work is obtained by the applicant. A current 


fee shall accompany such application.  


(4) Construction requirements. In addition to such other requirements as may be reasonably


imposed by the building inspector, the building inspector shall not issue a permit for


construction as provided for in subsection (3), above, unless the following construction 


requirements are observed:  


(a)  Approved materials. All materials and methods of construction in the construction,


alteration, addition, remodeling or other improvements and pool installation shall be







T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2021 PACKETS\01-12-2021\09a-Amend Swimming Pool Section 78-722.docx 


 


in accord with all state regulations and code and with any and all ordinances of the 


city now in effect or hereafter enacted.  


(b)  Plumbing. All plumbing work shall be in accordance with all applicable ordinances 


of the city and all state codes. Every private or residential swimming pool shall be 


provided with a suitable draining method, and in no case shall waters from any pool 


be drained into the sanitary sewer system, or onto lands of other property owners 


adjacent to that on which the pool is located or in the general vicinity.  


(c)  Electrical installations. All electrical installations, including lighting and heating but 


not limited thereto, which are provided for, installed and used in conjunction with a 


private swimming pool shall be in conformance with the state laws and city 


ordinances regulating electrical installations.  


(5) Setbacks and other requirements.  


(a)  Private swimming pools shall be erected or constructed on rear or side lots only and 


only on a lot occupied by a principal building. No swimming pool shall be erected 


or constructed on an otherwise vacant lot. A lot shall not be considered vacant if the 


owner owns the contiguous lot and said lot is occupied by a principal building.  


(b)  All swimming pools shall be at least six feet from any lot line or building unless 


designed and approved as an addition to a building.  


(6) Enclosure. Pools within the scope of this section that are not enclosed with a permanent 


building shall be completely enclosed by a fence of sufficient strength to prevent access 


to the pool. Such fence or wall including gates and doors shall not be less than five 


feet in height from ground level, and not less than four feet from the pool edge, and 


constructed not to have voids, holes or openings larger than four inches in one 


dimension. Gates or doors shall be equipped with self-closing and self-latching devices 


located at the top of the gate or door on the pool side of the enclosure, except the door 


of any residence that forms a part of the enclosure.  Above ground pools with an 


attached rail fence system that combined with the side of the pool is at least 5 feet 


in overall height above ground level satisfies fencing height requirements.  Any 


deck or entry attached or adjacent to an above ground pool must be fenced to meet 


the 5-foot height requirement and any stairs used to gain entrance to an above 


ground pool shall be equipped with a gate with self-closing, self-latching devices as 


described above.  This section shall not apply to existing fences on the date of 


adoption of the ordinance from which this section is derived at least 40 inches in 


height that otherwise comply with this section.  


(7) Compliance. All swimming pools, including those pools existing at the time of passage of 


this section, chapter not satisfactorily fenced shall comply with the fencing requirements 


of this section. or when water is placed in the pool.  Enclosures on existing for pools 


shall be inspected by the zoning administrator building inspector for compliance. 


Variations in enclosure requirements that do not adversely affect the safety of the public 


may be approved.  


(8) Draining and approval thereof. No private swimming pool shall be constructed so as to 


allow water therefrom to drain into any sanitary sewer nor to overflow upon or cause 


damage to any adjoining property. Provisions may be made for draining the contents of 







T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2021 PACKETS\01-12-2021\09a-Amend Swimming Pool Section 78-722.docx 


any swimming pool into a storm sewer, but such installation shall be subject to prior 


approval by the Plumbing Inspector.  


(9) Filter system required. All private swimming pools within the meaning of this chapter 


must have, in connection therewith, some filtration system to assure proper circulation 


of the water therein and maintenance of the proper bacterial quality thereof.  


(10) Dirt bottoms prohibited. All swimming pools of a permanent nature shall have the sides 


and bottom of a smooth finish, and no sand or dirt bottom shall be permitted.  


  


This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its date of publication. 


 


Dates 


 


Council Adopted:   


 


Mayor Approved:            


      Tim Swadley, Mayor 


Published:    


 


Attest:             


       Holly Licht, City Clerk 







T:\PACKETS\PLAN COMMISSION\2020\121420\Plan Info\Malling Swim Pool Request Memo.doc 


 
 


CITY OF STOUGHTON  RODNEY J. SCHEEL 
DEPARTMENT OF    DIRECTOR 
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 
207 S. Forrest Street, Stoughton, WI. 53589 


 
(608) 873-6619     www.ci.stoughton.wi.us 


 
 
 


 
 
Date:  November 25, 2020 
 
To:  Plan Commissioners and Common Council  
   
From:  Rodney J. Scheel 
  Director of Planning & Development 
 
  Michael P. Stacey 
  Zoning Administrator/Assistant Planner 
 
Subject: Agenda Item for the December 14, 2020 Plan Commission Meeting and Common 


Council Meetings of January 12 and 26, 2021 
 
Request by Vik Malling to amend zoning ordinance section 78-722(7) Swimming Pool 
Standards. 
This amendment is being proposed as an alternative to placing fencing around a swimming pool and 
instead placing fencing on top of the pool wall and around any decking and stairs if applicable to 
prevent access without adult supervision.  A public hearing was held on October 12, 2020.  A 
recommendation to Council is necessary.  The ordinance, previous minutes and application 
information are provided.  We believe this could be a workable change to the ordinance if followed 
correctly by the property owner. 
 
 
   
 
 


 



http://www.ci.stoughton.wi.us/













































T:\PACKETS\APPROVED COMMITTEE MINUTES\Plan Commission\2020\Plan Minutes  10-12-20.docx 


Plan Commission Meeting Minutes 
Monday, October 12, 2020 at 6:00 pm 
Virtual Meeting 
 
Members Present:  Mayor Tim Swadley, Chair; Todd Barman; Phil Caravello; Tom Robinson; Tom 
Selsor; and Brett Schumacher 
Members Absent: Tom Majewski 
Staff:  Michael Stacey, Zoning Administrator and Rodney Scheel, Director of Planning and 
Development 
Press: None 
Guests: Vik Malling; William Montelbano; Mary Allen; Bernie Lange; Nick Allen; Joseph Crubaugh. 
 
1. Call to order.  Mayor Swadley called the meeting to order at 6:00 pm. 


 
2. Consider approval of the Plan Commission meeting minutes of September 14, 2020. 


Motion by Selsor to approve the minutes as presented, 2nd by Robinson.   
 
Barman clarified the zoning code does not prohibit internally lit signs in the downtown design 
overlay zoning district rather the code prohibits plastic signs.   
 
Motion carried unanimously. 
 


3. Council Representative Report. 
Caravello stated the Common Council approved the following: 


• Zoning amendment to allow alcohol production in the Central Business District 
• CSM approvals (2) for Habitat for Humanity at Abel Court 
• First reading for rezonings at Abel Court  
• CUP for Mershon’s Cidery 
• CUP for Lutz Brothers 
• CUP for Bouzek 
• ETJ CSM for Lange 
• ETJ CSM for Chandler 
• First reading for zoning amendment related to exterior lighting regulation 


 
4. Staff Report - Status of Current Developments. 


Scheel gave an overview of the current status of developments as outlined in the packet of 
materials.  There were no questions. 
 


5. Request by Vik Malling to amend zoning ordinance section 78-722(7) Swimming Pool 
Standards. 
Scheel explained the request. 
 
Mayor Swadley opened the public hearing. 
 
No one registered to speak. 
 
Mayor Swadley closed the public hearing. 
 



mstacey

Highlight







Plan Commission Meeting Minutes 
10/12/20 
Page 2 of 3 
 


T:\PACKETS\APPROVED COMMITTEE MINUTES\Plan Commission\2020\Plan Minutes  10-12-20.docx 


 


Barman is concerned about the language related to the gated access to the stairs.  Scheel stated 
current language requires self-closing, self-latching gates. 
 
Vik Malling stated the proposal is to lock the gate but it could be self-closing, self-latching. 
 
Barman stated the need to take into account all types of products when amending the code. 
 
Motion by Schumacher to postpone this agenda item until the November meeting to allow staff to 
revise the language, 2nd by Caravello.  Motion carried unanimously. 


 
6. Request by William Montelbano for renovation approval at Fosdal’s Bakery, 243 E. Main 


Street. 
Scheel explained the request. 
 
Joe Crubaugh stated the intent is to provide better access for customers. 
 
William Montelbano gave an overview of the plans. 
 
Scheel noted a survey will be necessary to determine the limits of the front property line for the 
ADA ramp. 
 
Barman questioned the decision to change from a demo/addition to a renovation.  Bernie Lange 
stated the change was driven by cost. 
 
Caravello expressed concern that the ramp could be attractive to kids with skateboards. 
 
The group discussed options to prevent kids from using the ramp for skateboards. 


 
Mayor Swadley opened the public hearing. 
 
No one registered to speak. 
 
Mayor Swadley closed the public hearing. 
 
Motion by Robinson to approve the renovation as presented, 2nd by Caravello.   
 
Barman questioned the ADA ramp width and how much sidewalk would be left for pedestrians. 
Scheel stated the current width of the sidewalk is approximately 12 feet. 
 
Scheel stated if the ramp is in the right-of-way, there will be a separate approval process. 
 
William Montelbano stated the actual size of the ramp will be 3 feet 6 inches to allow for the 
railing. 
 
Motion carried unanimously. 
 







T:\PACKETS\APPROVED COMMITTEE MINUTES\Plan Commission\2020\Plan Minutes  11-9-20.docx 


Plan Commission Meeting Minutes 
Monday, November 9, 2020 at 6:00 pm 
Virtual Meeting 
 
Members Present:  Mayor Tim Swadley, Chair; Todd Barman; Phil Caravello; Tom Robinson; Tom 
Selsor; Tom Majewski and Brett Schumacher 
Members Absent: None 
Staff:  Rodney Scheel, Director of Planning and Development 
Press: None 
Guests: Phil Harrison 
 
1. Call to order.  Mayor Swadley called the meeting to order at 6:00 pm. 


 
2. Consider approval of the Plan Commission meeting minutes of October 12, 2020. 


Motion by Robinson to approve the minutes as presented, 2nd by Caravello.  Motion carried 
unanimously. 
 


3. Council Representative Report. 
Caravello stated the Common Council approved the following:  
 


O-19-2020 – Amending the Zoning Classification at 1114 and 1115 Abel Court 
O-20-2020 – Amending Zoning Code 78-707 and 78-704 regarding exterior lighting 


 
4. Staff Report - Status of Current Developments. 


Scheel gave an overview of the current status of developments as outlined in the packet of 
materials.  There were no questions. 
 


5. Request by Vik Malling to amend zoning ordinance section 78-722(7) Swimming Pool 
Standards.  (postponed from September 12, 2020) 
Mr. Malling contacted the City and reported he couldn’t participate tonight.   
 
Barman reported his understanding of our existing ordinances regarding fencing for pools: the 
fence is high enough (5 ft) so you don’t have inadvertent accidents and far enough from the edge (4 
ft) to prevent someone from jumping over the fence into the pool.  He also stressed the “self-
closing, self-latching” requirement is important to him.  He suggested that the ordinance as 
proposed section 6 conflicts with section 7.  He suggests we should clean up this section and has 
offered some suggested language to be considered. 
 
Motion by Barman to postpone action until December to allow Mr. Malling to participate and to 
have staff incorporate Commissioner Barman’s suggested language into the draft ordinance, 2nd by 
Robinson.  Motion carried unanimously. 


 
6. Proposed zoning ordinance amendment to repeal section 78-205(12) and all references to 


group developments. 
Scheel explained the request. 
 
Mayor Swadley opened the public hearing. 
 
No one registered to speak. 
 



mstacey

Highlight





		09a-Amend Swimming Pool Section 78-722

		09b-Swimming Pool Regulations - Amend Sec 78-722

		ADP626B.tmp

		Plan Commission Meeting Minutes Monday, October 12, 2020 at 6:00 pm Virtual Meeting



		ADP8A71.tmp

		Plan Commission Meeting Minutes Monday, November 9, 2020 at 6:00 pm Virtual Meeting










CITY OF STOUGHTON, 207 S. FORREST STREET, STOUGHTON, WISCONSIN 
 


RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 


 
Approving an extra-territorial jurisdictional (ETJ) land division (CSM) request by Dale Beske for 


property located at 1357 Tower Drive, Town of Dunkirk, Dane County, Wisconsin. 


 
Committee Action: 


 
Plan Commission recommends Council approval 7 - 0 


 
Fiscal Impact: 


 
None 


 
File Number: 


 
R-7- 2021 


 
Date Introduced: January 26, 2021 


The City of Stoughton, Wisconsin, Common Council does proclaim as follows: 


 


WHEREAS, this land division request is proposed to add approximately 0.5 acres including a shed to the 


existing 0.5 acre residential parcel for a total of approximately 1 acre in the Town of Dunkirk; and 


 


WHEREAS, the City Comprehensive Plan is used as a guide for the general pattern of development as 


determined by the Plan Commission and Common Council. This property is within the City’s Extraterritorial 


Jurisdiction (ETJ) but is beyond the City’s long range planning area; and 


 


WHEREAS, the proposed lot complies with the maximum 2.5-acre requirement of the City land division 


ordinance; and  


 


WHEREAS, on January 11, 2021 the Stoughton Plan Commission reviewed the CSM request and 


recommend Common Council approval as presented; now therefore 


  


BE IT RESOLVED, by the City of Stoughton Common Council that the extra-territorial jurisdictional land 


division request by Dale Beske for property located at 1357 Tower Drive, Town of Dunkirk, is hereby 


approved as presented contingent on Town of Dunkirk and Dane County approval. 


 


 


 


Council Action:         Adopted     Failed Vote       


  


 


Mayoral Action:        Accept     Veto  


 


                                                     


Tim Swadley, Mayor       Date 


 


Council Action:           Override  Vote       
  


  


 


 


 


S:\MPS-Shared\Resolutions\Beske - 1357 Tower Drive ETJ CSM.doc 







T:\PACKETS\PLAN COMMISSION\2021\011121\Info\Beske CSM ETJ Memo.doc 


 
 


CITY OF STOUGHTON  RODNEY J. SCHEEL 
DEPARTMENT OF    DIRECTOR 
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 
207 S. Forrest Street, Stoughton, WI. 53589 


 
(608) 873-6619     www.ci.stoughton.wi.us 


 
 
 


 
Date:  December 30, 2020 
 
To:  Plan Commissioners and Common Council    
   
From:  Rodney J. Scheel 
  Director of Planning & Development 
 
  Michael P. Stacey 
  Zoning Administrator/Assistant Planner 
 
Subject: Agenda Item for the January 11, 2021 Plan Commission Meeting and  


January 26, 2021 Common Council Meeting. 
 
Request by Dale Beske for an extra-territorial jurisdictional land division approval (CSM) for 
property located at 1357 Tower Drive, Town of Dunkirk. 
This property is within the City of Stoughton’s 1.5 mile extra-territorial jurisdiction but well beyond 
the City’s Long-Term Urban Growth area as identified on the Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use 
Map.  This request is to add 0.5 acres to an existing residential lot to bring the total acres to 
approximately 1 acre. 
 
We see no reason not to approve the land division contingent on Town of Dunkirk and Dane County 
approval.  The resolution, CSM and related materials are provided.  A recommendation to Council 
is necessary. 
  
 
   
 
 


 



http://www.ci.stoughton.wi.us/





Form Version 04.00.00


Dane County Rezone Petition Application Date Petition Number


12/17/2020
DCPREZ-2020-11655Public Hearing Date


02/23/2021
OWNER INFORMATION


OWNER NAME


POSSIN LIVING TR, ORIS & ELAINE A
PHONE (with Area 
Code)


(608) 335-4658


BILLING ADDRESS (Number & Street)


6422 SHADY BEND RD 


(City, State, Zip)


VERONA, WI 53593


E-MAIL ADDRESS


AGENT INFORMATION


AGENT NAME


DALE BESKE
PHONE (with Area 
Code)


(608) 335-4658


ADDRESS (Number & Street)


6422 SHADY BEND ROAD 


(City, State, Zip)


Verona, WI 53593


E-MAIL ADDRESS


debeske@wisc.edu


        ADDRESS/LOCATION 1         ADDRESS/LOCATION 3         ADDRESS/LOCATION 2


ADDRESS OR LOCATION OF REZONE ADDRESS OR LOCATION OF REZONE ADDRESS OR LOCATION OF REZONE


1357 Tower Drive


TOWNSHIP


DUNKIRK
SECTION


2
TOWNSHIP TOWNSHIPSECTION SECTION


PARCEL NUMBERS INVOLVED


0511-024-9502-0


PARCEL NUMBERS INVOLVED PARCEL NUMBERS INVOLVED


REASON FOR REZONE


EXPANDING THE SIZE OF AN EXISTING RESIDENTIAL LOT


FROM DISTRICT: TO DISTRICT: ACRES


SFR-08 Single Family Residential District RR-1 Rural Residential District 0.46


FP-35 Farmland Preservation District RR-1 Rural Residential District 0.68


FP-35 Farmland Preservation District FP-1 Farmland Preservation District 33.4


C.S.M REQUIRED? PLAT REQUIRED? DEED RESTRICTION 
REQUIRED?


INSPECTOR'S 
INITIALS


SIGNATURE:(Owner or Agent)


PRINT NAME:


DATE:


COMMENTS: NOTE:  A 2-LOT CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP WILL BE REQUIRED.


RWL1
Applicant Initials_________


Yes Yes YesNo No No


Applicant Initials_________ Applicant Initials_________


0511-024-9940-4



http://sql2008-reports/Reports/Pages/Resource.aspx?ItemPath=%2fDocumentation%2fReport+Index.docx

























Map data ©2021 Google 1000 ft 


1357 Tower Dr







Plan Commission Meeting Minutes 
01/11/21 
Page 2 of 3 
 


T:\PACKETS\APPROVED COMMITTEE MINUTES\Plan Commission\2021\Plan Minutes  1-11-21.docx 


 


8. Request by Dale Beske for extra-territorial jurisdictional land division approval (CSM) for 
property located at 1357 Tower Drive, Town of Dunkirk. 
Scheel introduced the request.  Dale Beske explained the request. 


 
Motion by Selsor to recommend the Common Council approve the resolution as presented, 2nd by 
Caravello.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 


9. Request by Andrew Walker for extra-territorial jurisdictional land division approval (CSM) 
for property located at 2967 Shadyside Drive, Town of Pleasant Springs. 
Scheel explained the request. 


 
Motion by Schumacher to recommend the Common Council approve the resolution as presented, 
2nd by Selsor.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 


10. Request by Phil Harrison to amend the zoning code to allow flags and banners for 
commercial signage.   
Scheel gave an overview of the request. 


 
Mayor Swadley opened the public hearing. 
 
Selsor questioned if a setback is required from the side lot line.  Scheel stated setback is not typically 
an issue.   
 
Phil Harrison stated he appreciates the reasonable accomodation for changes to the ordinance. 
 
Stacey stated there is no current required setback for any signage. 
 
Barman questioned if there is a better place in the ordinance for setback requirements instead of 
setting a precedence for feather flags. 
 
Scheel stated we plan to rewrite the sign ordinance and setback will be part of that process. 
 
There was mutual agreement to require a 3-foot setback from side lot lines for feather flags. 
 
Mayor Swadley closed the public hearing. 
 
Motion by Selsor to recommend the Common Council approve the ordinance contingent on 
requiring a 3-foot setback from side lot lines for the feather flags, 2nd by Schumacher.  Motion 
carried 6-0 (Barman abstained). 
 


11. Proposed amendments to the zoning code to allow mobile food vending on private property 
and clarify general outdoor sales regulations. 
Rachel Snyder gave an overview of the proposed ordinance and stated another attorney review is in 
the works. 
 


 



mstacey

Highlight





		08a-Beske - 1357 Tower Drive ETJ CSM

		08b-1357 Tower Drive ETJ CSM Request






CITY OF STOUGHTON, 207 S. FORREST STREET, STOUGHTON, WISCONSIN 
 


RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 


 
Approving an extra-territorial jurisdictional (ETJ) land division (CSM) request by Andrew Walker for 


property located at 2967 Shadyside Drive, Town of Pleasant Springs, Dane County, Wisconsin. 


 
Committee Action: 


 
Plan Commission recommends Council approval 7 - 0 


 
Fiscal Impact: 


 
None 


 
File Number: 


 
R-8-2021 


 
Date Introduced: 


 
January 21, 2021 


The City of Stoughton, Wisconsin, Common Council does proclaim as follows: 


 


WHEREAS, this land division request is proposed to create an additional parcel in the Town of Pleasant 


Springs; and 


 


WHEREAS, the City Comprehensive Plan is used as a guide for the general pattern of development as 


determined by the Plan Commission and Common Council. This property is within the City’s Extraterritorial 


Jurisdiction (ETJ) but is beyond the City’s long range planning area; and 


 


WHEREAS, the proposed CSM lot 1 is 0.502 acres while lot 2 is 0.587 acres which complies with the 


maximum 2.5-acre requirement of the City land division ordinance; and  


 


WHEREAS, the City land division section 66-602(2) requires a minimum lot size of 1 acre and allows a 


smaller lot size if also approved by the respective Town Board; and  


 


WHEREAS, on January 11, 2021 the Stoughton Plan Commission reviewed the CSM request and 


recommend Common Council approval as presented; now therefore 


  


BE IT RESOLVED, by the City of Stoughton Common Council that the extra-territorial jurisdictional land 


division request by Andrew Walker for property located at 2967 Shadyside Drive, Town of Pleasant Springs, 


is hereby approved as presented contingent on Town of Pleasant Springs and Dane County approval. 


 


 


 


Council Action:         Adopted     Failed Vote       


  


 


Mayoral Action:        Accept     Veto  


 


                                                     


Tim Swadley, Mayor       Date 


 


Council Action:           Override  Vote       
  


  


 


 


 


S:\MPS-Shared\Resolutions\Walker - 2967 Shadyside Drive ETJ CSM.doc 







T:\PACKETS\PLAN COMMISSION\2021\011121\Info\Walker CSM ETJ Memo.doc 


 
 


CITY OF STOUGHTON  RODNEY J. SCHEEL 
DEPARTMENT OF    DIRECTOR 
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 
207 S. Forrest Street, Stoughton, WI. 53589 


 
(608) 873-6619     www.ci.stoughton.wi.us 


 
 
 


 
Date:  January 5, 2021 
 
To:  Plan Commissioners and Common Council    
   
From:  Rodney J. Scheel 
  Director of Planning & Development 
 
  Michael P. Stacey 
  Zoning Administrator/Assistant Planner 
 
Subject: Agenda Item for the January 11, 2021 Plan Commission Meeting and  


January 26, 2021 Common Council Meeting. 
 
Request by Andrew Walker for an extra-territorial jurisdictional land division approval 
(CSM) for property located at 2967 Shadyside Drive, Town of Pleasant Springs. 
This property is within the City of Stoughton’s 1.5 mile extra-territorial jurisdiction but well beyond 
the City’s Long-Term Urban Growth area as identified on the Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use 
Map.  This request is to split the parcel to create another buildable parcel.   
 
We see no reason not to approve the land division contingent on Town of Pleasant Springs and 
Dane County approval.  The resolution, CSM and related materials are provided.  A 
recommendation to Council is necessary. 
  
 
   
 
 


 



http://www.ci.stoughton.wi.us/





















Map data ©2021 200 ft 


2967 Shadyside Dr







Plan Commission Meeting Minutes 
01/11/21 
Page 2 of 3 
 


T:\PACKETS\APPROVED COMMITTEE MINUTES\Plan Commission\2021\Plan Minutes  1-11-21.docx 


 


8. Request by Dale Beske for extra-territorial jurisdictional land division approval (CSM) for 
property located at 1357 Tower Drive, Town of Dunkirk. 
Scheel introduced the request.  Dale Beske explained the request. 


 
Motion by Selsor to recommend the Common Council approve the resolution as presented, 2nd by 
Caravello.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 


9. Request by Andrew Walker for extra-territorial jurisdictional land division approval (CSM) 
for property located at 2967 Shadyside Drive, Town of Pleasant Springs. 
Scheel explained the request. 


 
Motion by Schumacher to recommend the Common Council approve the resolution as presented, 
2nd by Selsor.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 


10. Request by Phil Harrison to amend the zoning code to allow flags and banners for 
commercial signage.   
Scheel gave an overview of the request. 


 
Mayor Swadley opened the public hearing. 
 
Selsor questioned if a setback is required from the side lot line.  Scheel stated setback is not typically 
an issue.   
 
Phil Harrison stated he appreciates the reasonable accomodation for changes to the ordinance. 
 
Stacey stated there is no current required setback for any signage. 
 
Barman questioned if there is a better place in the ordinance for setback requirements instead of 
setting a precedence for feather flags. 
 
Scheel stated we plan to rewrite the sign ordinance and setback will be part of that process. 
 
There was mutual agreement to require a 3-foot setback from side lot lines for feather flags. 
 
Mayor Swadley closed the public hearing. 
 
Motion by Selsor to recommend the Common Council approve the ordinance contingent on 
requiring a 3-foot setback from side lot lines for the feather flags, 2nd by Schumacher.  Motion 
carried 6-0 (Barman abstained). 
 


11. Proposed amendments to the zoning code to allow mobile food vending on private property 
and clarify general outdoor sales regulations. 
Rachel Snyder gave an overview of the proposed ordinance and stated another attorney review is in 
the works. 
 


 



mstacey

Highlight





		09a-Walker - 2967 Shadyside Drive ETJ CSM

		09b-2967 Shadyside Drive ETJ CSM Request






T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2021 PACKETS\01-26-2021\Amend Signage Section 78-810.docx 


CITY OF STOUGHTON, 207 S. Forrest Street, Stoughton, WI 53589 


 


ORDINANCE OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 


Amending Zoning Code Section 78-810 of the Stoughton Municipal Code 


Committee 


Action:    


Plan Commission recommends approval 6 - 0 


Fiscal Impact:       None 


File Number: O-4- 2021 First Reading: 


Second Reading: 


January 26, 2021 


February 9, 2021 


The Common Council of the City of Stoughton do ordain as follows: 


 


Sec. 78-810 – General Construction Standards   


All signs constructed, erected, remodeled, relocated or expanded shall comply with the following 


standards:  


(1)  Banners, pennants, streamers, feather flags and strings of lights. No banners, pennants, 


streamers, feather flags, strings of lights or any other similar sign shall be permitted, except:  


(a)  For churches, schools, civic and nonprofit organizations.  


(b)  For residential requirements see section 78-811.  


(c)  For business and industrial districts, provided that banners, pennants, streamers and 


strings of lights are affixed to the front wall and that lights do not flash. Strings of lights 


may also be affixed to vegetation. Banners must comply with the requirements of front 


wall signs per subsection 78-814(1). Banners and other similar temporary signs for the 


front wall are exempt when placed for no more than 30 days.  


(d) For business districts, each parcel is allowed one feather flag per street frontage with a 


maximum height of 12 feet and maximum width of 3 feet.  Feather flags shall be 


removed when business is not open.  Feather flags shall be setback a minimum of 3 


feet from any side lot line. 


(de)  For the Main Street Historic District: one avenue banner up to 10 square feet in area is 


allowed for each private light pole. An avenue banner is attached at the top and bottom 


of the banner to the light pole. Avenue banners shall be removed or replaced within 30 


days of notice when faded to the point of illegibility or when damaged in any way.  


 


 


 


 


 


 







T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2021 PACKETS\01-26-2021\Amend Signage Section 78-810.docx 


 


 


 


This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its date of publication. 


 


 


Dates 


 


Council Adopted:   


 


Mayor Approved:            


      Tim Swadley, Mayor 


Published:    


 


Attest:             


       Holly Licht, City Clerk 







T:\PACKETS\PLAN COMMISSION\2021\011121\Info\Banner Sign Memo.doc 


 
 


CITY OF STOUGHTON  RODNEY J. SCHEEL 
DEPARTMENT OF    DIRECTOR 
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 
207 S. Forrest Street, Stoughton, WI. 53589 


 
(608) 873-6619     www.ci.stoughton.wi.us 


 
 
 


 
Date:  December 30, 2020 
 
To:  Plan Commissioners and Common Council   
   
From:  Rodney J. Scheel 
  Director of Planning & Development 
 
  Michael P. Stacey 
  Zoning Administrator/Assistant Planner 
 
Subject: Agenda Item for the January 11, 2021 Plan Commission Meeting and Common 


Council Meetings of January 26 and February 9, 2021 
 
Request by Phil Harrison to amend banner and flag signage regulations. 
In 2009 the signage regulations of the zoning code were repealed and recreated.  We believe the 
intent at that time was to limit the distractions, clutter and unattractiveness that comes with most 
banners and flag type signage.   
 
We believe the regulations related to sandwich boards and flags in the downtown area were 
requested from the Chamber of Commerce and some downtown business owners.  These signs are 
in the public right-of-way and not regulated by zoning rather the regulations are in chapter 64, 
Street, Sidewalks and Other Public Places. 
 
We are currently in the process of updating the zoning signage section of the zoning code to meet 
the changes in State law including the section in chapter 64.  This will likely be a 1-2 year process. 
 
 
CITY OF STOUGHTON REQUIREMENTS: 
 
WHERE ARE BANNERS CURRENTLY ALLOWED? 


• Exempt for commercial building front walls for up to 30 days.  After 30 days banners 
require a permit and are treated like front wall signage.  All banners have to meet the square 
footage requirements for front wall signage. (10% of wall, maximum 165 sq. ft.) 


• Exempt for residential uses. 
• Exempt for churches, schools and non-profit organizations but may only be placed 30 days 


before an event and 3 days after. 
 


 



http://www.ci.stoughton.wi.us/





T:\PACKETS\PLAN COMMISSION\2021\011121\Info\Banner Sign Memo.doc 


 
 
 
WHERE ARE (FEATHER) FLAGS FOR ADVERTISING CURRENTLY ALLOWED? 


• No permit is required for one "open" flag per business along Main Street from Page Street to 
Hillside Street which are placed only on Sundays. In the absence of an existing flag pole 
hole in the concrete, the business shall utilize an above-grade holder, positioned in-line with 
existing in-ground flag pole holes. 


 
WHERE ARE SANDWICH BOARD SIGNS CURRENTLY ALLOWED? 


• A permit is required for portable sandwich board-type signs on Main Street, between 
Hillside and Page Streets, adjacent to streets, on the sidewalk or on the parkrow, in the right-
of-way.  The signs can be a maximum of 4 feet tall, 3 feet wide and 12 square feet in area.  
Other requirements listed below. 


 
WHAT DO OTHER COMMUNITIES ALLOW FOR BANNERS AND FEATHER FLAGS? 
(NOTE:  THESE CODES ARE DIFFICULT TO INTERPRET) 
 
VILLAGE OF OREGON 


• Feather flags and banners are not allowed. 
 
CITY OF SUN PRAIRIE 


• 3 wave banners (feather flags) per lot with 1 additional for every 200 feet of frontage.  
Maximum 14 feet in height and 3 feet in width.  No permit required. 


• 3 flags per lot and 1 additional for every 200 feet of frontage.  No permit required. 
 


CITY OF VERONA 
• Feather flags and banners not allowed. 


 
CITY OF FITCHBURG 


• Permit commercial banners for up to 45 days per calendar year and they can be up to 40 
square feet in area. 


 
VILLAGE OF MCFARLAND 


• Generally allow banners by permit for up to 30 days. 
• Permitted for churches, schools and non-profit organizations but may only be placed 30 days 


before an event and 3 days after. 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







T:\PACKETS\PLAN COMMISSION\2021\011121\Info\Banner Sign Memo.doc 


 
 
CITY OF STOUGHTON CODE SECTIONS RELATED TO BANNERS, FLAGS AND 
SANDWICH BOARD SIGNAGE: 
 
CHAPTER 78 ZONING 
 
Sec.  78-803.  - Sign Permit Required. 
(2)  Exemptions. The following shall be exemptions to the sign permit and fee requirements in 


subsection (1) of this section:  
(a)  Flags or emblems of a government, sign of political, civic, philanthropic, educational or 


religious organizations displayed on private property. Political campaign signs must be 
removed within one week after election. Only one sign per candidate or political issue is 
permitted per lot. 


 
(h)  Signs accessory to residential uses permitted by subsections 78-811(1), (2) and (3), section 


78-812 and subsections 78-814(1)f, 78-814(7) and 78-814(8).  
(i)  Signs accessory to churches, schools or nonprofit institutions permitted by section 78-813  


 
Sec. 78-811. - Signs accessory to residential uses.   
(3)  Temporary signs, banners and strings of lights. Temporary signs, banners and strings of lights 


shall be permitted subject to the following regulations:  
(a)  Temporary signs, banners and strings of lights shall be located only on property occupied 


by the person contracting or placing the sign, banner or strings of lights.  
[(b)  Reserved.]  
(c)  Temporary signs used for birth announcements, graduations, anniversaries and other 


special events may be displayed no longer than ten consecutive days.  
(d)  No more than one temporary sign is permitted per dwelling unit. No such sign shall exceed 


12 square feet in area, four feet in height or three feet in width.  
(e)  No temporary sign shall be illuminated or equipped with moving parts.  
(f)  All temporary signs shall be constructed of materials sufficient to withstand heavy winds 


and shall be firmly anchored to the ground in a suitable manner.  
 
Sec. 78-813. - Signs accessory to churches, schools, or non-profit institutions.  
No sign accessory to any church, school or nonprofit institution shall be permitted except in 
compliance with the following regulations:  
(2)  Temporary signs, banners and displays for church, school, institutional or civic events are 


permitted but must be located on property owned or controlled by the church, school, 
institution, or civic organization or on public lands approved by the zoning administrator, and 
may be displayed only during a period commencing 30 days prior to the scheduled event and 
ending three days after closing date of the scheduled event.  


 
Sec. 78-810. - General construction standards.  
All signs constructed, erected, remodeled, relocated or expanded shall comply with the following 
standards:  







T:\PACKETS\PLAN COMMISSION\2021\011121\Info\Banner Sign Memo.doc 


(1)  Banners, pennants, streamers and strings of lights. No banners, pennants, streamers, strings of 
lights or any other similar sign shall be permitted, except:  
(a)  For churches, schools, civic and nonprofit organizations.  
(b)  For residential requirements see section 78-811.  
(c)  For business and industrial districts, provided that banners, pennants, streamers and strings 


of lights are affixed to the front wall and that lights do not flash. Strings of lights may also 
be affixed to vegetation. Banners must comply with the requirements of front wall signs 
per subsection 78-814(1). Banners and other similar temporary signs for the front wall are 
exempt when placed for no more than 30 days.  


(d)  For the Main Street Historic District: one avenue banner up to 10 square feet in area is 
allowed for each private light pole. An avenue banner is attached at the top and bottom of 
the banner to the light pole. Avenue banners shall be removed or replaced within 30 days 
of notice when faded to the point of illegibility or when damaged in any way. 


 
 


CHAPTER 64 STREETS AND RIGHT-OF-WAYS 
 
Sec. 64-9. - Street and right-of-way use.  
(a)  Purpose. The purpose of this section is to provide uniform, comprehensive standards and 


regulations regarding street openings, encumbrances, temporary commercial street signs, 
private property in street rights-of-way, and the procedure for requesting approval to improve 
or vacate alleys and rights-of-way.  


(b)  Street opening and encumbrance permits.  
(1)  A permit issued by city representatives shall be required for the following:  


a.  Excavation in any public right-of-way.  
b.  Any obstruction or encumbrance of a public way, for more than two hours. A 


dumpster is an example of an obstruction.  
c.  The moving of any building along or across any public way.  
d.  Fee for permits shall be adopted by Resolution by the Common Council.  


(2)  Exceptions. Subsection (a) shall not apply to the following:  
a.  Signs, clocks or awnings attached to a building which project not more than three feet 


into the public right-of-way and which do not extend below any point nine feet above 
the sidewalk or sixteen feet above a street or alley.  


b.  Public utility encumbrances.  
c.  Goods, wares, merchandise or fixtures being loaded or unloaded which do not extend 


more than three feet on the sidewalk, provided such goods, wares, etc., do not remain 
thereon for more than two hours.  


d.  Sandwich board signs regulated under subsection (f).  
  
 
 
 







T:\PACKETS\PLAN COMMISSION\2021\011121\Info\Banner Sign Memo.doc 


(f)  Sandwich board signs.  
(1)  Portable sandwich board-type signs are permitted on Main Street, between Hillside and 


Page Streets, adjacent to streets, on the sidewalk or on the parkrow, in the right-of-way as 
follows:  


(2)  Permit required. A permit from the department of planning and development shall be 
required for sandwich board signs which shall meet the following standards:  
a.  The maximum size shall be 12 square feet with a base width not exceeding three feet.  
b.  Height shall not exceed a maximum of four feet.  
c.  Sign shall be setback 2 feet minimum from curb face. An unobstructed area of four 


feet shall be provided for pedestrian traffic.  
d.  Signs shall not be illuminated or reflective.  
e.  Not more than one such sign permitted per business.  
f.  Signs must be stored inside overnight and/or when the business is closed.  
g.  These signs are permitted only on Main Street, between Hillside and Page Street 


because this area is a unique business district in the city, and because of the historic 
nature of the area.  


h.  Any business that fails to comply with the provisions of this section, after receiving 
one warning, will lose its privilege to display a sandwich board sign for a six-month 
period. 


 
(g)  Private property in street rights-of-way.  


(1)  Private property adjacent to streets, in street rights-of-way, is permitted as follows:  
(2)  Permit required. A permit from the street superintendent shall be required for the 


following:  
Any structure, installation or construction adjacent to the street, in the public right-of-way 
or park row, of private property for longer than 90 consecutive days, such as lamp posts, 
hitching posts, benches, sculpture or other art, decoration or improvement. Except that no 
permit is required for one "open" flag per business along Main Street from Page Street to 
Hillside Street which are placed only on Sundays. In the absence of an existing flag pole 
hole in the concrete, the business shall utilize an above-grade holder, positioned in-line 
with existing in-ground flag pole holes. 







1


Hi all (CC: plan commission and CACP leadership), 


I've had a few conversations with Phil from Rise and Grind, the coffee truck that has been set up 
near Pick N Save, about the signage they are using for their business. They have been using tall 
banner flags (can be seen on their Facebook page or in person) and got notice from the planning 
department that they were in violation of signage ordinances.  


Phil is a city resident who can make his case better than I, but he is requesting a way to accommodate such 
flags within city ordinance. To me, this is a reasonable request that does no harm in a time when the service 
industry is really struggling. But I recognize there must be a history of similar requests. Tim or Tom, Is there 
context you could add about why the sign ordinance is the way it is?  


This also intersects with CACP's conversations around regulating food trucks. I'm not sure we had given much 
thought to this angle. 


Ben Heili 
Alder, 4th District 
Stoughton, WI 


Name: Phil Harrison
Address: 1528 W Main St #2
Stoughton, WI
Email Address: riseandgrindcoffeellc@gmail.com
Phone: (608)408-0431
Agenda Item: Signage zoning
I am:
 Neither in favor nor opposed
I would like to:
 I would like to call in and speak
Comments: I have spoke with Michael Stacey, Mayor Swadley, and Alderman Heili in regards to the 
ordinance banning the use of feather flag signage, specifically to promote my business of Rise & Grind 
Coffee, the mobile coffee cart that operates in Pick 'n Save parking lot. I was instructed that the next 
people I should speak with is the Planning Commission. I would like to speak with the commission 
regarding possible rewording of, the fairly confusing, signage ordinance. I would like to discuss the 
possibility for allowance of feather flag type signage to be part of that process. At a time when the service 
industry and local small businesses need all the help they can get, I feel that the prevention of this sort of 
advertising is not conducive or welcoming to these sort of businesses. Businesses across dane county 
(downtown Stoughton included)  use this sort of advertising without any issue... why is the rest of 
Stoughton different? I look forward to speaking with the commission, hopefully on 11/9. Thank you.







Plan Commission Meeting Minutes 
11/9/20 
Page 2 of 3 
 


T:\PACKETS\APPROVED COMMITTEE MINUTES\Plan Commission\2020\Plan Minutes  11-9-20.docx 


 


Mayor Swadley closed the public hearing. 
 
Motion by Barman to recommend the Common Council approve the ordinance amendment as 
presented, 2nd by Schumacher.   
 
Motion carried unanimously. 
 


7. Request by Phil Harrison to discuss the regulations for flags and banners used for 
commercial signage. 
Phil Harrison explained that they are 2 year residents of Stoughton.  They had observed “feather 
flags” elsewhere and thought they could be put up without a permit. 
 
Commissioner Barman indicated as a local business owner he had previously inquired about 
“feather flags” for his own business and found they were not allowed.  He stated it is a difficult 
time to invest in permanent signage. 
 
Selsor suggested that Barman should recuse himself from voting on this item. 
 
It was suggested that “sandwich board” type signs are better suited for pedestrian traffic vs. 
vehicular traffic. 
 
Caravello suggested he may be willing to consider 1 feather flag per business with the message 
“Open”. 
 
There was discussion about possibly allowing one wave banner per lot to be used only when the 
business is open.   
 
Barman suggested maybe considering one for each building per street frontage so a corner building 
would be allowed one on each street. 
 
Majewski is concerned about the density of feather flags and suggested maybe one per lot in the 
downtown area.  They should not be allowed in the right of way except in the downtown district. 
 
The Commissioners would like staff to draft language for them to consider at the next meeting.  
They suggested we may need to include the City Attorney into the discussion. 
 
No motions were made. 


 
8. Discuss potential zoning code amendments to allow mobile food vending on private property. 


Majewski is ok with 180 days but indicated 90 days may be better.  Schumacher indicated support 
for 90 to 180 days. 
 
Barman indicated Portland, OR has a system where they review mobile vending as part of a site 
plan.  Mobile vending has been incorporated into strategies to encourage business activity in 
communities.  
 



mstacey

Highlight



mstacey

Highlight







Plan Commission Meeting Minutes 


12/14/20 


Page 2 of 3 


 


T:\PACKETS\APPROVED COMMITTEE MINUTES\Plan Commission\2020\Plan Minutes  12-14-20.docx 


 


There was agreement to amend a portion of section 7 to read, “All pools, including those pools 


existing at the time of passage of this section, shall comply with the fencing requirements of this 


section.” 


 


Motion by Barman to recommend the Common Council approve the proposed ordinance as 


amended, 2nd by Robinson.  Motion carried unanimously. 


 


7. Request by Phil Harrison to discuss the regulations for flags and banners used for 


commercial signage.  (Tabled on November 9, 2020) 


Scheel explained the proposed ordinance amendments. 


 


Barman suggested instead of allowing each business to have a feather flag, allow one feather flag 


per street frontage.  This will prevent clutter. 


 


Business districts in the City include: Planned Business, Neighborhood Business and Central 


Business. 


 


The group discussed how this would affect the downtown.  Scheel stated zoning regulates private 


property not signage within the public right-of-way.  A separate ordinance regulates what is placed 


in the right-of-way in Ordinance Section 64-9.  


 


A public hearing will be set for January 11, 2021. 


 


8. Discuss potential zoning code amendments to allow mobile food vending on private property. 


(Tabled on November 9, 2020) 


Scheel introduced Attorney Rachel Snyder who has been working on mobile vending ordinance 


amendments for the City. 


 


Rachel Snyder gave an overview of the proposed ordinance amendments including handling 


mobile vending by licensing vs zoning. 


 


Schumacher questioned whether the language would affect private use in a residential district.  


Rachel Snyder stated the intent is to regulate venders selling a product for consumption to the 


general public.  A vendor hired by a resident to serve guests at a home would generally not be 


covered under these regulations.  Schumacher would like to see language added to be clear that this 


does not apply for private residential use. 


 


Barman stated there is considerable redundancy between General Temporary Outdoor Sales and 


Mobile Food Vending.  Barman believes these 2 sections should be combined. 


 


The group discussed whether or not to combine the sections.  Consensus is to not combine the 


sections because one section is for temporary outdoor sales while mobile vending may become 


more permanent. 


 


Barman stated the limit of 180 days/year will be a discussion point. 


 



mstacey

Highlight







Plan Commission Meeting Minutes 
01/11/21 
Page 2 of 3 
 


T:\PACKETS\APPROVED COMMITTEE MINUTES\Plan Commission\2021\Plan Minutes  1-11-21.docx 


 


8. Request by Dale Beske for extra-territorial jurisdictional land division approval (CSM) for 
property located at 1357 Tower Drive, Town of Dunkirk. 
Scheel introduced the request.  Dale Beske explained the request. 


 
Motion by Selsor to recommend the Common Council approve the resolution as presented, 2nd by 
Caravello.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 


9. Request by Andrew Walker for extra-territorial jurisdictional land division approval (CSM) 
for property located at 2967 Shadyside Drive, Town of Pleasant Springs. 
Scheel explained the request. 


 
Motion by Schumacher to recommend the Common Council approve the resolution as presented, 
2nd by Selsor.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 


10. Request by Phil Harrison to amend the zoning code to allow flags and banners for 
commercial signage.   
Scheel gave an overview of the request. 


 
Mayor Swadley opened the public hearing. 
 
Selsor questioned if a setback is required from the side lot line.  Scheel stated setback is not typically 
an issue.   
 
Phil Harrison stated he appreciates the reasonable accomodation for changes to the ordinance. 
 
Stacey stated there is no current required setback for any signage. 
 
Barman questioned if there is a better place in the ordinance for setback requirements instead of 
setting a precedence for feather flags. 
 
Scheel stated we plan to rewrite the sign ordinance and setback will be part of that process. 
 
There was mutual agreement to require a 3-foot setback from side lot lines for feather flags. 
 
Mayor Swadley closed the public hearing. 
 
Motion by Selsor to recommend the Common Council approve the ordinance contingent on 
requiring a 3-foot setback from side lot lines for the feather flags, 2nd by Schumacher.  Motion 
carried 6-0 (Barman abstained). 
 


11. Proposed amendments to the zoning code to allow mobile food vending on private property 
and clarify general outdoor sales regulations. 
Rachel Snyder gave an overview of the proposed ordinance and stated another attorney review is in 
the works. 
 


 



mstacey

Highlight





		10a-Amend Signage Section 78-810

		10b-Zoning Ordinance Amend - Banners-Flags






City of Stoughton, 207 S Forrest Street, Stoughton WI  53589 


RESOLUTION OF THE FINANCE COMMITTEE 


Authorizing the City of Stoughton Director of Finance/Comptroller to act on the behalf of the City 


of Stoughton to accept the 2021 Section 5310 Grant in the amount of $31,847 and move forward 


with the process of purchasing an additional accessible van for the shared-ride taxi program 


Committee Action: Finance Committee approved 


Fiscal Impact: $31,847 Grant Funds; $7,961 CIP 


File Number: R-9-2021 Date Introduced: January 26, 2021 


WHEREAS, The City of Stoughton offers a shared-ride taxi program open to the residents of Stoughton 


through a contract with a private taxi service provider; and 


WHEREAS, about 30,000 rides per year are taken on the taxi system, the majority of whom are seniors or 


people with disabilities 


WHEREAS, the City of Stoughton currently owns two accessible minivans but is in need of another; and 


WHEREAS, the matching funds totaling $10,000 were approved as part of the City of Stoughton’s 2021 


Capital Improvement Plan budget; and 


WHEREAS, your Finance Committee met on January 12, 2021 and recommends authorizing the Director 


of Finance/Comptroller to act on the behalf of the City of Stoughton to accept the 2021 Section 5310 


Grant in the amount of $31,847 and move forward with the process of purchasing an additional accessible 


van for the shared-ride taxi program; and 


THE CITY OF STOUGHTON COMMON COUNCIL HEREBY AUTHORIZES the Director of 


Finance/Comptroller to act on the behalf of the City of Stoughton to accept the 2021 Section 5310 Grant 


in the amount of $31,847 and move forward with the process of purchasing an additional accessible van 


for the shared-ride taxi program. 


Council Action:        Adopted  Failed Vote 


Mayoral Action:       Accept    Veto 


Tim Swadley, Mayor Date 


Council Action:         Override Vote 







2021 SECTION 5310 SUBRECIPIENT AGREEMENT  
BETWEEN THE 


 CITY OF MADISON 
 AND  


CITY OF STOUGHTON 
 
This Contract, made by and between City of Stoughton, hereinafter referred to as  “SUBRECIPIENT” and the City of Madison, 
hereinafter referred to as “CITY,” shall become effective upon execution by the Mayor of Madison on behalf of the City. 
 
WHEREAS, CITY is authorized by Title 49 U.S.C Chapter 53 Section 5310 Enhanced Mobility of Seniors and Individuals 
with Disabilities Program to apply for and receive Federal grants on behalf of eligible recipients; and 
 
WHEREAS, SUBRECIPIENT has requested funds to assist in financing capital purchases; and 
 
WHEREAS, CITY agrees to pass through financial assistance with funds made available under Section 49 USC 5310 Enhanced 
Mobility of Seniors and individuals with Disabilities Program, in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Contract; 
and 
 
In consideration of the reciprocal promises expressed in this Contract, CITY and SUBRECIPIENT agree as follows: 
 


Article I: City of Madison Payment 
 


A. Payment under the terms of this Contract is made pursuant to Title 49 U.S.C Chapter 53 (Section 5310) which 
specify that capital assistance grants may equal 80% of the total capital costs. 


 
CITY agrees to pay SUBRECIPIENT Thirty-One Thousand and Eight Hundred Forty-Seven Dollars ($31,847) 
or 80% of the purchase price, whichever is less, of the items specified in Attachment A, Project Description and 
Budget.  The costs eligible for capital assistance grant payments shall be limited to those specified in Attachment 
A, Project Description and Budget. 
 


B. CITY shall make payment to SUBRECIPIENT upon receipt of invoices prepared by the manufacturer or dealer 
showing the actual costs of the purchased item, i.e., rolling stock. 


 
C. If CITY’s audit establishes that payment to SUBRECIPIENT under the terms of this Contract has exceeded the 


allowable maximum as defined in Article I.B., SUBRECIPIENT shall refund to CITY upon demand a sum 
sufficient to reduce the payment to comply with Article I.B. of this Contract.  


 
D. Consistent with Articles I.B. and notwithstanding other provision of this contract, CITY may reduce the payments 


otherwise due under paragraph B of this article. 
 


Article II: Responsibility of SUBRECIPIENT 
 


A. The purchase of all equipment financed pursuant to this Contract shall be undertaken by SUBRECIPIENT and 
shall be in accordance with applicable State and Federal laws and regulations.  The Master Agreement between 
CITY and the Federal Transit Administration contains all Federally required clauses that should be included in 
this Contract between CITY and SUBRECIPIENT and said Master Agreement is therefore include in this 
Contract by reference.   In addition, SUBRECIPIENT shall comply with all procurement requirements in FTA 
Circular 4220.1F when procuring property and services to be paid for under this Contract. 


 
B. SUBRECIPIENT shall complete all purchases included in this Contract by December 31, 2021.  If 


SUBRECIPIENT fails to complete a given purchase by the date specified, CITY shall take necessary actions to 
withdraw any remaining committed funds in the Contract at that time.  The uncommitted funds may be reassigned 
or surrendered to the federal government. 


 







C. Title to project equipment shall be in the name of the SUBRECIPIENT, subject to the restrictions on use and 
disposition of the project equipment and rolling stock set forth herein.  The City of Madison-Metro Transit shall 
be registered as Lien Holder #1 and copies of title documents must be filed with City of Madison-Metro Transit 
as soon as possible.   


 
D. SUBRECIPIENT may not execute any transfer of title, lease, lien, pledge, mortgage, encumbrance, contract, grant 


anticipation note, alienation, or other obligation that in any way affects the Federal interest in any project  
equipment or rolling stock nor may SUBRECIPIENT obligate itself, in any other manner, to any third party with 
respect to project equipment or rolling stock, unless such transfer of title, lease, lien pledge, mortgage 
encumbrance, contract, grant anticipation note, alienation, or other obligation is expressly authorized in writing 
by CITY; nor may SUBRECIPIENT, by any act or omission, adversely affect the Federal interest or impair 
SUBRECIPIENT’s continuing control over the use of project rolling stock. 


 
E. SUBRECIPIENT agrees that the project equipment and rolling stock shall only be used for the provision of 


transportation service to the general public and rolling stock shall be clearly marked for public use.  
SUBRECIPIENT shall keep satisfactory records with regard to the use of the equipment and rolling stock and 
submit to CITY upon request such information as may be required to assure compliance with this section.  Project 
equipment and rolling stock shall be operated only within the area authorized by the FTA under applicable grant 
statutes and regulations for the duration of its useful life.  If during the useful life, the project equipment and 
rolling stock is not used in this manner or is withdrawn from transportation service, SUBRECIPIENT shall 
immediately notify CITY and request disposition instructions. 


 
F. SUBRECIPIENT shall perform preventive maintenance on the equipment and rolling stock purchased with FTA 


funds, including ADA accessibility equipment, at a level no less than the manufacturer’s recommended 
specifications.  Adequate records of preventive maintenance on each piece of equipment and rolling stock shall 
be maintained by SUBRECIPIENT.  The equipment and rolling stock shall be properly maintained at all times.  
CITY shall have the right to conduct periodic inspections and reviews, for the purpose of confirming that proper 
maintenance policies and procedures are being followed. 


 
G. SUBRECIPIENT shall make available the equipment and rolling stock to CITY upon demand for the purpose of 


an annual verification or other inspections deemed necessary by CITY. 
 


H. SUBRECIPIENT shall immediately notify CITY in all cases where project equipment or rolling stock is used in 
a manner substantially different from that as described in the application.  SUBRECIPIENT shall obtain prior 
written concurrence from CITY for any proposed sale of equipment and rolling stock, title transfer, or lease to 
another agency. 


 
I. SUBRECIPIENT shall maintain in amount and form satisfactory to CITY such insurance or self-insurance 


(including property, personal injury and collision coverage) as will be adequate to cover the current value of 
project equipment and rolling stock throughout the period of required use.   


 
J. CITY reserves the right to require SUBRECIPIENT to restore equipment and rolling stock or pay for damages to 


the equipment and rolling stock as a result of abuse or misuse of such capital items with SUBRECIPIENT’s 
knowledge and consent.  


 
K. CITY reserves the right, and SUBRECIPIENT shall allow CITY, to conduct periodic reviews of 


SUBRECIPIENT to ensure it is in compliance with FTA Circular 4220.1F; 49 CFR, Part 18.37; and 49 CFR 
18.42. 


 
Article III: Records and Audits 


 
A. SUBRECIPIENT shall have a single, organization-wide, financial and compliance audit performed by a qualified 


independent auditor if required to do so under Federal law and regulations.  (See Federal OMB Circular No. A-
133 and the provisions of OMB A-133 Compliance Supplement dated March 2002.) 


 







B. This audit shall be performed in accordance with Federal circular A-133 issued by the Federal Office of 
Management and Budget (OMB), its Compliance supplement, and City of Madison single audit guidelines. 


 
C. SUBRECIPIENT agrees to maintain appropriate accounts and records relating to this transportation project.  Such 


accounts and records will be made available upon request to CITY for inspection and audit purposes. 
 
D. SUBRECIPIENT agrees to provide all reports requested by CITY including, but not limited to, financial 


statements and reports, reports and accounting of services rendered, and any other reports or documents requested. 
Financial and service reports shall be provided according to a schedule (when applicable) to be included in this 
Contract. Any other reports or documents shall be provided within five (5) working days after SUBRECIPIENT 
receives CITY's written requests, unless the parties agree in writing on a longer period. Payroll records and any 
other documents relating to the performance of services under the terms of this Contract shall be retained by 
SUBRECIPIENT for a period of three (3) years after completion of all work under this contract, in order to be 
available for audit by CITY or its designee.  


 
E. SUBRECIPIENT shall maintain intact and readily accessible all data, documents, reports, records, Contracts, and 


supporting materials relating to this Contract during the course of this Contract and for three (3) years after City 
makes final payments and all other pending matters are closed.  SUBRECIPIENT shall permit the authorized 
representations of CITY and/or WisDOT or its designee, as required by USDOT/FTA, and the Comptroller 
General of the United States to inspect all project work, materials, payrolls, and other data, and to audit the books, 
records, and accounts pertaining to this Contract.   


 
F. SUBRECIPIENT further agrees to include in all its contracts and subcontracts hereunder a provision to the effect 


that the contractor and subcontractor agrees to the requirements of the above paragraph.  The term "subcontractor" 
as used in this clause excludes subcontracts or purchase orders for public utility services at rates established for 
uniform applicability to the general public. 


 
G. The periods of access and examination described above, for records which relate to (1) litigation or the settlement 


of claims arising out of the performance of this Contract, and (2) costs and expenses of this Contract as to which 
exception has been taken by the Comptroller General or any of his/her duly authorized representatives, shall 
continue until such appeals, litigation, claims, or exceptions have been dispose of. 


 
Article I V :  Project Management 


 
A.  The Subrecipient agrees that its transit project will be that as described in Attachment A, and will be managed 


and operated in accordance with t h e  Project Management and Recipient Coordination Plan, which is made 
part of this Grant Agreement by reference. Modifications to Attachment A may be p r o p o s e d  by either the 
Subrecipient or Metro Transit. 


 
B. A request by the Subrecipient to modify the transit project from that described in Attachment A must be 


submitted in writing to Metro Transit in a manner prescribed by Metro Transit. 
 
C. If Metro Transit determines that a proposed modification  is a "substantive change" to the initial grant 


application, Metro Transit  shall  prepare  an  amendment   to  this  Grant Agreement   and  forward   it  to  the 
Subrecipient  for  execution.  The Subrecipient shall not implement a proposed "substantive change" to the 2021 
transit project until an appropriate amendment to this Grant Agreement has been executed by both the 
Subecipient and the Metro Transit. 


 
D. If Metro Transit determines that a proposed modification to the 2021 grant application is a "non-substantive 


change," Metro Transit shall authorize in writing the Subrecipient to implement the change, and a formal 
amendment to this Grant Agreement shall not be required. 


 
 
 
 
 







Article V: Assurance of Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Disability 
 


SUBRECIPIENT, in accordance with 49 CFR Parts 27, 37, and 38, agrees that it will comply with the Americans with 
Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA), the Rehabilitation Act and all U. S. Department of Transportation regulations relating to 
enforcement of each Act.  
 


Article VI:  City Terms and Conditions 
 


A. NON-DISCRIMINATION. 
In the performance of work under this Contract, the Contractor agrees not to discriminate against any employee or 
applicant for employment because of race, religion, marital status, age, color, sex, handicap, national origin or 
ancestry, income level or source of income, arrest record or conviction record, less than honorable discharge, physical 
appearance, sexual orientation, gender identity, political beliefs or student status. Contractor further agrees not to 
discriminate against any subcontractor or person who offers to subcontract on this Contract because of race, religion, 
color, age, disability, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity or national origin. 


 
Article VII: FTA Terms and Conditions 


 
Federal Financial Assistance and Federal Changes:  80% of the total cost of the deliverables described in the Contract will be 
financed with Federal monies from the Federal Transit Act of 1964, as amended. 


 
A. No Government Obligation to Third Parties.   SUBRECIPIENT agrees that it will comply the U.S. Department 


of Transportation regulations relating to contractual liability of the Federal Government to third parties as follows: 
 


CITY and SUBRECIPIENT acknowledge and agree that, notwithstanding any concurrence by the Federal 
Government in or approval of the solicitation or award of the underlying Contract, absent the express consent by 
the Federal Government, the Federal Government is not a party to this Contract and shall not be subject to any 
obligations or liabilities to CITY, SUBRECIPIENT, or any other party (whether or not party to the Contract) 
pertaining to any matter resulting from the underlying Contract.   


 
SUBRECIPIENT agrees to include the above clause in each subcontract financed in whole or in part with Federal 
assistance provide by FTA.  It is further agreed that the clause shall not be modified, except to identify the 
subcontractor who will be subject to its provisions. 


 
B. Incorporation of FTA Terms.  The provisions in this section include, in part, certain standard terms and 


conditions required by USDOT/FTA, whether or not expressly set forth in these provisions.  All contractual 
provisions required by USDOT/FTA, as set forth in FTA Circular 4220.1F or any subsequent amendments are 
hereby incorporated by reference.  Anything to the contrary herein notwithstanding, all USDOT/FTA mandated 
terms shall be deemed to control in the event of a conflict with other provisions contained in this Contract.  
SUBRECIPIENT shall not perform any act, fail to perform any act, or refuse to comply with CITY requests, 
which would cause CITY to be in violation of the USDOT/FTA terms and conditions. 


 
SUBRECIPIENT agrees that it will comply at all times with 49 CFR Part 18; U. S. Department of Transportation 
regulations relating to applicable FTA regulations, policies, procedures and directives, including without 
limitation those listed directly or by reference in the Agreement Form FTA MA (27) dated October 2020,  between 
CITY and U. S. Department of Transportation/Federal Transit Administration (USDOT/FTA), as they may be 
amended or promulgated from time to time during the term of this contract.  SUBRECIPIENT’s failure to so 
comply shall constitute a material breach of this contract.   
 
These grant agreements and FTA Circular 4220.1F, "Third Party Contracting," are available for examination at 
the Office of the Transit Finance Manager, 1245 East Washington Avenue, Suite 201, Madison, WI  53703-3052, 
608/267-8766 (voice), 608/267-8778 (fax) or wblock@cityofmadison.com.  
 


C. Compliance with Local, State and Federal Laws.  The services and/or equipment provided shall be in 
compliance with all requirements of the laws and regulations of CITY of Madison, the State of Wisconsin and 
the United States of America. 







 
D. Ethics:   
 


1. Prohibited Interest:  SUBRECIPIENT guarantees that no employee, officer, or agent during his or her tenure 
or one (1) year thereafter has any interest, direct or indirect, in this Contract or the proceeds thereof.  Such a 
conflict would also arise when any employee, officer or agent's family member or partner or organization 
that employs, or is about to employ any of the above, has a financial or other interest in this Contract or the 
proceeds thereof. 


 
2. Interest of Members of or Delegates to Congress:  SUBRECIPIENT guarantees that he or she has not offered 


or given to any member of, or delegate to the Congress of the United States, any share or part of this Contract 
or to any benefit arising therefrom. 


 
3. Covenant Against Gratuities: SUBRECIPIENT guarantees that he or she has not offered or given gratuities 


(in the form of entertainment, gifts, or otherwise) to any employee, officer or agent of CITY with a view 
toward securing favorable treatment in the awarding, amending, or evaluating performance of the Contract. 


 
4. Collusive Agreements: SUBRECIPIENT guarantees that the Contract submitted is not a product of collusion 


with any other Recipient and no effort has been made to fix any overhead, profit or cost element of any 
Contract price.   


 
5. Program Fraud and False or Fraudulent Statements and Related Acts:    


 
a.   SUBRECIPIENT acknowledges that the provisions of the Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act of 1986, 


as amended, 31 U.S.C. § § 3801 et seq. and U.S. DOT regulations, "Program Fraud Civil Remedies," 49 
C.F.R. Part 31, apply to its actions pertaining to this Project. Upon execution of the underlying Contract, 
SUBRECIPIENT certifies 41or affirms the truthfulness and accuracy of any statement it has made, it 
makes, it may make, or causes to be made, pertaining to the underlying contract or the FTA assisted 
project for which this contract work is being performed. In addition to other penalties that may be 
applicable, SUBRECIPIENT further acknowledges that if it makes, or causes to be made, a false, 
fictitious, or fraudulent claim, statement, submission, or certification, the Federal Government reserves 
the right to impose the penalties of the Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act of 1986 on SUBRECIPIENT 
to the extent the Federal Government deems appropriate. 


 
b.   SUBRECIPIENT also understands and acknowledges that if it makes, or causes to be made, a false, 


fictitious, or fraudulent claim, statement, submission, or certification to the Federal Government under 
a Contract connected with a project that is financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance originally 
awarded by FTA under the authority of 49 U.S.C. § 5307, the Government reserves the right to impose 
the penalties of 18 U.S.C. § 1001 and 49 U.S.C. § 5307(n)(1) on SUBRECIPIENT, to the extent the 
Federal Government deems appropriate. 


 
E.  Civil Rights - SUBRECIPIENT shall comply with and ensures the compliance of all contractors and 


subcontractors with the following requirements: 
 


1. Nondiscrimination - In accordance with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 2000d, 
section 303 of the Age Discrimination Act of 1975, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §  6102, section 202 of the 
Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, 42 U.S.C. § 12132, and Federal transit law at 49 U.S.C. § 5332, 
SUBRECIPIENT agrees that it will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment 
because of race, color, creed, national origin, sex, age, or disability.  In addition, SUBRECIPIENT agrees to 
comply with applicable Federal implementing regulations and other implementing requirements FTA may 
issue. 


 
2. Equal Employment Opportunity - The following equal employment opportunity requirements apply to the 


underlying Contract: 
 







a.    Race, Color, Creed, National Origin, Sex - In accordance with Title VII of the Civil Rights Act, as 
amended, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e, and Federal transit laws at 49 U.S.C. § 5332, SUBRECIPIENT agrees to 
comply with all applicable equal employment opportunity requirements of U.S. Department of Labor 
(U.S. DOL) regulations, "Office of Federal Contract Compliance Programs, Equal Employment 
Opportunity, Department of Labor," 41 C.F.R. Parts 60 et seq., (which implement Executive Order No. 
11246, "Equal Employment Opportunity," as amended by Executive Order No. 11375, "Amending 
Executive Order 11246 Relating to Equal Employment Opportunity," 42 U.S.C. § 2000e note), and with 
any applicable Federal statutes, executive orders, regulations, and Federal policies that may in the future 
affect activities undertaken in the course of the Project. SUBRECIPIENT agrees to take affirmative 
action to ensure that applicants are employed, and that employees are treated during employment, 
without regard to their race, color, creed, national origin, or sex.  Such action shall include, but not be 
limited to, the following: employment, upgrading, demotion or transfer, recruitment or recruitment 
advertising, layoff or termination; rates of pay or other forms of compensation; and selection for training, 
including apprenticeship. In addition, SUBRECIPIENT agrees to comply with any implementing 
requirements FTA may issue.  


 
b. Age - In accordance with section 4 of the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, as amended, 


29 U.S.C. § § 621 through 634 and Federal transit law at 49 U.S.C. § 5332, SUBRECIPIENT agrees to 
refrain from discrimination against present and prospective employees for reason of age. In addition, 
SUBRECIPIENT agrees to comply with any implementing requirements FTA may issue and with 
implementing regulations of the U.S. Equal Opportunity Commission (U.S. EEOC), 29 CFR, Part 1625. 


 
c.    Disabilities - In accordance with section 102 of the Americans with Disabilities Act, as amended, 42 


U.S.C. § 12112, SUBRECIPIENT agrees that it will comply with the requirements of U.S. Equal 
Employment Opportunity Commission, "Regulations to Implement the Equal Employment Provisions 
of the Americans with Disabilities Act," 29 C.F.R. Part 1630, pertaining to employment of persons with 
disabilities. In addition, SUBRECIPIENT agrees to comply with any implementing requirements FTA 
may issue. 


 
d.    Solicitations for Subcontracts, Including Procurements of Materials and Equipment:  


In all solicitations, either by competitive bidding or negotiation made by SUBRECIPIENT for work to 
be performed under a subcontract, including procurements of materials or leases of equipment, each 
potential contractor, subcontractor or supplier shall be notified by SUBRECIPIENT of 
SUBRECIPIENT's obligations under this Contract and the Regulations relative to non-discrimination on 
the grounds of race, color, creed, age, disability, sex or national origin. 


 
e.    Information and Reports:  SUBRECIPIENT shall provide all information and reports required by the 


Federal Regulations or directives issued pursuant thereto, and shall permit access to its books, records, 
accounts, other sources of information and its facilities as may be determined by CITY or the USDOT-
/FTA to be pertinent to ascertain compliance with such Regulations, orders, and instructions.  Where any 
information required of a Recipient is in the exclusive possession of another who fails or refuses to 
furnish this information, SUBRECIPIENT shall so certify to CITY or to the USDOT/FTA, as appro-
priate, and shall set forth what efforts it has made to obtain the information. 


 
f. Incorporation of Provisions:  SUBRECIPIENT shall include the provisions of this entire section entitled 


“Civil Rights” in every contract and subcontract, including procurements of materials and leases of 
equipment, unless exempt by the Regulations, or directives issued pursuant thereto.  SUBRECIPIENT 
shall take such action with respect to any subcontract or procurement as CITY or the USDOT/FTA may 
direct as a means of enforcing non-compliance. Provided, however, that in the event a Recipient becomes 
involved in, or is threatened with litigation with a contractor, subcontractor or supplier as a result of such 
direction, SUBRECIPIENT may request CITY to enter into such litigation to protect the interest of the 
United States. 


 
g.   Penalties:  Failure by SUBRECIPIENT to carry out these requirements is a material breach of the 


Contract, which may result in the withholding of payments to SUBRECIPIENT under the contract until 
SUBRECIPIENT complies; cancellation, termination or suspension of this Contract; ineligibility for 







future Contracts; or such other remedy as CITY or USDOT/FTA deems appropriate in order to assure 
compliance with applicable civil rights standards as required by law.  


 
F. Disadvantaged Business Enterprise:     
 


The requirements of 49 C.F.R. Part 26 and CITY's USDOT/FTA approved Disadvantaged Business Enterprise 
(D.B.E.) Program are incorporated in this Contract by reference.  
 
The Contractor shall maintain compliance with “DBE Approval Certification” CER 8.7 throughout the period of 
Contract performance. The requirements of § 1101(b) of SAFETEA – LU, Title  23 U.S.C. § 101, note, 49 C.F.R. 
Part 26 and the City's USDOT/FTA approved Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (D.B.E.) Program are 
incorporated in this Contract by reference.  
 


 
1. Policy.  It is the policy of the U.S. Department of Transportation that disadvantaged business enterprises as 


defined in 49 CFR Part 26 shall have the opportunity to participate in the performance of Contracts financed 
in whole or in part with Federal funds under this Agreement.  Consequently, the DBE requirements of 49 
CFR § 18.36(e) Contracting with Small and Minority Firms, Women’s Business Enterprise and Labor 
Surplus Area Firms apply to this Contract. 


 
2. Obligation.  SUBRECIPIENT and its contractors and subcontractors shall not discriminate on the basis of 


race, color, national origin, or sex in the performance of this contract.  SUBRECIPIENT shall carry out 
applicable requirements of 49 C.F.R. Part 26 in the award and administration of any subcontracts entered 
into in its performance of this contract.  Each subcontract the Contractor signs with a Subcontractor must 
include the assurance in this paragraph and the penalty provision in Paragraph c below. 


 
3. Penalty.  Failure by SUBRECIPIENT or its contractor and subcontractor to carry out these requirements is a 


material breach of this Contract, which may result in the termination of this Contract or such other remedy 
as CITY deems appropriate. 


 
G. Labor Protection:  SUBRECIPIENT agrees to comply with applicable transit employee protective requirements, 


terms, and conditions determined by the U. S. Secretary of Labor to be fair and equitable to protect the interests 
of employees employed under this contract and to meet the employee protective requirements as of 49 U.S.C.  
A5333(b), and U. S. DOL guidelines at 29 C.F.R. Part 215, and any amendments thereto.  


 
H. Government-wide Debarment & Suspension Non-procurement:  SUBRECIPIENT agrees to comply with and 


shall assure subcontractors compliance with the requirements of Executive Order 12549 and 12689, "Debarment 
and Suspension," 31 U.S.C. § 6101 note, and U.S. DOT regulations, “Nonprocurement Suspension and 
Debarment,” 2 C.F.R. Part 1200, which adopt and supplement the provisions of U.S. Office of Management and 
Budget FTA Master Agreement, which prohibits FTA Recipients and Subcontractors from knowingly contracting 
for goods and services from organizations that have been suspended or debarred from receiving Federally-assisted 
contracts.  SUBRECIPIENT agrees to, and assures that its sub contractors will, review the “Excluded Parties 
Listing System” at http://www.sam.gov before entering into any third party contract or subagreement. 
SUBRECIPIENT shall submit the certification attached as Attachment B with this Contract.  


 
Furthermore, SUBRECIPIENT agrees, to provide and to require subcontractors at every tier to agree to provide, 
CITY with immediate written notice if it learns that its submitted certification, which was not erroneous when 
submitted, has become erroneous by reasons of changed circumstances.  Written notice shall be sent to Wayne 
Block, Transit Finance Manager, 1245 East Washington Avenue, Suite 201, Madison, WI  53703-3052. 


 
 
I. Environmental Requirements: 
 


1. Recycled Products:  SUBRECIPIENT agrees that it will comply with 42 USC § 6962 et seq., and 40 CFR 
Part 247, and Executive Order 12873; U. S. Department of Transportation regulations relating to recycled 
products.  This requirement applies to all Contracts designated by the EPA, when CITY or Subrecipient 







procures $10,000 or more of such items in the fiscal year, or when the cost of such items purchased during 
the previous fiscal year were $10,000, using federal funds. 


 
Violations shall be reported to USDOT/FTA and to the United States Environmental Protection Agency 
Assistant Administrator for Enforcement. 


 
      J.         Pre-award and Post Delivery Audit Requirements 


 
1.  CERTIFICATIONS REQUIRED 


 
SUBRECIPIENT and selected Contractor shall comply with 49 U.S.C. § 5323(j) and FTA's implementing 
regulation at 49 C.F.R. Part 663 and Part 661 and shall submit all necessary certifications and documentation, 
as required, with its Offer and prior to vehicle acceptance, including but not limited to the following:  
SUBRECIPIENT understands and agrees that to the extent the provisions of 49 U.S.C. § 5323(j), as amended 
by SAFETEA-LU conflict with FTA’s implementing regulations as currently promulgated, the provisions of 
49 U.S.C. § 5323(j), as amended, prevail. 


 
2.  FEDERAL MOTOR VEHICLE SAFETY STANDARDS (FMVSS) 


 
SUBRECIPIENT shall submit 1) manufacturer's FMVSS self-certification sticker information that the 
vehicle complies with relevant FMVSS at the time of award and at the time of the post award audit, or 
2) manufacturer's certified statement that the contracted buses will not be subject to FMVSS regulations. 


 
3.  PURCHASERS REQUIREMENTS CERTIFICATION 


 
SUBRECIPIENT and selected Contractor shall submit all documentation requested by CITY in order to 
satisfy the following Federal requirements in 49 CFR 663. 


 
a. Pre-Award Purchasers Requirements Certification 


The Pre-Award purchaser’s requirements certification is a certification that SUBRECIPIENT keeps on 
file that: 


 
(1) The rolling stock SUBRECIPIENT is contracting for is the same product described in 


SUBRECIPIENT’s solicitation specifications. 
 


(2) SUBRECIPIENT and (if selected) Contractor is the responsible manufacturer with the capability to 
produce a vehicle that meets the Procuring Agency’s specifications set forth in the Procuring 
Agency solicitation. 


 
b.  Post-Award Purchasers Requirements Certification 


 
The Post-Award purchaser’s requirements certification is a certification SUBRECIPIENT keeps on file 
that: 


 
(1) Except for procurements covered under paragraph (c), in this section, a resident inspector (other 


than an agent or employee of the manufacturer) was at the manufacturing site throughout the period 
of manufacture of the rolling stock to be purchased and monitored and completed a report on the 
manufacture of such rolling stock.  Such a report, at a minimum, shall (1) provide accurate records 
of all vehicle construction activities; and  


 
(2)  Address how the construction and operation of the vehicles fulfills the contract specifications. 


 
(3) After reviewing the report required under paragraph (a), of this section, and visually inspecting and 


road testing the delivered vehicles, the vehicles meet the contract specifications. 
 







c.  For procurements of ten or fewer buses, or any number of primary manufacturer standard production 
and unmodified vans, after visually inspecting and road testing the vehicles, the vehicles meet the 
contract   specifications.  


 
The selected contractor shall submit all Post Award Audit Documents, as listed herein, to SUBRECIPIENT 
prior to the vehicle acceptance of each annual shipment.  Failure to provide these documents, within this 
timeframe, may result in a reasonable retention amount being withheld by the Procuring Agency in 
subsequent shipments, to insure satisfactory performance with this requirement.   


  
Article VIII: Safety Requirements 


 
All materials, equipment, and supplies acquired through this Contract by SUBRECIPIENT, must comply fully with all 
safety requirements as set forth in law or rule by the State of Wisconsin and all applicable OSHA Standards. 


 
Article IX: Termination 


 
A.        In the event Subrecipient shall default in any of the covenants, agreements, commitments, or conditions 


herein contained, and any such default shall continue unremedied for a period of ten (10) days after written notice 
thereof to Subrecipient, CITY may, at its option and in addition to all other rights and remedies which it may have 
at law or in equity against Subrecipient, including expressly the specific enforcement hereof, forthwith have the 
cumulative right to immediately terminate this contract and all rights of Subrecipient under this contract. 


 
B.        Notwithstanding paragraph A., above, CITY may in its sole discretion and without any reason terminate this 


agreement at any time by furnishing SUBRECIPIENT with ten (10) days' written notice of termination. In the 
event of termination under this subsection, CITY will pay for all work completed by SUBRECIPIENT and 
accepted by CITY  


 
Article X: Privacy Act 


 
SUBRECIPIENT agrees to comply with, and assures the compliance of its employees with, the information restrictions 
and other applicable requirements of the Privacy Act of 1974, 5 U.S.C. § 552a. Among other things, SUBRECIPIENT 
agrees to obtain the express consent of the Federal Government before SUBRECIPIENT or its employees operate a system 
of records on behalf of the Federal Government. SUBRECIPIENT understands that the requirements of the Privacy Act, 
including the civil and criminal penalties for violation of that Act, apply to those individuals involved, and that failure to 
comply with the terms of the Privacy Act may result in termination of the underlying contract. 
 
SUBRECIPIENT also agrees to include these requirements in each subcontract to administer any system of records on 
behalf of the Federal Government financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance provided by FTA. 
 


Article XI: Attachments 
 
All attachments to this Contract are incorporated herein by annexation (Attachment A and B). 
 
 


Article XII: Counterparts, Electronic Signature and Delivery 
 
This Contract may be signed in counterparts, each of which shall be taken together as a whole to comprise a single 
document. Signatures on this Contract may be exchanged between the parties by facsimile, electronic scanned copy (.pdf) 
or similar technology and shall be as valid as original; and this Contract may be converted into electronic format and signed 
or given effect with one or more electronic signature(s) if the electronic signature(s) meets all requirements of Wis. Stat. 
ch. 137 or other applicable Wisconsin or Federal law.  Executed copies or counterparts of this Contract may be delivered 
by facsimile or email and upon receipt will be deemed original and binding upon the parties hereto, whether or not a hard 
copy is also delivered. Copies of this Contract, fully executed, shall be as valid as an original. 
 


  







 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have set their hands at Madison, Wisconsin. 
 
 


  SUBRECIPIENT 


      City of Stoughton    
  (Type or Print Name of Contracting Entity) 


  By:  
   (Signature) 


     
   (Print Name and Title of Person Signing) 


   Date:       
   
   
   
   CITY OF MADISON, WISCONSIN 


a municipal corporation 
    


   By:  
    Satya Rhodes-Conway, Mayor 


     
  Date:  
 
Approved: 


  


     


  By:  
David P. Schmiedicke, Finance Director   Maribeth Witzel-Behl, City Clerk 


     
Date:   Date:  
   


Approved as to Form: 
   


Eric T. Veum, Risk Manager  Michael R. Haas, City Attorney 


Date:   Date:  
   


 
  







 
 


Attachment A 
 


2021 Section 5310 Capital Assistance Grant 
 


City of Stoughton 
 


The City of Stoughton offers a shared-ride taxi program open to the residents of Stoughton through a contract 
with a private taxi service provider. The City of Stoughton is to purchase an accessible shared-ride taxi minivan 
to replace a 2012 non-accessible Dodge Caravan taxi cab. Stoughton Transit operates in the City of Stoughton 
limits and within a three-mile radius of city limits. About 30,000 rides per year are taken on the taxi system, the 
majority of whom are seniors or people with disabilities. The shared‐ride taxi system is important to the 
community and is used for important trips to and from work, shopping, entertainment, medical appointments, and 
education. 


 
 
 
Quantity   Item Description    Unit Price        Total Price 
 
     1               Accessible Min-Van    $39,809.            $39,809. 
 
           Subtotal A      $39,809. 
               


Federal Share (80%)         $31,847. 
 
 
 


 
 







Attachment B 
 


DEBARMENT AND SUSPENSION CERTIFICATION   
 
Instructions for Certification: 
 
1. By signing this Contract, the prospective sub-grantee or sub-recipient is providing the signed certification set out below.  
 
2. The inability of a person to provide the certification required below will not necessarily result in denial of participation 
in this covered transaction.  The prospective participant shall submit an explanation of why it cannot provide the 
certification set out below.  The certification or explanation will be considered in connection with the department or 
agency’s determination whether to enter into this transaction.  However, failure of the prospective primary participant to 
furnish a certification shall disqualify such person from participation in this transaction. 
 
3. The certification in this clause is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when the department 
or agency determined to enter into this. If it is later determined that the prospective primary participant knowingly rendered 
an erroneous certification, in addition to other remedies available to the Federal Government, the department or agency 
may terminate this transaction for cause or default. 
 
4. The prospective primary participant shall provide immediate written notice to the department or agency to which this 
proposal is submitted if at any time the prospective primary participant learns that its certification was erroneous when 
submitted or has become erroneous by reason of changed circumstances. 
 
5. The terms "covered transaction," "debarred," "suspended," "ineligible," "lower tier covered transaction," "participant," 
"person," "primary covered transaction," "principal," "proposal," and "voluntarily excluded," as used in this clause, have 
the meanings set out in the Definitions and Coverage sections of rules implementing Executive Order 12549. You may 
contact the department or agency to which this proposal is submitted for assistance in obtaining a copy of those regulations. 
 
6. The prospective primary participant agrees by submitting this proposal that, should the proposed covered transaction be 
entered into, it shall not knowingly enter into any lower tier covered transaction with a person who is proposed for 
debarment under 48 CFR part 9, subpart 9.4, debarred, suspended, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from 
participation in this covered transaction, unless authorized by in writing by the department or agency entering into this 
transactions. 
 
7. The prospective primary participant further agrees by submitting this proposal that it will include this clause titled 
"Certification regarding Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility and Voluntary Exclusion - Lower Tier Covered 
Transaction", provided by the department or agency entering into this covered transaction, without modification, in all 
lower tier covered transactions and in all solicitations for lower tier covered transactions. 
 
8. A participant in a covered transaction may rely upon a certification of a prospective participant in a lower tier covered 
transaction that it is not proposed for debarment under 48 CFR part 9, subpart 9.4, debarred, suspended, ineligible, or 
voluntarily excluded from the covered transaction, unless it knows that the certification is erroneous. A participant may 
decide the method and frequency by which it determines the eligibility of its principals. Each participant agrees to review 
the “Excluded Parties Listing System” at http://www.sam.gov, before entering into any third party contract or 
subagreement. 
 
9. Nothing contained in the foregoing shall be construed to require establishment of system of records in order to render 
in good faith the certification required by this clause. The knowledge and information of a participant is not required to 
exceed that which is normally possessed by a prudent person in the ordinary course of business dealings. 
 
10. Except for transactions authorized under Paragraph 6 of these instructions, if a participant in a covered transaction 
knowingly enters into a lower tier covered transaction with a person who is proposed for debarment under 48 CFR part 9, 
subpart 9.4, suspended, debarred, ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in this transaction, in addition to 
other remedies available to the Federal Government, the department or agency may terminate this transaction for cause or 
default. 







DEBARMENT AND SUSPENSION CERTIFICATION - PRIMARY- (continued) 
 
The prospective primary participant certifies, by submission of this Proposal, to the best of its knowledge and belief, that 
neither it nor its "principals," as defined in 2. C.F.R. Part 180.995: 
 
Are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from covered 
transactions by any Federal department or agency; 
 
Have not within a three-year period preceding this proposal been convicted of or had a civil judgment rendered against 
them for commission of fraud or a criminal offense in connection with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a 
public (Federal, State or local) transaction or contract under a public transaction; violation of Federal or State antitrust 
statutes or commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of records, making false 
statements, or receiving stolen property. 
 
Are not presently indicted for or otherwise criminally or civilly charges by a governmental entity (Federal, State or local) 
with commission of any of the offenses enumerated in paragraph (2) of this certification. 
 
Have not within a three-year period preceding this application/proposal had one or more public transactions (Federal, State, 
local) terminated for cause or default. 
 
If the prospective primary participant is unable to certify to any of the statements in this certification, such prospective 
primary participant shall attach an explanation to this proposal, and indicate that it has done so, by placing an "X" in the 
following space: ____.     
          
Furthermore, the Participant certifies that it will provide immediate written notice to CITY if, at any time during the course 
of the proposed contract, it learns that this certification was erroneous when submitted or has been erroneous by reason of 
changed circumstances. 
 
THE PARTICIPANT, CERTIFIES OR AFFIRMS THE TRUTHFULNESS AND ACCURACY OF EACH 
STATEMENT OF ITS CERTIFICATION AND EXPLANATION, IF ANY. IN ADDITION, THE PARTICIPANT 
UNDERSTANDS AND AGREES THAT THE PROVISIONS OF 31 U.S.C. §§ 3801 ET SEQ. APPLY TO THIS 
CERTIFICATION AND EXPLANATION, IF ANY. 
 
 
 
        ___________________________________________ 
        Signature and title of Authorized Official 
 
The undersigned chief legal counsel for City of Stoughton hereby certifies City of Stoughton has authority under state 
and local law to comply with the subject assurance and that the certification above has been legally made. 
 
 


_____________________________________________ 
   Signature of Subrecipient’s Attorney 
 


_____________________________________________ 
   Date 
 


 





		11a-R-XX-2021 - Section 5310 Grant Acceptance

		11b-R-XX-2021 - Section 5310 Grant Acceptance






 
 


 


RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 


 
Authorizing and directing the proper city official(s) to appoint Hazel Koszycki as the agent for Kwik Trip 


Inc., d/b/a Kwik Trip #739, located at 517 W Main St  


 


  


  
 
File Number:  R-10-2021 


 
Date Introduced:   January 26, 2021  


 
WHEREAS the City Clerk’s office has received a Schedule for Successor of Agent and Schedule 


for Appointment of Agent for Kwik Trip #739, and 


 
WHEREAS, the application was forwarded to the Police Chief for review and the Chief 


recommends approval, now therefore  


 


BE IT RESOLVED the Common Council of the City of Stoughton that the proper city 


official(s) be hereby directed and authorized to appoint Hazel Koszycki as the agent for Kwik 


Trip #739.  


 


 


Council Action:         Adopted     Failed Vote     


 


 


Mayoral Action:        Accept     Veto  


 


 


                                             


Tim Swadley, Mayor    Date 
 


 


 


 


Council Action:           Override  Vote     


 


 

























		12a

		12b










 
 


 


RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 


 
Authorizing and directing the proper city official(s) to appoint Michael Laures as the agent for Kwik Trip 


Inc., d/b/a Kwik Trip #967, located at 2400 Roby Rd  


 


  


  
 
File Number:  R-11-2021 


 
Date Introduced:   January 26, 2021  


 
WHEREAS the City Clerk’s office has received a Schedule for Successor of Agent and Schedule 


for Appointment of Agent for Kwik Trip #967, and 


 
WHEREAS, the application was forwarded to the Police Chief for review and the Chief 


recommends approval, now therefore  


 


BE IT RESOLVED the Common Council of the City of Stoughton that the proper city 


official(s) be hereby directed and authorized to appoint Michael Laures as the agent for Kwik 


Trip #967.  


 


 


Council Action:         Adopted     Failed Vote     


 


 


Mayoral Action:        Accept     Veto  


 


 


                                             


Tim Swadley, Mayor    Date 
 


 


 


 


Council Action:           Override  Vote     


 


 

























		13a-R-11-2021

		13b-










Meeting of: MEETING OF COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 


STOUGHTON 


Date//Time: Tuesday, January 26, 2021 @ 7:00 p.m. The GoToMeeting line will be open at 


6:50 p.m. so everyone can get connected. No business will be conducted until 


7:00 p.m. 


Location: The meeting of the Common Council will be conducted virtually due to 


COVID-19. You can join the meeting from your computer tablet or smartphone: 


https://global.gotomeeting.com/join/899314301. You can also dial in using 


your phone: +1 (571) 317-3116 . Access Code: 899-314-301.  


 


Members: Mayor Tim Swadley, Sid Boersma, Phil Caravello, Ozzie Doom, Ben Heili, 


Regina Hirsch, Fred Hundt, Greg Jenson, Jean Ligocki, Tom Majewski, Lisa 


Reeves, and Brett Schumacher, Joyce Tikalsky 


ATTENTION COUNCIL MEMBERS: TWO-THIRDS OF MEMBERS NEEDED FOR A QUORUM 


(EIGHT). The Council may only conduct business when a quorum is present. If you are unable to attend 


the meeting, please  notify the City Clerk’s office via telephone (608)873-6677 or via email 


hlicht@ci.stoughton.wi.us  
 


CALL TO ORDER 
 


1. Roll Call, Communications, and Presentations:  


 Presentation of alternative 2021-2026 Financial Management Plan by Ehlers  


 TIF Presentation by Finance Director Friedl  


 TIF Policy Presentation by Attorney Dregne 


 Presentation by RHD Properties, LLC in regards to TIF Request for 51 West Project (For 


informational purposes only. No action will be taken at this meeting.)  


 


2. Minutes and Reports: 


Plan Commission (12/14/20); Landmarks (12/10/20); Finance (12/22/20) 


 


 


3. Public Comment Period: 


 If you would like to speak during public comment period, please fill out the form and 


submit it by 6:30 p.m. on January 26, 2021. http://speak.cityofstoughton.com.  
 


4. Consent Agenda 


A. January 12, 2021 Council Minutes 


 


OLD BUSINESS 


 


5. O- 1-2021- An Ordinance Providing for the Direct Annexation by Unanimous Approval of a 


Portion of the Town of Rutland to the City of Stoughton, Dane County, WI (Plan Commission 


approved 6-0 on December 14, 2020)      SECOND READING 


 


OFFICIAL NOTICE AND AGENDA 
Notice is hereby given that Common Council of the City of Stoughton, Wisconsin, will hold a 


regular or special meeting as indicated on the date and at the time and location given below. 


  


 



https://global.gotomeeting.com/join/899314301

tel:+15713173116,,899314301

mailto:hlicht@ci.stoughton.wi.us

http://speak.cityofstoughton.com/





 


6. O- 2-2021- An Ordinance Providing for the Direct Annexation by Unanimous Approval of a 


Portion of the Town Rutland to the City of Stoughton, Dane County, Wisconsin (Plan Commission 


recommended approval 6-0 on December 14, 2020)    SECOND READING 


 


7. O- 3-2021- Amending Zoning Code Sections 78-722 of the Stoughton Municipal Code (Plan 


Commission recommended approval 6-0 on December 14, 2020)   SECOND READING 


 
 


NEW BUSINESS 


 


8. R-7-2021- Approving an extra-territorial jurisdictional (ETJ) land division (CSM) request by Dale 


Beske for property located at 1357 Tower Drive, Town of Dunkirk, Dane County, Wisconsin. (Plan 


Commission recommended approval 7-0 on January 11, 2021)  


 


9. R-8-2021- Approving an extra-territorial jurisdictional (ETJ) land division (CSM) request by 


Andrew Walker for property located at 2967 Shadyside Drive, Town of Pleasant Springs, Dane 


County, Wisconsin. (Plan Commission recommended approval 7-0 on January 11, 2021)  


 


10. O-4-2021- Amending Zoning Code Section 78-810 of the Stoughton Municipal Code (Plan 


Commission recommended approval 6-0 on January 11, 2021)   FIRST READING 


 


11. R-9-2021-  Authorizing the City of Stoughton Director of Finance/Comptroller to act on the 


behalf of the City of Stoughton to accept the 2021 Section 5310 Grant in the amount of 


$31,847 and move forward with the process of purchasing an additional accessible van for 


the shared-ride taxi program (Finance recommended approval 5-0 on January 12, 2021)  


 


12. R-10-2021- Authorizing and directing the proper City official (s) to appoint Hazel Koszycki 


as the agent for Kwik Trip, Inc. d/b/a Kwik Trip 739, located at 517 W Main St.  


 


13. R-11-2021-Authorizing and directing the proper City official (s) to appoint Michael Laures 


as the agent for Kwik Trip, Inc. d/b/a Kwik Trip 967, located at 2400 Roby Rd.  


 


ADJOURNMENT 


Upon reasonable notice, efforts will be made to accommodate the needs of disabled individuals through appropriate 


aids and services. For information or to request such assistance, please call the City Hall at (608) 873-6677.By: 


Mayor Tim Swadley, Council President Regina Hirsch  


 








David Ferris, Municipal Advisor


Phil Cosson, Senior Municipal Advisor











Levy Limits


General Fund 
Fund Balance


Tax Levy & 
Rate Forecast


General Fund
Equalized 


Value Forecast


Capital Project 
Funds


City CIP Debt Service 
Fund











 -


 500,000


 1,000,000


 1,500,000


 2,000,000


 2,500,000


 3,000,000


 3,500,000


 4,000,000


R
a


ti
n


g


D
o


ll
a


rs
 (0


0
0


)


Full Value


Full Value Rating


Aaa


Aa


A


Baa
 -


 50,000


 100,000


 150,000


 200,000


 250,000


 300,000


R
a


ti
n


g


D
o


ll
a


rs


Full Value Per Capita


Full Value Per Capita Rating


Aaa


Aa


0.0%


20.0%


40.0%


60.0%


80.0%


100.0%


120.0%


140.0%


160.0%


180.0%


200.0%


R
a


ti
n


g


Median Family Income


Median Family Income Rating


Aaa


Aa







•


•


 0.94


 0.95


 0.96


 0.97


 0.98


 0.99


 1.00


 1.01


DeForest
(Aa2)


Fitchburg
(Aa1)


Oregon
(Aa2)


Stoughton
(Aa2)


Sun Prairie
(Aa2)


Waunakee
(Aa2)


Verona
(Aa2)


R
a


ti
n


g


5-Year Ave of Op Revs / Op Exps


5-Year Ave of Op Revs / Op Exps Rating


Aaa


Aa


A


Baa







0.0%


5.0%


10.0%


15.0%


20.0%


25.0%


30.0%


35.0%


40.0%


45.0%


R
a


ti
n


g
Fund Balance as a % of Revenues


Fund Balance as a % of Revenues Rating


Aaa


Aa


0.0%


5.0%


10.0%


15.0%


20.0%


25.0%


R
a


ti
n


g


5-Year Change in Fund Balance


5-Year Change in Fund Balance Rating


Aaa


Aa


A


0.0%


5.0%


10.0%


15.0%


20.0%


25.0%


30.0%


35.0%


40.0%


45.0%


R
a


ti
n


g


Cash Balance as a % of Revenues


Cash Balance as a % of Revenues Rating


Aaa


0.0%


2.0%


4.0%


6.0%


8.0%


10.0%


12.0%


14.0%


16.0%


18.0%


20.0%


R
a


ti
n


g


5-Year Dollar Change Cash Balance


5-Year Dollar Change Cash Balance Rating


Aaa


Aa


A







0.0%


0.5%


1.0%


1.5%


2.0%


2.5%


3.0%


3.5%


4.0%


R
a


ti
n


g


Net Direct Debt / Full Value


Net Direct Debt / Full Value Rating


Aaa


Aa


A


 -


 0.50


 1.00


 1.50


 2.00


 2.50


 3.00


 3.50


 4.00


 4.50


 5.00


R
a


ti
n


g


Net Direct Debt / Operating


Net Direct Debt / Operating Rating


A


Baa


Aa


0.0%


0.2%


0.4%


0.6%


0.8%


1.0%


1.2%


1.4%


1.6%


1.8%


Ra
ti


ng


Moody's - Adjusted Net Pension to Full Value


Moody's - Adjusted Net Pension to Full Value Rating


Aaa


Aa


 -


 0.25


 0.50


 0.75


 1.00


 1.25


 1.50


Ra
ti


ng


Moody's - Adjusted Net Pension to Revenues


Moody's - Adjusted Net Pension to Revenues Rating


Aaa


Aa


A







•


•


•


•


•


•















YEAR Prin (4/1) Rate Interest Premium Total Prin (4/1) Rate Interest Premium Total


2019                                                                               


2020                                                             
2021 150,000     3.00% 71,187    (71,187) 150,000     150,000      3.23% 78,158       (78,158) 150,000      
2022 125,000     3.00% 50,725    (50,725) 125,000     125,000      3.23% 55,791       (55,791) 125,000      
2023 250,000     3.00% 45,100    (19,166) 275,934     250,000      3.23% 49,735       (7,129) 292,606      


2024 180,000     3.00% 38,650                         218,650     180,000      3.23% 42,790                        222,790      


2025 175,000     3.00% 33,325                         208,325     175,000      3.23% 37,057                        212,057      
2026 210,000     2.00% 28,600                         238,600     210,000      2.23% 31,889                        241,889      


2027 400,000     2.00% 22,500                         422,500     400,000      2.23% 25,088                        425,088      
2028 475,000     2.00% 13,750                         488,750     475,000      2.23% 15,331                        490,331      
2029 225,000     2.00% 6,750                           231,750     225,000      2.23% 7,526                          232,526      
2030 225,000     2.00% 2,250                           227,250     225,000      2.23% 2,509                          227,509      


                                       
TOTALS 2,415,000 312,837 (141,078) 2,586,759 2,415,000 345,873 (141,078) 2,619,795


Note: Average difference between AA to A from 2021 through 2030 = 0.23% Additional Financing Costs  33,036$      


Effect of difference between AA rating and A rating increase in Interest Rates


Dated 6-18-20 Dated 6-18-20


$2,415,000 $2,415,000
General Obligation Notes, 2020 General Obligation Notes, 2020







•


•


•







0.00%


0.50%


1.00%


1.50%


2.00%


2.50%


2020 2019 2018 2017 2016


Net New Construction with and without TIF #7


Net New Construction with TIF 7 Net New Construction without TIF 7







$0


$200,000,000


$400,000,000


$600,000,000


$800,000,000


$1,000,000,000


$1,200,000,000


$1,400,000,000


$1,600,000,000


2015
Actual


2017
Actual


2019
Actual


2021 2023 2025 2027


Actual and Projected TID Out Equalized Valuation Growth


TID 4 Projected ClosureTID 3 Projected Closure







Projected Rate Impact


YEAR


General 


Obligation 


Debt


Other Debt 


Service 


Fees


Total of All 


Obligations


Bid Premium 


Deposit/ 


Adjustments


Total Paid By 


Other Funds


TID 5 Levy 


Support


TID 6 Levy 


Support


TID 8 Levy 


Support


BAB 


Rebate


Township 


Share of 


Fire Debt


Specials


Funds 


Applied / 


Misc 


Difference


Total 


Abatement 


Sources


C


o


l


u


Net Debt 


Service Levy
Levy Change


Projected 


Equalized Value


% 


Change


Debt 


Service 


Tax 


Rate YEAR9


Y


E


A


R
2020 5,238,393     1,000          5,239,393     (163,825)        (1,655,826)                                                         (4,312)  (73,975)                       3,157           (1,894,781)      3,344,613     1,176,283,200 5.88% 2.84 2020
2021 4,451,731     1,000          4,452,731     (59,569)          (975,990)                       125,000      24,741                   (73,975)    (35,000)     (24,011)        (1,018,804)      3,433,927     89,314          1,199,002,400 1.93% 2.86 2021
2022 4,748,663     1,000          4,749,663     (42,025)          (1,408,692)    65,000    250,000      150,000                 (73,975)    (65,000)     (100,000)      (1,224,692)      3,524,971     91,044          1,246,132,248 3.93% 2.83 2022
2023 4,538,863     1,000          4,539,863     (16,328)          (1,327,546)    65,000    250,000      125,000                 (73,975)    (70,000)     (110,205)      (1,158,054)      3,381,809     (143,162)       1,271,054,893 2.00% 2.66 2023
2024 4,482,597     1,000          4,483,597                             (1,328,229)    65,000    250,000      125,000                 (73,975)    (80,000)     (154,674)      (1,196,878)      3,286,719     (95,090)         1,296,475,991 2.00% 2.54 2024
2025 4,419,409     1,000          4,420,409                             (1,306,670)    75,000    300,000      125,000                 (73,975)    (100,000)   (188,541)      (1,169,186)      3,251,223     (35,495)         1,322,405,511 2.00% 2.46 2025
2026 4,131,025     1,000          4,132,025                             (1,182,415)    75,000    300,000      125,000                 (73,975)    (120,000)   (176,934)      (1,053,324)      3,078,701     (172,522)       1,356,719,721 2.59% 2.27 2026
2027 3,695,121     1,000          3,696,121                             (1,192,176)    80,000    300,000      125,000                 (25,192)    (130,000)   (228,955)      (1,071,323)      2,624,798     (453,903)       1,383,854,115 2.00% 1.90 2027
2028 2,531,873     1,000          2,532,873                             (1,051,753)                    225,000      125,000                 (25,192)                       (109,385)      (836,330)         1,696,542     (928,256)       1,411,531,198 2.00% 1.20 2028
2029 2,158,929     1,000          2,159,929                             (933,579)                       225,000      60,000                                                        (104,183)      (752,762)         1,407,167     (289,375)       1,439,761,822 2.00% 0.98 2029
2030 1,219,404     1,000          1,220,404                             (493,229)                                                                                                               (53,596)        (546,825)         673,579        (733,588)       1,468,557,058 2.00% 0.46 2030
2031 990,879        1,000          991,879                                (396,979)                                                                                                               (21,715)        (418,694)         573,185        (100,394)       1,497,928,199 2.00% 0.38 2031
2032 997,479        1,000          998,479                                (397,829)                                                                                                                                    (397,829)         600,650        27,465          1,527,886,763 2.00% 0.39 2032
2033 997,741        1,000          998,741                                (398,179)                                                                                                                                    (398,179)         600,563        (88)                 1,558,444,498 2.00% 0.39 2033
2034 1,001,116     1,000          1,002,116                             (397,816)                                                                                                                                    (397,816)         604,300        3,738            1,589,613,388 2.00% 0.38 2034
2035 668,529        1,000          669,529                                (62,454)                                                                                                                                       (62,454)           607,075        2,775            1,621,405,656 2.00% 0.37 2035
2036 670,654        1,000          671,654                                (62,454)                                                                                                                                       (62,454)           609,200        2,125            1,653,833,769 2.00% 0.37 2036
2037 609,675        1,000          610,675                                                                                                                                                                                                             610,675        1,475            1,686,910,445 2.00% 0.36 2037
2038 610,125        1,000          611,125                                                                                                                                                                                                             611,125        450                1,720,648,653 2.00% 0.36 2038


TOTALS 48,162,204 19,000 48,181,204 (281,747) (14,571,815) 425,000 2,225,000 984,741 (4,312) (568,209) (600,000) (1,269,042) (13,660,384) 34,520,820


NOTES: - TIDs account for $11,754,751 of debt payments from 2020 - 2036.


- TID levy support will be reviewed annually to determine need based upon performance of the TID


- Funds applied consists of available funds on hand that can be used to reduce debt tax levy.


Debt Service Abatement Sources







•


•


•







•


•


•


•


•


•







•


•


•


•


•


•


•


•







 $2.20


 $2.30


 $2.40


 $2.50


 $2.60


 $2.70


 $2.80


 $2.90


2017 2018 2019 2020 2021


5-Year Historical Debt Tax Rate 







 $2.75


 $2.85


 $2.95


 $3.05


 $3.15


2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030


Debt Tax Rate


 Recommended CIP  Requested CIP







0%


1%


2%


3%


4%


5%


6%


2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030


Increase in Debt Tax Rate







Financing Plan Issue Sizing
ESTIMATED Issue 4 Issue 5 Issue 6 Issue 7 Issue 8


Issue 1 -        


GO Notes GO Notes GO Notes GO Notes GO Notes STFL


2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2021 Total


Projects


Capital Projects 2,300,000 2,310,000 2,855,000 3,200,000 3,510,000 0 14,175,000


TID 8 0 0 0 0 0 260,000 260,000


Stormwater Utility 145,000 500,000 0 255,000 375,000 0 1,275,000


Project Needs 2,445,000 2,810,000 2,855,000 3,455,000 3,885,000 260,000 15,710,000


Issuance Expenses


Municipal Advisor 24,400 25,400 25,500 27,100 28,300 0 130,700


Bond Counsel 13,000 13,000 13,000 13,000 13,000 0 65,000


Rating 13,000 13,000 13,000 13,000 13,000 0 65,000


Paying Agent 850 850 850 850 850 0 4,250


Underwriter Fees 25,250 28,900 29,400 35,450 39,800 0 158,800


Total Funds Needed 2,521,500 2,891,150 2,936,750 3,544,400 3,979,950 260,000 16,133,750


Rate Months


Less Interest Earnings 0.20% 3              (1,223) (1,405) (1,428) (1,728) (1,943) 0 (7,727)


Rounding 4,723 255 4,678 2,328 1,993 0 13,977


Size of Issue 2,525,000 2,890,000 2,940,000 3,545,000 3,980,000 260,000 16,140,000







Projected Impact of Proposed Projects


Less 


Abatements
Impact on a


 $  100,000 of Value


Taxes Change


YEAR YEAR Principal Interest Total YEAR DO NOT DELETE


2020 1,176,283,200 5.88% 5,239,393      (1,894,781)     3,344,613    2.84 2020                                                                                       3,344,613    2.84 284.34       2020
2021 1,199,002,400 1.93% 4,452,731      (1,018,804)     3,433,927    2.86 2021                                                                                                             3,433,927    89,314      2.86 286.40       2.06 2021
2022 1,246,132,248 3.93% 4,749,663      (1,224,692)     3,524,971    2.83 2022 115,000       93,510        208,510       (20,443)         188,067        3,713,037    279,111    2.98 297.96       11.57 2022
2023 1,271,054,893 2.00% 4,539,863      (1,158,054)     3,381,809    2.66 2023 315,000       180,518      495,518       (64,289)         431,229        3,813,038    100,000    3.00 299.99       2.03 2023
2024 1,296,475,991 2.00% 4,483,597      (1,196,878)     3,286,719    2.54 2024 440,000       268,363      708,363       (82,044)         626,319        3,913,038    100,000    3.02 301.82       1.83 2024
2025 1,322,405,511 2.00% 4,420,409      (1,169,186)     3,251,223    2.46 2025 495,000       388,895      883,895       (122,081)       761,814        4,013,037    100,000    3.03 303.46       1.64 2025
2026 1,356,719,721 2.59% 4,132,025      (1,053,324)     3,078,701    2.27 2026 670,000       529,321      1,199,321    (164,984)       1,034,337    4,113,038    100,000    3.03 303.16       (0.30) 2026
2027 1,383,854,115 2.00% 3,696,121      (1,071,323)     2,624,798    1.90 2027 1,160,000    588,727      1,748,727    (160,488)       1,588,240    4,213,038    100,000    3.04 304.44       1.28 2027
2028 1,411,531,198 2.00% 2,532,873      (836,330)        1,696,542    1.20 2028 2,120,000    652,733      2,772,733    (156,238)       2,616,496    4,313,038    100,000    3.06 305.56       1.12 2028
2029 1,439,761,822 2.00% 2,159,929      (752,762)        1,407,167    0.98 2029 2,465,000    692,858      3,157,858    (151,988)       3,005,871    4,413,038    100,000    3.07 306.51       0.95 2029
2030 1,468,557,058 2.00% 1,220,404      (546,825)        673,579        0.46 2030 3,275,000    712,196      3,987,196    (147,738)       3,839,458    4,513,037    100,000    3.07 307.31       0.80 2030
2031 1,497,928,199 2.00% 991,879         (418,694)        573,185        0.38 2031 3,475,000    713,246      4,188,246    (148,394)       4,039,852    4,613,037    100,000    3.08 307.96       0.65 2031
2032 1,527,886,763 2.00% 998,479         (397,829)        600,650        0.39 2032 3,465,000    564,806      4,029,806    (134,075)       3,895,731    4,496,381    (116,656)   2.94 294.29       (13.67) 2032
2033 1,558,444,498 2.00% 998,741         (398,179)        600,563        0.39 2033 2,985,000    446,263      3,431,263    (75,700)         3,355,563    3,956,125    (540,256)   2.54 253.85       (40.44) 2033
2034 1,589,613,388 2.00% 1,002,116      (397,816)        604,300        0.38 2034 2,640,000    339,713      2,979,713    (78,056)         2,901,656    3,505,956    (450,169)   2.21 220.55       (33.30) 2034
2035 1,621,405,656 2.00% 669,529         (62,454)          607,075        0.37 2035 2,145,000    246,813      2,391,813    (45,844)         2,345,969    2,953,044    (552,913)   1.82 182.13       (38.43) 2035
2036 1,653,833,769 2.00% 671,654         (62,454)          609,200        0.37 2036 1,660,000    171,400      1,831,400                          1,831,400    2,440,600    (512,444)   1.48 147.57       (34.56) 2036
2037 1,686,910,445 2.00% 610,675                                 610,675        0.36 2037 1,355,000    111,100      1,466,100                          1,466,100    2,076,775    (363,825)   1.23 123.11       (24.46) 2037
2038 1,720,648,653 2.00% 611,125                                 611,125        0.36 2038 1,035,000    63,300        1,098,300                          1,098,300    1,709,425    (367,350)   0.99 99.35         (23.76) 2038
2039 1,755,061,627 2.00%                                                                      0.00 2039 705,000       28,500        733,500                             733,500        733,500        (975,925)   0.42 41.79         (57.55) 2039
2040 1,790,162,859 2.00%                                                                      0.00 2040 360,000       7,200          367,200                             367,200        367,200        (366,300)   0.21 20.51         (21.28) 2040


TOTALS 48,181,204 (13,660,384) 34,520,820 TOTALS 30,880,000 6,799,461 37,679,461 (1,552,359) 36,127,102 70,647,922 TOTALS


NOTES - Growth is projected at a conservative 2%.  The City has averaged 5.87% growth over the last 5 years.


- Stabilized tax levy with an annual increase of $100,000.  The conservative growth rate shows an increasing levy rate, however 1% additional growth causes the rate to decline.


- Plan takes into account the 5 year CIP plus an additional 5 years of annual $3 million dollar street projects.


Change 


in Value
Capital Plan Debt Service


Existing Debt Payments Projected Debt Service


Equalized Value 


Projection


Total of All 


Obligations


Total 


Abatement 


Sources
Stormwater 


Utility


Net Debt 


Service Levy


Debt 


Service 


Tax Rate


Debt 


Service 


Tax Rate


Total 


Projected 


Debt Service 


Less 


Abatements


Net Debt 


Service Levy


Levy 


Change







Debt Limit Calculation


$0


$10,000


$20,000


$30,000


$40,000


$50,000


$60,000


$70,000


$80,000
Th


ou
sa


nd
s


Debt Capacity - 80% All In Policy


Debt Limit 80% Debt Limit Principal Outstanding


$0


$10,000


$20,000


$30,000


$40,000


$50,000


$60,000


$70,000


$80,000


Th
ou


sa
nd


s


Debt Capacity - 50% Levy Only Policy


Debt Limit 50% Debt Limit Principal Outstanding







Financing Plan Issue Sizing
Issue 1 Issue 2 Issue 3 Issue 4 Issue 5 Issue 6


GO Notes GO Notes GO Notes GO Notes GO Notes STFL


2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2021 Total


Projects


Capital Projects - 10 Year 2,300,000 1,064,650 604,425 671,910 754,241 0 5,395,226


Capital Projects - 20 Year 0 3,821,151 2,031,707 5,256,194 2,485,187 0 13,594,239


TID 8 0 0 0 0 0 260,000 260,000


Stormwater Utility 145,000 500,750 38,125 255,527 615,198 0 1,554,600


Project Needs 2,445,000 5,386,551 2,674,257 6,183,631 3,854,626 260,000 20,804,065


Issuance Expenses


Municipal Advisor 24,400 32,500 24,900 34,600 27,600 0 144,000


Bond Counsel 13,000 13,000 13,000 13,000 13,000 0 65,000


Rating 13,000 13,000 13,000 13,000 13,000 0 65,000


Paying Agent 850 850 850 850 850 0 4,250


Underwriter Fees 31,625 68,938 34,500 79,063 49,500 0 263,625


Total Funds Needed 2,527,875 5,514,839 2,760,507 6,324,144 3,958,576 260,000 21,345,940


Rate Months


Less Interest Earnings 0.20% 3              (1,223) (2,693) (1,337) (3,092) (1,927) 0 (10,272)


Rounding 3,348 2,855 830 3,949 3,351 0 14,332


Size of Issue 2,530,000 5,515,000 2,760,000 6,325,000 3,960,000 260,000 21,350,000







Projected Impact of Proposed Projects


Impact on a


 $  100,000 of Value


Taxes Change


YEAR YEAR Principal Interest Total YEAR DO NOT DELETE


2020 1,176,283,200 5.88% 5,239,393      (1,894,781)     3,344,613    2.84 2020                                                                                                               3,344,613    2.84 284.34       2020
2021 1,199,002,400 1.93% 4,452,731      (1,018,804)     3,433,927    2.86 2021                                                                                                               3,433,927    89,314          2.86 286.40       2.06 2021
2022 1,246,132,248 3.93% 4,749,663      (1,145,629)     3,604,034    2.89 2022 126,251       101,391       227,642       (39,387)        188,255        3,792,289    358,362        3.04 304.32       17.93 2022
2023 1,271,054,893 2.00% 4,539,863      (1,126,587)     3,413,276    2.69 2023 398,994       297,325       696,319       (102,933)      593,385        4,006,661    214,372        3.15 315.22       10.90 2023
2024 1,296,475,991 2.00% 4,483,597      (1,203,607)     3,279,990    2.53 2024 584,328       344,506       928,833       (102,162)      826,671        4,106,661    100,000        3.17 316.76       1.53 2024
2025 1,322,405,511 2.00% 4,420,409      (1,342,116)     3,078,293    2.33 2025 674,727       595,347       1,270,074    (141,706)      1,128,368    4,206,661    100,000        3.18 318.11       1.35 2025
2026 1,348,853,621 2.00% 4,132,025      (1,230,342)     2,901,683    2.15 2026 935,116       691,578       1,626,694    (221,716)      1,404,978    4,306,661    100,000        3.19 319.28       1.18 2026
2027 1,383,696,793 2.58% 3,696,121      (1,091,856)     2,604,265    1.88 2027 1,265,521    744,850       2,010,371    (207,975)      1,802,396    4,406,661    100,000        3.18 318.47       (0.81) 2027
2028 1,411,370,729 2.00% 2,532,873      (726,945)        1,805,927    1.28 2028 2,095,920    807,777       2,903,696    (202,963)      2,700,733    4,506,660    100,000        3.19 319.31       0.84 2028
2029 1,439,598,144 2.00% 2,159,929      (648,579)        1,511,350    1.05 2029 2,261,378    852,537       3,113,915    (207,782)      2,906,133    4,417,483    (89,177)        3.07 306.86       (12.46) 2029
2030 1,468,390,107 2.00% 1,220,404      (493,229)        727,175        0.50 2030 2,841,833    883,094       3,724,927    (202,432)      3,522,496    4,249,671    (167,812)      2.89 289.41       (17.45) 2030
2031 1,497,757,909 2.00% 991,879         (396,979)        594,900        0.40 2031 2,877,307    901,639       3,778,946    (201,988)      3,576,958    4,171,858    (77,812)        2.79 278.54       (10.87) 2031
2032 1,527,713,067 2.00% 998,479         (397,829)        600,650        0.39 2032 2,782,782    774,887       3,557,669    (181,663)      3,376,006    3,976,656    (195,202)      2.60 260.30       (18.24) 2032
2033 1,558,267,328 2.00% 998,741         (398,179)        600,563        0.39 2033 2,658,310    674,177       3,332,488    (127,269)      3,205,219    3,805,781    (170,875)      2.44 244.23       (16.07) 2033
2034 1,589,432,675 2.00% 1,002,116      (397,816)        604,300        0.38 2034 2,608,843    575,395       3,184,238    (123,594)      3,060,644    3,664,944    (140,838)      2.31 230.58       (13.65) 2034
2035 1,621,221,328 2.00% 669,529         (62,454)          607,075        0.37 2035 2,514,396    478,435       2,992,832    (95,350)        2,897,481    3,504,556    (160,388)      2.16 216.17       (14.41) 2035
2036 1,653,645,755 2.00% 671,654         (62,454)          609,200        0.37 2036 2,409,961    384,739       2,794,700    (18,944)        2,775,756    3,384,956    (119,600)      2.05 204.70       (11.47) 2036
2037 1,686,718,670 2.00% 610,675                                 610,675        0.36 2037 2,135,571    298,486       2,434,057    (18,944)        2,415,113    3,025,788    (359,169)      1.79 179.39       (25.31) 2037
2038 1,720,453,043 2.00% 611,125                                 611,125        0.36 2038 1,891,194    223,019       2,114,213    (18,944)        2,095,269    2,706,394    (319,394)      1.57 157.31       (22.08) 2038
2039 1,754,862,104 2.00%                                                                      0.00 2039 1,621,841    158,434       1,780,275    (18,944)        1,761,331    1,761,331    (945,063)      1.00 100.37       (56.94) 2039
2040 1,789,959,346 2.00%                                                                      0.00 2040 1,297,511    105,970       1,403,482    (18,944)        1,384,538    1,384,538    (376,794)      0.77 77.35         (23.02) 2040
2041 1,825,758,533 2.00%                                                                      0.00 2041 958,215       66,822          1,025,038    (18,944)        1,006,094    1,006,094    (378,444)      0.55 55.11         (22.24) 2041
2042 1,862,273,704 2.00%                                                                      0.00 2042 675,000       38,469          713,469                             713,469        713,469        (292,625)      0.38 38.31         (16.79) 2042
2043 1,899,519,178 2.00%                                                                      0.00 2043 550,000       16,781          566,781                             566,781        566,781        (146,688)      0.30 29.84         (8.47) 2043
2044 1,937,509,562 2.00%                                                                      0.00 2044 185,000       3,469            188,469                             188,469        188,469        (378,313)      0.10 9.73           (20.11) 2044


TOTALS 48,181,204 (13,638,185) 34,543,019 TOTALS 36,350,000 10,019,127 46,369,127 (2,272,584) 44,096,543 78,639,562 TOTALS


NOTES - Growth is projected at a conservative 2%.  The City has averaged 5.87% growth over the last 5 years.


- Stabilized tax levy with an annual increase of $100,000.  The conservative growth rate shows an increasing levy rate, however 1% additional growth causes the rate to decline.


- Plan takes into account the 5 year CIP plus an additional 5 years of annual $3 million dollar street projects.


Net Debt 


Service Levy
Levy Change


Total 


Abatements


Existing Debt Payments Projected Debt Service


Equalized Value 


Projection


Total of All 


Obligations


Total 


Abatement 


Sources


Net Debt 


Service Levy


Debt 


Service 


Tax Rate


Debt 


Service 


Tax Rate


Change 


in Value
Capital Plan Debt Service


Total 


Projected 


Debt Service 


Less 


Abatements







Debt Limit Calculation


$0


$10,000


$20,000


$30,000


$40,000


$50,000


$60,000


$70,000


$80,000
Th


ou
sa


nd
s


Debt Capacity - 80% All In Policy


Debt Limit 80% Debt Limit Principal Outstanding


$0


$10,000


$20,000


$30,000


$40,000


$50,000


$60,000


$70,000


$80,000


Th
ou


sa
nd


s


Debt Capacity - 50% Levy Only Policy


Debt Limit 50% Debt Limit Principal Outstanding







•


•


•


–


•


•







General Fund Forecast Codes


CODE DEFINITION EXPLANATION
FORECASTED 


INCREASE


A Average
Sets the value in all five years of the forecast period to the average of the 


prior five year's values.


C Commodities Operating supplies 2.00%


E
Employee 


Finges
Dental, life, and disability insurance 5.00%


G Gas & Oil Motor Fuel 2.00%


H
Health 


Insurance
Health insurance 8.00%


I Insurance Property, Liability, Worker's Compensation 2.00%


L Last
Sets the value in all five years of the forecast period to the value in the most 


recent budget or actual column.


M Manual Manual Entry


S Services Professional services, training & travel, dues and subscriptions 2.00%


U Utilities Utilities - Water, Sewer, Electric, Telecommunications 1.00%


W Wages Salaries, Wages, payroll taxes, retirement 3.00%


Z Zero Sets the value in the forecast period to zero.







2020 


PROJECTED


2021 


PROJECTED


2022 


PROJECTED


2023 


PROJECTED


2024 


PROJECTED


2025 


PROJECTED


REVENUE


Local property taxes 6,039,101$   6,177,884$     6,431,660$      6,688,988$     6,980,827$     7,219,389$    


Other taxes 58,794          57,500            57,500             57,500            57,500            57,500           


Intergovernmental revenues 2,130,051     2,308,800       2,308,800        2,308,800       2,308,800       2,308,800      


Licenses and permits 217,466        195,500          195,500           195,500          195,500          195,500         


Fines and forfeitures 102,689        147,000          147,000           147,000          147,000          147,000         


Public charges for service 511,845        621,488          633,248           642,255          651,532          661,088         


Intergovernmental charges for service 45,665          32,000            32,960             33,949            34,967            36,016           


Special assessments 10,973          12,250            12,250             12,250            12,250            12,250           


Investment income 98,816          22,000            22,000             22,000            22,000            22,000           


Miscellaneous 416,290        402,090          407,089           402,090          407,090          402,090         


Transfers in (includes PILOT) 732,072        865,200          887,200           907,200          927,200          947,200         


TOTAL REVENUE 10,363,762   10,841,712     11,135,207      11,417,532     11,744,666     12,008,833    


EXPENDITURES


General Government 1,910,159     1,973,883       2,027,519        2,056,440       2,109,032       2,096,884      


Public Safety 4,153,865     4,255,912       4,397,507        4,540,145       4,699,164       4,854,924      


Public Works 1,540,372     1,635,778       1,685,501        1,737,335       1,791,403       1,847,834      


Culture, Recreation & Education 1,532,807     1,789,003       1,837,544        1,896,476       1,957,931       2,022,055      


Transfers out 1,112,500     1,187,136       1,187,136        1,187,136       1,187,136       1,187,136      


TOTAL EXPENDITURES 10,249,703   10,841,712     11,135,207      11,417,532     11,744,666     12,008,833    


Net Change 114,059        -                      -                       -                      -                      -                     


FUND BALANCE


BEGINNING FUND BALANCE 6,803,581     6,917,640       6,917,640        6,917,640       6,917,640       6,917,640      


YEAR END BALANCE 6,917,640$   6,917,640$     6,917,640$      6,917,640$     6,917,640$     6,917,640$    


COMPONENTS OF FUND BALANCE


NONSPENDABLE 982,345$      1,033,296$     1,040,082$      1,118,415$     1,188,172$     1,064,933$    


ASSIGNED 1,100,000     1,100,000       1,100,000        1,100,000       1,100,000       1,100,000      


UNASSIGNED 4,835,295     4,784,344       4,777,558        4,699,225       4,629,468       4,752,707      


TOTAL FUND BALANCE 6,917,640$   6,917,640$     6,917,640$      6,917,640$     6,917,640$     6,917,640$    


Other transfers included in policy 3,519,613     3,426,186       3,248,037        3,373,038       3,473,038       3,513,037      


Unassigned fund balance as a % of 


expenditures
35% 34% 33% 32% 30% 31%


2020 Financial Management Plan │ General Fund







Note:  Demonstrates a stable distribution of fund balance over the projection period.


0


1,000,000


2,000,000


3,000,000


4,000,000


5,000,000


6,000,000


7,000,000


8,000,000


2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025


General Fund Balance By Category


NONSPENDABLE ASSIGNED UNASSIGNED







 -


 2,000,000


 4,000,000


 6,000,000


 8,000,000


 10,000,000


 12,000,000


 14,000,000


2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025


Operating Levy Limit Debt Adjustment (Unsued) or Exceeded


Note:  The green area above represents the amount that the projected levy is below the maximum levy limit.


The blue operating section can only grow by the rate of net new construction (new improvements less 


improvements removed) which is 1.837% for the 2021 budget.


Operating  Levy 
Limit Grows By 


Net New 
Construction or 
closure of TID’s


Maximum Levy 
Limit


Debt Adjustment 
– No more than 
debt service levy







Expenditure Restraint Budget Worksheet
CPI allowable amount per DOR 1.85% 1.30% 1.30% 1.30% 1.30% 1.30%


Net new construction factor 0.90% 1.10% 0.80% 0.80% 0.80% 0.80%


Total (Rounded up) 2.8% 2.4% 2.1% 2.1% 2.1% 2.1%


General Fund Expenditure Budget


2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025


Budget Comparison


1 13,757,314         13,942,408         14,094,505         14,601,423         15,022,988         15,821,417         


2 (3,344,613)         (3,284,186)         (3,248,038)         (3,373,038)         (3,473,038)         (4,013,037)         


7 $10,412,701 $10,658,222 $10,846,467 $11,228,385 $11,549,950 $11,808,380


Budget Change Calculation


11 10,412,701         10,658,222         10,846,467         11,228,385         11,549,950         11,808,380         


12 10,173,781         10,412,701         10,658,222         10,846,467         11,228,385         11,549,950         


13 238,920              245,521              188,245              381,918              321,565              258,431              


14 2.3% 2.4% 1.8% 3.5% 2.9% 2.2%


2.8% 2.4% 2.1% 2.1% 2.1% 2.1%


The general fund budget percentage change must be less than this percent to qualify 


for a payment


General fund budget dollar change


General fund budget percentage change


Net general fund operating budget expenditures


Adjusted general fund budget expenditures current year


Adjusted general fund budget expenditures prior year


Total general fund budget expenditures (s. 65.90)(include general fund 


transfers out to other funds)


Subtract long-term debt principal and interest payments in general fund 


budget (include general fund transfers out to debt service fund)







Impact on Property Tax Levy and Tax Rate


Year Operations TID Levy Support Existing Debt New Debt Total


2020 6,039,101$    5.13$   0                    0$           3,344,613$    2.84$     0$                  0$           9,383,714$    7.98$     


2021 6,177,884      5.15      149,741        0.12        3,284,186      2.74        0                    0             9,611,811      8.02        


2022 6,431,660      5.16      465,000        0.37        3,059,971      2.46        188,067        0.15        10,144,697    8.14        


2023 6,688,988      5.26      440,000        0.35        2,941,809      2.31        431,229        0.34        10,502,026    8.26        


2024 6,980,827      5.38      440,000        0.34        2,846,719      2.20        626,319        0.48        10,893,865    8.40        


2025 7,219,389      5.46      500,000        0.38        2,751,223      2.08        761,814        0.58        11,232,426    8.49        


 $-


 $2,000,000


 $4,000,000


 $6,000,000


 $8,000,000


 $10,000,000


 $12,000,000


Property Taxes Levy


Operations TID Levy Support Existing Debt New Debt


 $-


 $1.00


 $2.00


 $3.00


 $4.00


 $5.00


 $6.00


 $7.00


 $8.00


 $9.00


2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025


Property Tax Rate


Operations TID Levy Support Existing Debt New Debt







•


•


•







•


•


•







City of Stoughton, WI
Tax Increment District #3


Cash Flow Projection


Year


Total Debt Service


Principal Interest Year


2019 475,729 6,466 5,698 487,893 419,262 17,967 181,304 1,305 150 619,988 (132,095) 292,736 425,000 2019


2020 494,843 5,698 500,541 425,000 8,029 352,598 7,500 150 793,277 (292,736) 0 2020


2021 520,147 5,698 525,845 0 0 520,147 5,698 525,845 0 0 2021


Total 1,490,719 6,466 17,094 1,514,279 844,262 25,996 181,304 520,147 358,296 300 1,939,110 Total


Notes: - per 2019 audit Projected TID Closure


Transfer to 


Other Funds


Affordable 


Housing Admin.


Expenditures


Total 


Expenditures


Distribution to 


Overlying 


Districts


Professional 


Services Annual


Projected Revenues


Tax 


Increments


Interest 


Earnings/ 


(Cost)


Total 


Revenues


Intergov. 


Revenues


Balances


Cumulative


Principal 


Outstanding







•


•


•


•







City of Stoughton, WI
Tax Increment District #4


Cash Flow Projection


Year


Total Debt Service


Principal Interest Year


2019 174,694 23,264 5,000 2,634 205,592 100,000 4,800 39,618 65,000 10,100 150 219,668 (14,076) 1,118,748 100,000 2019


2020 180,369 2,237 2,634 185,240 100,000 1,625 950,000 10,000 150 1,061,775 (876,535) 242,213 0 2020


2021 176,741 484 2,634 179,859 0 0 100,000 10,000 150 110,150 69,709 311,922 0 2021


2022 175,858 624 2,634 179,116 0 0 10,000 150 10,150 168,966 480,887 0 2022


2023 174,978 962 2,634 178,574 0 0 10,000 150 10,150 168,424 649,312 0 2023


2024 174,103 1,299 2,634 178,036 0 0 10,000 150 10,150 167,886 424,831 0 2024


2025 173,233 850 2,634 176,717 0 0 10,000 150 10,150 166,567 591,398 0 2025


2026 172,367 1,183 2,634 176,184 0 0 10,000 150 10,150 166,034 757,432 2026


2027 171,505 1,515 2,634 175,654 0 0 0 175,654 933,086 2027


2028 170,647 1,866 2,634 175,147 0 0 0 175,147 1,108,233 2028


2029 169,794 2,216 2,634 174,644 0 0 0 174,644 1,282,877 2029


Total 1,914,289 36,500 5,000 28,974 1,984,763 200,000 6,425 989,618 165,000 80,100 1,200 1,442,343 Total


Notes: - per 2019 audit Projected TID Closure


- The City may consider extending the life of the TID for the affordable housing extension,


      otherwise, the City could consider closing the TID earlier than presented.


Annual


Projected Revenues


Tax 


Increments


Interest 


Earnings/ 


(Cost)


Land Sales 


/ Misc Rev


Total 


Revenues


Intergov. 


Revenues


Balances


Cumulative


Principal 


Outstanding


Capital 


Expenditures


Revolving 


Loan Fund Admin.


Expenditures


Total 


Expenditures


Professional 


Services







•


•


•


•


•







City of Stoughton, WI
Tax Increment District #5


Cash Flow Projection


Year


Total Debt Service


Principal Interest Advances Year


2019 0 1,311 39,592 40,903 53,462 54,199 21,753 1,000 130,414 (89,511) (677,594) 1,412,478 677,594 2019


2020 50,678 300 39,592 90,570 55,475 47,046 2,000 104,521 (13,951) (691,545) 1,357,003 691,545 2020


2021 50,597 39,592 90,189 67,708 45,230 5,000 117,938 (27,749) (719,294) 1,289,294 719,294 2021


2022 50,597 39,592 65,000 155,189 111,461 42,388 5,000 158,849 (3,660) (722,954) 1,177,833 787,954 2022


2023 50,597 39,592 65,000 155,189 115,700 38,500 5,000 159,200 (4,011) (726,965) 1,062,133 856,965 2023


2024 50,597 39,592 65,000 155,189 117,673 34,490 5,000 157,163 (1,974) (728,939) 944,461 923,939 2024


2025 50,597 39,592 75,000 165,189 131,411 30,209 5,000 166,620 (1,431) (730,370) 813,049 1,000,370 2025


2026 50,597 39,592 75,000 165,189 136,247 25,837 5,000 167,084 (1,895) (732,265) 676,803 1,077,265 2026


2027 50,597 39,592 80,000 170,189 147,745 21,384 5,000 174,129 (3,940) (736,205) 529,058 1,161,205 2027


2028 50,597 39,592 90,189 99,781 17,551 5,000 122,332 (32,143) (768,348) 429,276 1,193,348 2028


2029 50,597 39,592 90,189 47,429 15,025 5,000 67,454 22,735 (745,613) 381,847 1,170,613 2029


2030 50,597 39,592 90,189 49,089 13,365 5,000 67,454 22,735 (722,878) 332,758 1,147,878 2030


2031 50,597 39,592 90,189 50,807 11,647 5,000 67,454 22,735 (700,143) 281,951 1,125,143 2031


2032 50,597 39,592 90,189 52,558 9,895 5,000 67,453 22,736 (677,407) 229,393 1,102,407 2032


2033 50,597 39,592 90,189 54,425 8,029 5,000 67,454 22,735 (654,672) 174,968 1,079,672 2033


2034 50,597 39,592 90,189 56,330 6,124 5,000 67,454 22,735 (631,937) 118,638 1,056,937 2034


2035 50,597 39,592 90,189 58,301 4,152 5,000 67,453 22,736 (609,201) 60,336 1,034,201 2035


2036 50,597 39,592 90,189 60,336 2,118 5,000 67,454 22,735 (586,466) 0 1,011,466 2036


2037 50,597 39,592 90,189 5,000 5,000 85,189 (501,277) 926,277 2037


2038 50,597 39,592 90,189 5,000 5,000 85,189 (416,088) 841,088 2038


2039 50,597 39,592 90,189 5,000 5,000 85,189 (330,899) 755,899 2039


2040 50,597 39,592 90,189 5,000 5,000 85,189 (245,710) 670,710 2040


Total 1,062,618 1,611 871,024 425,000 2,360,253 1,465,938 427,189 21,753 103,000 2,017,880 Total


Capital 


Expenditures Admin.


Expenditures


Total 


Expenditures Annual


Projected Revenues


Tax 


Increments


Interest 


Earnings/ 


(Cost)


Total 


RevenuesGrants Levy Support


Balances


Cumulative


Principal 


Outstanding







•


•


•


•







•


•


•







City of Stoughton, WI
Tax Increment District #6


Cash Flow Projection
Projected Revenues Projected Expenditures Balances


Year


Total Debt Service


Principal Interest Advances Year


2019 24,537 30,468 465 2,600,000 2,655,470 45,000 10,162 1,321,123 81,481 150 1,457,916 1,197,554 1,066,510 3,032,931 140,399 2019


2020 24,831 10,000 173,230 51,714 259,775 50,000 20,138 1,150,451 7,500 1,228,089 (968,314) 98,196 2,982,931 140,399 2020


2021 24,786 125,000 149,786 50,000 83,731 5,000 138,731 11,055 109,251 2,932,931 254,344 2021


2022 75,594 250,000 325,594 341,379 78,235 5,000 424,614 (99,020) 10,231 2,591,552 603,364 2022


2023 92,531 250,000 342,531 350,345 68,109 5,000 423,454 (80,923) (70,692) 2,241,207 934,287 2023


2024 109,467 250,000 359,467 363,793 56,737 5,000 425,530 (66,063) (136,755) 1,877,414 1,250,350 2024


2025 126,403 300,000 426,403 377,759 44,263 5,000 427,022 (619) (137,374) 1,499,655 1,550,969 2025


2026 126,403 300,000 426,403 391,207 31,528 5,000 427,735 (1,332) (138,706) 1,108,448 1,852,301 2026


2027 126,403 300,000 426,403 400,172 20,705 5,000 425,877 526 (138,180) 708,276 2,151,775 2027


2028 126,403 225,000 351,403 349,655 12,451 5,000 367,106 (15,703) (153,883) 358,621 2,392,478 2028


2029 126,403 225,000 351,403 358,621 4,259 5,000 367,880 (16,477) (170,360) 0 2,633,955 2029


2030 126,403 126,403 0 0 5,000 5,000 121,403 (48,957) 0 2,512,552 2030


2031 126,403 126,403 0 0 72,446 5,000 77,446 48,957 0 0 2,391,149 2031


2032 126,403 126,403 0 0 121,403 5,000 126,403 0 0 0 2,269,746 2032


2033 126,403 126,403 0 0 121,403 5,000 126,403 0 0 0 2,148,343 2033


2034 126,403 126,403 0 0 121,403 5,000 126,403 0 0 0 2,026,940 2034


2035 126,403 126,403 0 0 121,403 5,000 126,403 0 0 0 1,905,537 2035


2036 126,403 126,403 0 0 121,403 5,000 126,403 0 0 0 1,784,134 2036


2037 126,403 126,403 0 0 121,403 5,000 126,403 0 0 0 1,662,731 2037


2038 126,403 126,403 0 0 121,403 5,000 126,403 0 0 0 1,541,328 2038


2039 126,403 126,403 0 0 121,403 5,000 126,403 0 0 0 1,419,925 2039


Total 2,247,791 40,468 173,230 52,179 2,225,000 2,600,000 7,338,668 3,077,931 430,318 2,471,574 81,481 1,043,670 102,650 7,207,624 Total


Notes: - per 2019 audit Projected TID Closure


- 3 year extension


Tax 


Increments


Interest 


Earnings/ 


(Cost)


Land Sales 


/ Misc Rev Levy Support


Debt 


Proceeds


Principal 


OutstandingCapital


Prof 


Services Admin.


Total 


Expenditures Annual Cumulative


Repay of 


Levy 


Support


Total 


Revenues


Developer 


Guarantees







•


•


•


•







City of Stoughton, WI
Tax Increment District #7


Cash Flow Projection - After Amendment


General Obligation Bonds, Series 


2018A


Year


Dated Date:  


Principal Rate Interest Year


2019 526,673 4,445 1,959 33,510 15,274 581,861 150,000 2.00% 183,149 1,000 334,149 247,712 438,407 4,490,000 2019


2020 546,394 4,384 32,913 583,691 210,000 2.00% 123,975 200,000 10,000 543,975 39,716 478,123 4,080,000 2020


2021 777,542 4,781 33,000 815,323 215,000 2.00% 119,725 200,000 10,000 544,725 270,598 748,721 3,665,000 2021


2022 1,105,114 7,487 1,112,601 220,000 3.00% 114,275 150,000 402,059 10,000 896,334 216,267 964,988 3,295,000 2022


2023 1,274,661 9,650 1,284,311 225,000 3.00% 107,600 402,059 690,000 10,000 1,434,659 (150,348) 814,640 3,070,000 2023


2024 1,627,048 8,146 1,635,194 235,000 3.00% 100,700 402,059 661,250 10,000 1,409,009 226,185 1,040,825 2,835,000 2024


2025 1,864,155 10,408 1,874,563 240,000 3.00% 93,575 402,059 310,500 10,000 1,056,134 818,429 1,859,254 2,595,000 2025


2026 2,082,858 18,593 2,101,451 245,000 3.00% 86,300 402,059 2,138,250 10,000 2,881,609 (780,158) 1,079,096 2,350,000 2026


2027 2,300,771 10,791 2,311,562 255,000 4.00% 77,525 1,224,204 10,000 1,566,729 744,833 1,823,929 2,095,000 2027


2028 2,470,133 18,239 2,488,372 265,000 4.00% 67,125 1,154,910 10,000 1,497,035 991,337 2,815,266 1,830,000 2028


2029 2,569,944 28,153 2,598,097 280,000 4.00% 56,225 10,000 346,225 2,251,872 5,067,138 1,550,000 2029


2030 2,569,944 50,671 2,620,615 290,000 4.00% 44,825 10,000 344,825 2,275,790 7,342,928 1,260,000 2030


2031 2,569,944 73,429 2,643,373 300,000 3.00% 34,525 10,000 344,525 2,298,848 9,641,776 960,000 2031


2032 2,569,944 96,418 2,666,362 310,000 3.00% 25,375 10,000 345,375 2,320,987 11,962,763 650,000 2032


2033 2,569,944 119,628 2,689,572 320,000 3.13% 15,725 10,000 345,725 2,343,847 14,306,610 330,000 2033


2034 2,569,944 143,066 2,713,010 330,000 3.25% 5,362 10,000 345,362 2,367,648 16,674,258 0 2034


2035 2,569,944 166,743 2,736,687 10,000 10,000 2,726,687 19,400,945 0 2035


Total 32,564,957 775,032 1,959 99,423 15,274 33,456,645 4,090,000 1,255,986 550,000 4,389,409 3,800,000 1,000 160,000 14,246,395 Total


Notes: Projected TID Closure


- Per 2019 audit


Principal 


Outstanding


04/26/18


Phase I MRO


Capital 


Expenditures


Professional 


Services Admin.


Total 


Expenditures Annual Cumulative


Projected Revenues Expenditures Balances


Tax 


Increments


Interest 


Earnings/ 


(Cost)


Intergov. 


Grants


Developer 


Guarantees


Misc 


Revenue


Total 


Revenues


4,090,000


Phase II 


MRO







•


•


•


•


•







City of Stoughton, WI
Tax Increment District #8


Cash Flow Projection
Projected Revenues Balances


Year


Total Debt Service


Principal Interest Year


2019 0 4,669 300,001 304,670 0 22,928 461,239 46,834 9,648 540,649 (235,979) (16,681) 728,319 2019


2020 0 232,235 232,235 0 17,289 183,065 25,000 7,000 232,354 (119) (16,800) 728,319 2020


2021 5,706 670,174 24,741 260,000 960,621 0 24,740 929,083 25,000 5,000 983,823 (23,202) (40,002) 728,319 2021


2022 5,706 150,000 155,706 98,546 30,286 25,000 5,000 158,832 (3,126) (43,128) 639,698 2022


2023 5,706 125,000 130,706 102,603 26,734 5,000 134,337 (3,631) (46,758) 547,293 2023


2024 5,706 125,000 130,706 104,435 22,991 5,000 132,426 (1,720) (48,478) 453,336 2024


2025 5,706 125,000 130,706 108,507 19,052 5,000 132,560 (1,854) (50,332) 355,595 2025


2026 5,706 125,000 130,706 113,105 14,950 5,000 133,056 (2,350) (52,681) 253,552 2026


2027 5,706 125,000 130,706 117,194 11,223 5,000 133,418 (2,712) (55,393) 147,724 2027


2028 5,706 125,000 130,706 118,024 7,905 5,000 130,929 (223) (55,616) 41,379 2028


2029 5,706 60,000 65,706 53,379 5,565 5,000 63,945 1,761 (53,854) 0 2029


2030 5,706 5,706 12,330 4,744 5,000 22,075 (16,369) (70,223) 0 2030


2031 5,706 5,706 12,669 4,405 5,000 22,075 (16,369) (86,591) 0 2031


2032 5,706 5,706 13,018 4,057 5,000 22,075 (16,369) (102,960) 0 2032


2033 5,706 5,706 13,376 3,699 5,000 22,075 (16,369) (119,329) 0 2033


2034 5,706 5,706 13,743 3,331 5,000 22,075 (16,369) (135,697) 0 2034


2035 5,706 5,706 14,121 2,953 5,000 22,075 (16,369) (152,066) 0 2035


2036 5,706 5,706 14,510 2,565 5,000 22,075 (16,369) (168,435) 0 2036


2037 5,706 5,706 14,909 2,166 5,000 22,075 (16,369) (184,803) 0 2037


2038 5,706 5,706 15,319 1,756 5,000 22,075 (16,369) (201,172) 0 2038


2039 5,706 5,706 15,740 1,335 5,000 22,075 (16,369) (217,541) 0 2039


2040 5,706 5,706 16,173 902 5,000 22,075 (16,369) (233,909) 0 2040


2041 5,706 5,706 16,618 457 5,000 22,075 (16,369) (250,278) 0 2041


2042 5,706 5,706 0 0 5,000 5,000 706 (249,572) 0 2042


2043 5,706 5,706 0 0 5,000 5,000 706 (248,866) 0 2043


2044 5,706 5,706 0 0 5,000 5,000 706 (248,160) 0 2044


2045 5,706 5,706 5,000 5,000 706 (247,454) 2045


2046 5,706 5,706 5,000 5,000 706 (246,748) 2046


Total 159,768 4,669 902,409 984,741 560,001 2,611,588 988,319 236,034 1,573,387 121,834 146,648 3,066,222 Total


Notes: - per 2019 audit Projected TID Closure


- As an example, the District would need approximately $730,000 over the next 5 years to payoff by the mandatory termination date.


Tax 


Increments


Interest 


Earnings/ 


(Cost) Levy Support


Debt 


ProceedsGrants


Principal 


OutstandingCapital


Prof 


Services Admin.


Total 


Expenditures Annual Cumulative


Total 


Revenues







 $-


 $50,000


 $100,000


 $150,000


 $200,000


 $250,000


 $300,000


 $350,000


2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028


Projected TIF Levy Support


TIF 5 Projected Levy Support
TIF 6 Projected Levy Support
TIF 8 Projected Levy Support







 $-


 $100,000


 $200,000


 $300,000


 $400,000


 $500,000


 $600,000


 $700,000


 $800,000


City Advance to TIF 5 City Advance to TIF 6 City Advance to TIF 8


12/31/19 City Advances to TIF Districts







•


•


•


•







•


•


•








City of Stoughton Policy  
for the Creation of Tax Incremental Finance Districts  


and the Approval of TIF Projects. 
 
1. Purpose.  This policy has been prepared to assist the City in determining whether to 


create a Tax Incremental Finance District, and in determining whether to approve 
the use of Tax Incremental Financing for particular projects.  The authority to 
approve the use of Tax Incremental Financing is vested solely in the City Council.  
The City reserves the right to reject any and all projects, including projects that are 
eligible for the use of Tax Incremental Financing, for any reason or no reason.  The 
City Council reserves the right to approve or disapprove any project as it deems 
appropriate. 
 


2. General Goals for the use of Tax Incremental Financing.  The City may consider 
whether a TIF District or a TIF project serves one or more of the following general 
goals when deciding whether to create a TIF District, or whether to provide TIF 
financing for a particular project: 
 
A. Eliminate blighting influences, redevelop underutilized lands, and provide 


suitable sites for industrial, commercial or residential development. 
B. Achieve or accelerate development on sites that would not be developed 


without the use of Tax Incremental Financing. 
C. Increase employment opportunities in the City. 
D. Increase the tax base for the City and other taxing jurisdictions. 
E. Assists implementation of the City’s Comprehensive Plan. 
F. Provide affordable housing opportunities. 
G. Encourage unsubsidized private development in the City. 
 


3. TIF District Creation. 
 
A. TIF Districts will be created in accordance with the procedures and standards 


in Wis. Stat. § 66.1105, and as such statute may be amended.  (See Appendix 
A - Department of Revenue TIF Creation Checklist).   


B. The City Council may, in individual cases, expand the process for creating a 
TIF District in such manner as it deems appropriate.   


 
4. TIF Project Approval.  All TIF projects must be approved by the City Council, 


following review and report by the Finance Committee.  The Finance Director shall 
provide a report to the Finance Committee and the City Council addressing the 
following issues, which shall be considered by the Finance Committee and City 
Council before approving any TIF project: 


 
A. Is the project authorized by the Project Plan for the TIF District? 







B. Does the project serve one or more of the City’s general goals for the use of 
TIF? 


C. Is Tax Incremental Financing feasible, in that the TIF District will support 
the level of TIF investment? 


D. Is the amount of Tax Increment Financing requested reasonably necessary to 
make the project financially viable? 


E. Should a development agreement be required, and what terms should be 
included in the agreement? 


F. Is more process (such as additional public hearings or a referendum) 
appropriate? 


G. Will the potential developer’s equity in the project exceed 10%? 
H. Will the ratio of equity to assistance be at least equal (1 X Equity = or > 


Assistance)? 
I. Such other factors as either the Finance Committee or the City Council deem 


appropriate. 
 


5. Permissive Referendum.  Before the City may issue bonds or otherwise borrow 
funds that will be payable over more than 10 years to fund a TIF project, the City 
Council must first adopt a resolution declaring its intent to borrow the funds.  If a 
number of electors of the city equal to at least 15% of the of the votes cast for 
governor at the last general election in the city sign and file a petition conforming 
to the requirements of Wis. Stat. § 8.40 with the city clerk requesting submission of 
the resolution, the City may not issue bonds or borrow funds for financing the TIF 
project without calling a special election to submit the question of bonding or 
borrowing to the city electors for their approval.  
 


6. Negotiations.  City staff and the city attorney will negotiate development 
agreements within the parameters established by the City Council, and subject to 
final approval by the City Council.   
 
It should be noted that “pay-as-you-go” is the preferred TIF financing mechanism 
of the City Council to help reduce the financial exposure of the City. Under this 
financing method the developer pays the upfront costs of the project. The City 
would then establish the criteria to fully or partially reimburse the developer using 
future tax increment. 
 


7. Suspension of Policy.  This policy shall be followed in all cases, except where the 
common council approves deviating from this policy by a vote of two-thirds of the 
members present. 
  
 
 
 







    








 
City of Stoughton, 207 S Forrest Street, Stoughton WI  53589 


 
 


RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 


Authorizing and directing City staff to commence processing a request for Tax Incremental 
Financing (“TIF”) for the 51 West Neighborhood in accordance with the City’s adopted TIF Policy. 


 
 


   
Fiscal Impact: Reimbursable by the Developer 


 
File Number: 


 
R-XX-2021 


 
Date Introduced: 


 
February 9, 2021 


 
WHEREAS, RHD Properties, LLC (“Developer”) has submitted its concept for a 68.15-acre mixed-use 
Neighborhood in the northwest limits of the City of Stoughton; and 
 
WHEREAS, Developer has informed City staff that Developer is unable to develop the property without 
financial assistance in constructing certain public improvements, including installation of water main for 
looping purposes, upsizing of new water and wastewater main, and oversizing of storm water 
management infrastructure; and 
 
WHEREAS, providing financial assistance to facilitate the proposed 51 West Neighborhood 
development would require the creation of a TIF District, and Common Council approval of TIF 
funding; and   
 
WHEREAS, The creation of a mixed-used TIF District in this area could also provide potential funding 
for HWY 51 safety improvements, HWY 51 infrastructure improvements, park land and park and trail 
improvements; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council has adopted the City of Stoughton Policy for the Creation of Tax 
Incremental Finance Districts and the Approval of TIF Projects (the “Policy”), which explicitly states 
that “pay-as-you-go is the preferred TIF financing mechanism of the City to help reduce the financial 
exposure of the City.  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF STOUGHTON COMMON COUNCIL HEREBY  


• Authorizes and directs City staff to commence processing the Developer’s request for TIF funding, 
to prepare a report to the Common Council regarding the proposed use of TIF funding, and to 
obtain negotiation parameters in accordance with the Policy.   


• Directs City staff to begin preparing a boundary map and project plan for a future mixed-use TIF 
district to be presented to the City Council for consideration. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







 
Council Action:         Adopted     Failed Vote     
 
 
Mayoral Action:        Accept     Veto  
 
 
                                             
Tim Swadley, Mayor    Date 


 
Council Action:           Override  Vote     


 
 







CITY OF STOUGHTON 
FINANCE DEPARTMENT 


207 S Forrest, Stoughton, WI 53589 
 


(608) 873-6677     www.ci.stoughton.wi.us 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Date:  January 21, 2021 
 
To:  City Council  
 
From:  Jamin Friedl 
   
Subject: 51 West Development and Possible TIF District Creation 
 
At the September 14, 2020 Plan Commission meeting, RHD Properties, LLC (“developer”) 
submitted a concept plan for a 68.15 acre mixed-use neighborhood in the northwest limits of the 
City of Stoughton – just south of Rutland-Dunn Town Line Road and split by USH 51.  
 
As discussions with the developer progressed, it was brought to their attention that the City of 
Stoughton will request certain on-site and off-site infrastructure requirements the developer had 
not originally accounted for. Because of these unforeseen costs and existing market conditions, 
the developer is forecasting a $3.0 million deficiency in the overall project budget. In an effort to 
earn a reasonable rate of return on this project, the developer is asking the City to consider the 
creation of a new Mixed-Use TIF District (“TID”). A Mixed-Use TID is a TID with a 
combination of residential, commercial, and industrial uses. Mixed-Use TIDs can only include 
lands proposed for newly platted residential use if they do not exceed 35 percent, by area, of the 
real property in the TID and the residential development meets other qualifications.  
 
The creation of this TID will require the development of a project plan, which the developer 
currently believes could include potential Municipal Revenue Obligation (MRO) requests as 
follows: 
 


• $1,135,000 for off-site improvements and utility extensions 
• $1,865,000 for storm water management  


 
The following documents are included in the packet to help determine whether the City Council 
will support this project and potential TIF request prior to investing a significant amount of time 
and resources into the planning phase of the TID creation. 
 


• Developer materials summarizing the project and potential TIF request 
• Project Concept Plan 
• RHD Properties’ Letter of Intent to the Plan Commission 
• 51 West Income/Expense Projections and Development Forecasts 



http://www.ci.stoughton.wi.us/





• Summary of commercial lots available in Stoughton 
• Department of Revenue TIF Manual – Please focus on the following sections 


o Section II. A. TID Creation – Pages 14 – 17 
o Section III. D. JRB Document Review – Pages 25 – 26  
o Section III. E. JRB Decision Criteria – Page 26 
o Section V. A But For Requirement – Pages 31 – 32  
o Section V. B Risk Factors to Recognize – Pages 33 – 35  


• City of Stoughton TIF Policy 
 
 







 


© 2021 MSA Professional Services 
\\msa-ps.com\fs\Projects\19000s\19090s\19091\19091001\Documents\TID Information\51 West TIF Request 2021_1_21.docx 


 


1702 Pankratz Street 
Madison, WI 53704 
 
P (608) 242-7779 
TF (800) 446-0679 
F (608) 242-5664 
 
www.msa-ps.com 


January 22, 2021 
 
 
Jamin Friedl 
Director of Finance/Comptroller 
City of Stoughton 
207 S. Forrest St 
Stoughton, WI  53589 
 
Re: Tax Incremental Finance District Creation for 51 West Development 
 
Dear Jamin: 
 
The enclosed materials are offered for consideration by the City Council in support of 
a request to create a Tax Incremental Finance District coterminous with the proposed 
51 West development.  This request is made on behalf of the developer, RHD 
Properties LLC (Robert Dvorak). The proposed development and TID include 
approximately 69 acres of land east and west of USH 51, south of Rutland Dunn 
Townline Road.  The TID would be crafted to enable expenditures within one-half mile 
of its boundaries. 
 
The attached documents include a conceptual map of the development and a Letter 
of Intent describing the project. 51 West is conceived as a vibrant, mixed-use 
neighborhood with varied housing types that is consistent with the City’s 
Comprehensive Plan.   Applications for land division and zoning approval will follow 
later this spring; the current information and discussion is needed to proceed with 
efforts to amend the City’s Urban Service Area. 
 
Reasons for TID Creation 
A Tax Incremental District is proposed to support the following investments critical to 
the long-term success of the City’s west side: 
 


1) Reliable Sewer and Water Service 
The City has identified the need for certain improvements to the water and 
sewer systems to enable the growth envisioned in the Comprehensive Plan.  
Some of these improvements, including the following, will serve more than just 
51 West:  


a. A second connection for water service to create a loop through existing 
development in the Town of Rutland, under Oak Opening Dr.  


b. The upsizing of new water main through the 51 West development, to 
serve future development to the north, both east and west of Hwy 51.  


c. The upsizing of existing sewer main under Roby Road, between Kings 
Lynn Rd. and Virgin Lake Dr.  


d. The boring of water and sewer lines under USH 51  
With engineering, these costs are currently estimated at about $1,135,000. 


 
2) Sustainable Stormwater Management   


Both existing and future development on the City’s west side has stormwater 
management challenges that a TID could help to address.  These challenges 
include: 


a. Because of soils with limited infiltration capacity and drainage to a land-
locked basin, nearly 20% of the land area of 51 West is needed for 
stormwater ponds (compared to the typical 4-8%).  Reserving that much 
additional land for sustainable stormwater management is both 







Page 2 
 
51 West TID Creation Request 
January 20, 2021 


 


© 2021 MSA Professional Services 
\\msa-ps.com\fs\Projects\19000s\19090s\19091\19091001\Documents\TID Information\51 West TIF Request 2021_1_21.docx 


necessary and expensive – the extra land would be worth more than $2 
million if it could be developed for commercial use.  


b. Both Virgin Lake and Paradise Pond have seen flooding problems in recent years that 
endanger adjacent homes.  While 51 West is being designed to prevent further 
contribution to these problems, improvements to the outlet structures and 
drainageways for each of these water bodies could help to protect the surrounding 
neighborhoods. 


 
3) Safe, Multimodal Transportation Facilities 


Reconstruction and expansion of Hwy 51 is anticipated at some point in the next decade.  When 
that happens there are improvements that will enable continued development and enhance 
safety for all users, but most of these improvements will not be funded by the State. Examples 
include: 


a. A full, four-way intersection at Rutland Dunn Townline Road 
b. Off-street paths or trails along each side of the highway. 
c. A bike/pedestrian underpass beneath the highway. 


The TID could also support the extension of a new trail around the west side of Virgin Lake, 
connecting the parks and housing in 51 West to other parts of the west side via off-street trails.   
 


4) Affordable Housing   
We understand there is interest in the development of affordable housing in the City.  Income-
qualified housing requires some sort of subsidy, often a combination of Low Income Housing 
Tax Credits (LIHTC) and some sort of municipal support.  Local funding improves the likelihood 
of a LIHTC award and also improves the quality of the resulting housing.  


Creating this TID is also another opportunity for a one-year, affordable-housing TID extension 
at the time of TID closure.  If seeking to build and sustain an affordable housing fund for use 
anywhere in the City, you will eventually have the option to utilize this TID for that purpose. 


 
Development Feasibility Analysis 
A list of anticipated costs and revenues for 51 West is attached.  Assuming a Developer’s Fee of 7%, 
the total costs are about $14.2 million, or roughly $3 million more than anticipated income.  RHD 
Properties is offering all necessary transparency in this process to justify the request for TIF funding 
assistance and to fine-tune the balancing of City and Developer interests as the project continues to 
come into focus.  RHD Properties is prepared to finance the construction of all necessary infrastructure, 
including features that benefit other development areas on the west side, in exchange for increment as 
it becomes available, up to an agreed-upon amount.  As cost and revenue projections are further 
developed to the satisfaction of both parties, the total revenue gap and resulting TIF-funding request 
could range from $3 to $4 million, plus interest.    
 
TIF District Feasibility Analysis 
A feasibility analysis of the proposed TID is attached, to show how much increment it could generate.  
Based on our current assumptions about the pace of development (build-out over the next 10 years) 
and the values of that development, we estimate a total of about $17.8M in increment. A placeholder 
TID project cost of $3.0M in 2021 would result in about $4.3M in total costs to the TID over a 15-year 
period, representing 24% of the total increment that could be collected during the life of the TID.   
 
Consistency with the City’s TIF Policy 
The City’s 2016 TIF policy established a set of “General Goals for the use of Tax Increment Financing”.  
The seven goals are listed here with commentary about the consistency of the proposed 51 West TID. 


A. Eliminate blighting influences, redevelop underutilized lands, and provide suitable sites for 
industrial, commercial or residential development.  







Page 3 
 
51 West TID Creation Request 
January 20, 2021 


 


© 2021 MSA Professional Services 
\\msa-ps.com\fs\Projects\19000s\19090s\19091\19091001\Documents\TID Information\51 West TIF Request 2021_1_21.docx 


51 West is located with good highway visibility and access and designed for the 
compatibility of a mix of commercial and residential uses. 


B. Achieve or accelerate development on sites that would not be developed without the use of 
Tax Incremental Financing.  
The costs to develop 51 West and prepare for additional west side development are 
projected to exceed revenues by several million dollars.  Without TIF support this land will 
not be developed now and may not be feasible for many years 


C. Increase employment opportunities in the City.  
51 West will include commercial uses and employment opportunities. 


D. Increase the tax base for the City and other taxing jurisdictions.  
51 West is projected to add approximately $54 million in new tax base (2020 values). 


E. Assists implementation of the City’s Comprehensive Plan.  
The proposed mix of commercial uses and residential uses (single-family, duplex, 
multifamily and senior housing) is consistent with the “Planned Mixed Use” designation in 
the City’s 2017 Comprehensive Plan. 


F. Provide affordable housing opportunities.  
The proposed mix of housing types will help meet a variety of housing needs in the City, 
and TIF funding could specifically support the development of income-qualified housing to 
improve the availability of housing affordable to the local workforce.   


G. Encourage unsubsidized private development in the City.  
The proposed TID would subsidize private development, though only to the extent 
necessary to make it feasible.  But for this assistance, these lands are unlikely to develop in 
a manner consistent with the Comprehensive Plan.   


 
We look forward to discussion about the opportunities and challenges of new development in the Hwy 
51 corridor.  Our intent at this time is to establish agreement in principle that a new TID is feasible and 
appropriate, enabling continued work by the developer and the City to refine these estimates, proceed 
with Urban Service Area Amendment, and create the TID.   
 
 
Sincerely, 
MSA Professional Services, Inc. 
 
 
 
 
 
Jason Valerius, AICP 
Senior Planner 
 
 
CC: Robert Dvorak 







9 94 94 94
458 9249 18


51 WEST SUBDIVISION
                       CITY OF STOUGHTON, WI


Units SF Acres Provided Difference
West Side* 181 265708 6.10 6.33 0.23
East Side 170 249560 5.74 5.76 0.02
TOTAL 351 515,268 11.84 12.09 0.25


* Inclusive of trail area in Lot 2,Outlot 2, Outlot 4


Parland Required ProposedDevelopment


January 19, 2021


PAVED PATH
connect through 


Linnerud Property


PAVED PATH
connect to 


Linnerud Property


PAVED PATH
connect through to 
Virgin Lake Park


PAVED PATH


PAVED  PATH


PA
V


E
D


 P
A


T
H


9 9999999999999999999999999999 944
8 4466 4444


9020


9288


922


918
9166


22224444


922
2


930


90455 9999999999999222222222222222222226666666
9999922222
66666666666


92266


99224


9222


992
0


88


PPPrrr
innnnnnttt
eeddd


BBByyy


Uninin ts SSSF AcF AcF Acresresres ProProProvidvidvided Ded Ded Diffii ereee ncenn
West Side** 1* 81 26665755708 6.66 10 6.66 333333 0.00 232323
EaEaaststst SiSS deee 170 22249560 5.7774 54 54 5.7776 00.0002
TOTOTOTAL 3L 3L 3515151 515,268 1111.1.1.848484 121212.0.0.09 09 09 0.2.2.2555


* Innnclclclusive of trail ararareaeaea innn Looottt 2,Outlot 2, Outlottt 444


Parlrlrlanaa ddd Requirrrededed PrPP opoo osoo edeeDevelopmenenentt


50-FT PUBLIC 
ACCESS EASEMENT


9999999999999999444444444400000000000000000000
936


999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999922222222222244444444444


9999999999999999999999999999999991666666666666666666666
99999999999999999999999144444444444444444
999999999999999999999999999991122222222222222222222222222222
9999999999999999999000000008888888888


900000000000000000000000000000000000000


942


992288


99999999999999999992222222222222222222222222226666666666666666666
991188888


99999999000000004
9999999999999999999999999999999999999999999900000000000000000000000000000000000000000000022222222222222222222222222222


8888888888999999999999999999988888888888888888


9930
9999999999999999999222222222222222200000000000000000000000000000000000000009911


00


999999999999999999933333333333334


92222


938
9329999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999996222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222


9999999666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000
9999999999999999999999999999999999995555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555888888888888888888888888888888888888888888
99999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999555555566666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666
99955555555555555555555555555555555555555544444444444444444444444444444444444
99999999999999999999999999999999999999995555555555555555222222
9999999999555550000000
99999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999994444444448
9999444444466
944
99442
940
938
936
9999993333333333444
99999999933333333333333333332222222222222
9993333333333330000000000000000000000
999999999999999999999222228888888888


99999999999999992222222222226666666666


999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999992222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222 99999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999992222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222
00000000000000000


9999999111
88888888888 999999999999111111111
666666666 999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999111
44444 99999911111111111
222222222


99999999999999999999999999908888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888


9999999999999999922222222224444444444444


9111111111111111111111100000000000000000000000000000000000


95566


9999999999999999999999999999994444444444444444444444444444444444444444444444444422222222222222222222222222222222222222


90


9900


8988


8890


889
6


899
2


95699522222


99999994444444448888888888999999994444444444666666666


924


9999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999996666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666
99999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999966666666666666666666666666666666666666222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222


9999999999999444444444444444444444444440000000000000000000000000099999999999999999999999999999999999999933333333333333333333333333333333338888888888888


99999999999999999966666666666999996666666666644444444444444444444444444444444444444444444444444444444


9994444444444444444444444444444444444444
933


936666666666999999999933333333333322 99999990000000000000000000000000000000
66666666666666666666666666666666


9999000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000
44444444444444444444444


99999999999992222


955555555555555550


999999999999999999900000
666666666666


995500


99999999999999999999999999999000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000066666666666666666666666666666666666666666


9934


99332


99228


999550


99995555500


9996644


993333333333333333333333333333333666666666666666


992200


88888


999999933333444444444


99999999999993333333333333333333333
2222222222222222222222222222222222


9999999999999999999999999999999999999933333333333333333333333333333333333333333333332222222222222222222222222222


993300


992222222222222226666


999999999999999999999999999999999999999999992222222222222222222222222222222222222222222444444444444444444444444444444444444444444444444444444444444


920


999999999999999999999999999999999999900000000000000000444444444444444444444444


9999999966662222


99999999666666666666666666666666666666664444444444444444444444444444444444444444444444444444444444444444


99960000


995544


994488


9994444
22


9444400000000


99999999222222222222222
8888888888


9244


99999999999999999999999999999999999999999999992222222222222222222222222222222224444444444444444444


922222222222222222222222222
0


904


904


89666666666666666


99999966666222222


9999000000000006666666666666666666666666666666


yyy:::
stttrrr
eeeeeemmm


llleeettt
ttt,,,
FFFil
e:
\\\\\m


sssaaa
---ppp
s.c
om


\fs
\PPP
rrro
joee
cts


\1
999000
000000
ssssss\\\111


999000
999000
sss\\\111
88999888808899


99911 66
\\\ 6
111999
000999
111
0111111111111111111111111111111
\\\\\\\GG
ISSSSSSSS\\\\
11999
099
10
001111111
_C
ooooooooooooooonnnnnnnnnn
ccccccccccccceee
pppttt
.m
xxxddd


Pr
inttttttttttt


PAVED PATHHHHH
concccc nect through 


Linininininnernenenene ud Property


PAVPAVPAVPAVPAVED EEEE PATATATATATHHHHH
cococoncoco nect to 


Linnnnnnernernernernerududududud ProProProProProperty


PAVPAVPAVPAVPAVEDEDEDEDED PATPATPATPATPATHHHHH
concocococo necnecnecnecnect ttttt hrohrohrohrohroughughughughugh tototototo 
VirVirVirVirVirginininnn LaLaLaLaLake kekekeke ParParParParParkkkkk


PAV DDD PATTTPAVEDDD PATPATPATHHH


000000006


999999999999999922222222
22222


99


PAV DD PATTAV PAAATTPAVVVEDEDED PAPAPATHTHTH


PPPPPPA
VVVVV


D
 P


AA
TTT


PA
V


PA
V


PA
V


E
D


 
E


D
E


D
PA


T
H


50-FT PUBLIC50-FT PUBLIC 
ACCESS EASEMENTTSEME


DVORAK DRIVE


OA
K 


OP
EN


IN
G 


DR
IV


E


DVORAK DRIVE


NY
GA


AR
D 


 S
TR


EE
T


VELKOMMEN  WAY


POTENTIAL ROUNDABOUT
(Reserve Right-of-Way)


SINGLE-FAMILY LOTS (Total 9 Units)


SMALL MULTI-FAMILY LOTS (56 units)


LARGE MULTI-FAMILY LOTS (286 units)


COMMERCIAL LOTS


PA
LM


  G
RA


SS
  W


AY


US
H 


 51


RUTLAND DUNN TOWN LINE ROAD


POTENTIAL ROUNDABOUT
(Reserve Right-of-Way)


FUTURE ROAD EXTENSION
(100-FT Right-of-Way)


DISCLAIMER: 
This neighborhood concept illustrates a proposed road layout, storm water management infrastructure, and lot layout with speculative development.  The number of lots and design 
for specifi c sites are generalized based on what fi ts the location and intended use for the area.  Development plans will be proposed by property owners at a future date based on 
market conditions and interests, and will be subject to City review (per zoning and subdivision ordinance) with this concept providing guidance to general connectivity and use.


BLUE GRASS  DRIVE







51 West Neighborhood Letter of Intent 
RHD Properties, LLC 
January 19, 2021 1 


January 19, 2021 
 
LETTER OF INTENT  
 
 
51 WEST NEIGHBORHOOD 
 
A mixed use neighborhood located in the northwest limit of the City of Stoughton adjacent 
to USH 51, comprising 68.15 acres of land just south of Rutland-Dunn Town Line Road. 
 
Project Overview – RHD Properties, LLC is proud to submit this concept for a 68.15-acre mixed use 
neighborhood with 23 lots (plus, eight outlots) in the northwest limits of the City of Stoughton – just south of 
Rutland-Dunn Town Line Road and split by USH 51.  There are two commercial lots adjacent to USH 51, totaling 
13.35 acres, that will provide a mix of retailers and businesses that would serve nearby residential neighborhoods 
and commuters (e.g., grocers, retailers, medical offices, financial offices, limited- and full-service restaurants, and 
other similar commercial uses).  The remainder of the neighborhood will include a mix of residential unit types, 
from single-family to small and large multi-family buildings, providing a balanced neighborhood adjacent to 
shopping and inclusive of open space, parks and trails.  The description below provides the breakdown of uses 
per side of USH 51. 
   


• West side of USH 51: 2 commercial lots (13.35 acres), 9 single-family lots, 3 multi-family lots (148 
units), 3 zero-entry condo lots (30 units), and 5.21-acre park.   


• East side of USH 51: 1 multi-family lot (160 units), 5 duplex lots (10 units), a 2.52-acre open 
space/park (1.4 acres as SWM), and a 7.59-acre park (2.99 acres as SWM). 


 
Existing Conditions - Presently the project area includes three city parcels split by USH 51 with two parcels 
(051001185012 and 051001180412, totaling 51.25 acres) on the west side and one parcel (051001180412, 16.9 
acres) on the east side. Currently, all three parcels are being farmed with a pocket of woodlands along Rutland-
Dunn Town Line Road in the northwest quadrant.  
 
Relationship to Nearby Properties – The proposed development is broken into two developments split by 
USH 51.  The surrounding uses are as follows: 
 


• Westside of USH 51: single-family/farmland/woodlands to the north, and farmland the west, and 
commercial/industrial/single-family to the south.   


• Eastside of USH 51: farmland to the north, (rural) single-family to the east, and single 
family/duplex/commercial to the south.  


Urban Service Area Amendment – The proposed subdivision is currently just outside of the Stoughton 
Urban Service Area; however, the 2017 Comprehensive Plan shows most of the area in the short-term growth 
area.  An Urban Service Area amendment will be required to allow this development to move forward. 
 
Comprehensive Plan – The proposed subdivision is located in an area designated as the Northwest 
Planned Mixed Use (MU) Area, which is intended for a mix of commercial, office, light industrial and higher-
intensity residential uses.  Based on the Future Land Use Map, Planned MU is intended for residential buildings 
of three or more units; however, additional statements in the policy allow for more flexibility, as follows: 
  


• “The City should carefully monitor the development of multi-family housing within Planned Mixed Use 
areas in order to support the City’s goal of maintaining its predominately single-family character.” 
 







51 West Neighborhood Letter of Intent 
RHD Properties, LLC 
January 19, 2021 2 


• “The Planned Mixed Use category is intended to allow consideration of a range of uses and zoning 
districts, with the understanding that the appropriate combination and arrangement of uses and zoning 
districts will be approved on a case-by-case basis.”  


 


RHD Properties, LLC has proposed duplex lots along Velkommen Way (east of Nygaard Street) to provide a 
natural extension of the single-family and duplex neighborhood to the south, as well as to provide a smooth 
transition to the rural single-family homes east of the development. Higher-density residential units are proposed 
north of Velkommen Way on Lot 18.  This provides increased density in the overall neighborhood and establishes 
a smooth transition from residential to the potential future commercial development to the north (shown in the 
2006 Linnerud Detailed Neighborhood Plan).  
 
On the west side of USH 51, RHD Properties, LLC proposes a mix of residential unit types from single-family to 
side-by-side condos to larger multi-family buildings. As proposed in the current Planned Mixed Use designation, 
high-density residential is preferred adjacent to intensive industrial/commercial to the south and planned 
commercial to the north and west (within this development).  However, to provide for a balanced neighborhood, 
RHD Properties, LLC is proposing to include a mix of unit types along the west end of the neighborhood concept, 
including some single-family lots. The proposed 9 single-family lots are compatible with the existing single-family 
lots to the south at 1497 Oak Opening Drive and 1509 Oak Opening Drive (as opposed to more intensive multi-
family buildings). Lots 4-6 help to maintain higher-density in the overall neighborhood, affording other lots to 
provide lower-density residential options.  The proposed independent living development (on Lots 1-3) provides 
housing options for seniors to “age in place” (i.e., remain in the community as they age).  Should seniors move 
into these independent living developments, the City’s existing (older) housing stock would become available as 
an affordable housing option for families and other individuals.   
 
Design Improvements 


• DEVELOPMENT & ZONING: Residential densities will vary by lot, but average 11.8 units per acre on 
the west side and 26.9 units per acre on the east side. This matches the intent of the Planned Mixed 
Use designation in the Stoughton Comprehensive Plan. Commercial building intensities may vary 
because of the more urban nature of proposed development. Lots 1-6, 16-17 and 18 may be zoned 
planned development, while the remainder of the lots may fall within conventional zoning standards.  
 


• PARK/OPEN SPACE: Parks and Recreation Committee approved the park locations with interest 
in seeing the development meet the parkland dedication requirement. Since this approval, the park 
in Outlot 7 has expanded by removing four duplex lots along Velkommen Way.  The net result is a 
parkland surplus of 0.05 acres across both sides of USH 51. The improved park/open spaces 
provides a good buffer to the Town, as well as enhance the trail corridor that runs through these areas.   
 


• TRAIL/SIDEWALK NETWORK: Paved multi-use paths are proposed on both sides of USH 51.  On the 
west side of USH 51, a paved path will run through the center of the neighborhood via Outlots 1, 3 and 
4 (with a small segment along Dvorak Drive).  An additional paved trail will run through Outlot 2 (via a 
trail easement) that could connect to future development to the west.  On the east side of USH 51, a 
paved path will run along the eastern edge of the neighborhood through Outlot 8 and the proposed park 
space (Outlot 7), terminating in the northeast corner of the neighborhood.  Future connections by the 
City could link this path to Howard Heggstad Park and Virgin Lake Park.  The intent is to have these two 
paths connect across USH 51 via lands to the north (the Linnerud property on the east and RHD 
Properties, LLC on the west).  Sidewalks will be provided on both sides of all public streets, except 
where a multi-use path is planned, along Rutland-Dunn Town Line Road and along USH 51 frontage.  


 


• ROADWAYS and ACCESS: The western portion of the development includes public access via Oak 
Opening Drive, Dvorak Drive, Palm Grass Way and Blue Grass Drive.  Dvorak Drive is proposed as a 
collector street for this development and future development to the west.  To provide quality access for 
the growth of the west side, RHD Properties, LLC would like the City to support a full- or limited-access 
intersection at Dvorak Drive and USH 51.  Roby Rd (Deer Point Drive) may or may not extend in the 
future west, leaving Jackson Street and Rutland-Dunn Town Line Road as the primary connections 







51 West Neighborhood Letter of Intent 
RHD Properties, LLC 
January 19, 2021 3 


west.  Dvorak Drive provides the greater benefit to the City with access to the west and will provide 
better spacing between USH 51 intersections between Roby Road and Rutland-Dunn Town Line Road 
(as compared to Velkommen Way).  This neighborhood concept reserves a portion of the 100-ft right-of-
way to allow Rutland Dunn Town Line Road to extend east of USH 51 per the 2006 Linnerud Detailed 
Neighborhood Plan.   
 


On the east side of USH 51, access is provided via Velkommen Way and Roby Road (via Nygaard 
Street). Nygaard Street is extended to the northern limits of the development with a temporary 
hammerhead turnaround to connect to future development of the Linnerud property. RHD Properties, 
LLC (with support from the City) is requesting closing Velkommen Way intersection with USH 51 once 
Rutland Town Line Road is extended (east of USH 51) or traffic does not appear to be an issue after full 
buildout of the east side of 51 West Neighborhood.  
 


• TRAFFIC: The developer (with assistance from MSA Professional Services) will conduct a Traffic 
Impact Analysis (TIA), or trip generation study, for the 51 West Neighborhood to support potential 
intersection and access improvements along USH 51. The traffic study will be based on the approved 
concept, and with support of the City, will aide in discussions with the Wisconsin Department of 
Transportation. 


 


• UTILITIES: MSA is coordinating the water and sewer service with the City of Stoughton.  It is currently 
anticipated that the development on both sides of USH 51 will gravity drain to the sanitary manhole 
located at the rear yard connection of Lots 183 and 184 of the Blue Heron Addition to John Nygaard’s 
Virgin Lake Estates.  The sanitary will then gravity flow down Virgin Lake Drive to Roby Road and 
ultimately to the interceptor on Kings Lynn Road. The watermain will continue along Nygaard Street in 
anticipation of a future loop back to the north to Kings Lynn Rd. and to a potential future connection at 
Oak Opening Drive. 


 


• NATURAL FEATURES: The 51 West Neighborhood incorporates a mix of uses and densities, while 
also providing for open space – specifically, adjacent to existing developed lands.  The proposed outlots 
preserves open space through two park spaces, trail corridors, preserved woodlands and stormwater 
management areas. Additional information on the area’s natural features is provided below. 


 


o The Comprehensive Plan identifies lands along USH 51 just south of the Rutland-Dunn Town 
Line Road as a potential environmental corridor, but this needs verification.  Per the natural 
resource base map (Map 2 in the Comp Plan), this designation is based on woodlands that no 
longer exist.  These lands are not identified in the CARPC Environmental Corridor and there 
are no floodplain or surface water features. 
 


o There are woodlands adjacent to Rutland-Dunn Town Line Road (in the northwest corner of 
the development) that will be partially preserved through building setbacks.   


 


o Four small, low-quality wetlands were delineated in 2020; however, RHD Properties, LLC has 
since received DNR wetland fill approval through federal exemption.  


• STORMWATER MANAGEMENT: The majority of the stormwater ponds have been designed with a 
“naturalistic” layout, especially through the trail corridor and park space in Outlot 7. As shown, there are 
six wet ponds for pre-treatment and four infiltration ponds that will serve this development and manage 
off-site runoff (from the south and east of Outlot 8).  The stormwater management system is intended to 
control peak runoff rates for events ranging from the 1-year through the 200-year event.  Additionally 
runoff volumes will be controlled for the annual average rainfall record (per county and state standards) 
but also for events ranging from the 1-year through the 100-year event.  This last requirement is 
necessary to prevent volume related flood elevation increases in landlocked basins which lie 
downstream from the proposed site.  Note that these requirements will need to be met regardless of on-
site development density and potential changes in drainage patterns within the site. 


 







51 West INCOME Projections* 


January 21, 2021 


 


Lots 01 - 03 15 Duplex Units ($55,000 p/door) 


   30 @ $55,000      $1,650,000 


 


Lots 04, 05, 18 292 Units ($10,000 p/door) 


   286 @ $10,000      $2,920,000 


 


Lot 06  16 Units ($40,000 p/door) 


   16 @ $40,000         $640,000  


 


Lots 07 – 15 9 Residential Lots  ($100,000 each)       $900,000 


 


Lots 16 – 17 13.35 Acres X 43,560 Sq Ft = 581,526 Sq Ft 


   581,526 SF X $9.00 p/sq/ft    $5,233,732 


 


Lots 19 – 23 5 Duplex Lots @ $117,000 each     $585,000 


       SUBTOTAL             $12,336,732 


 


       6% Realtor Fee    -$740,204 


 


       NET              $11,596,528 


 


 


*Based on 51 West Conceptual Development Plan Dated January 19, 2020 


  







51 West EXPENSE Projections 


January 21, 2021 


 


Land Cost  Paid to Date          $1,290,000 


Engineering/TIA/TID Creation/Permitting (MSA/Strand)                              $550,000 


Park Fees /Fees In Lieu Of              $470,000 


Paved Park Trails               $260,000 


Roadway (road, sewer, water, storm sewer) 6715’ of Roadway @ $950 p/ft     $6,379,250 


Grading (full site, stormwater ponds; raise Velkommen Way)          $445,000 


Intersections (2); 51 & Rutland Dunn             $500,000 


Street Signs                    $3,500 


Gas/Electric               $365,000 


Loan   10 Yr AVE Balance $3,000,000 
   @ 4.75%  Holding Expense       $1,425,000 


Property Taxes  10 Yr Holding/ Improvement Cost 
   (30,000 p/yr)            $300,000 


City Admin, Bank Setup/Appraisals, Legal           $180,000 


Title/Transfer/Recording Fees               $70,000 


51 West Subtotal Projections                       $12,107,750 


 


51 West Offsite and Upsize Infrastructure Expenses 


Roby Road  Upgrade Existing 8” Sanitary to 10” Sanitary (Kings Lynn to Virgin Lake) $250,000 


Oak Opening (offsite) New 10” Water Main (Dvorak Drive to KPW Development)  $475,000 


Oak Opening (onsite) Upgrade 8’ to 10” through 51 West, stub sanitary sewer to street ends $150,000 


Sanitary/Water Main Bore/Sleeve under Hwy 51      $200,000 


Engineering  (MSA/Strand)          $60,000 


      Water Main Oversize Sub Total             $1,135,000 


 


Overall Project Expense Total         $13,192,750 


7% Management Fee for Entire Project                           $926,993 


 


Total Project Expense 51 West          $14,169,743 


 


Difference (Income minus Expenses)                      -$2,956,734 







Year


Cumulative 
Value 


Increment
Inflation 


Increment
New 


Development


New 
Development 


Increment
Annual Value 


Increment Tax Rate
Tax 


Increments
2021 $0 $0 $0 $21.36 $0
2022 $0 $0 $13,499,162 $0 $21.36 $0
2023 $0 $0 $742,551 $0 $21.36 $0
2024 $0 $0 $8,288,383 $13,499,162 $13,499,162 $21.36 $288,342
2025 $13,499,162 $134,992 $842,498 $742,551 $877,542 $21.36 $307,086
2026 $14,376,704 $143,767 $13,045,763 $8,288,383 $8,432,150 $21.36 $487,197
2027 $22,808,854 $228,089 $774,555 $842,498 $1,070,587 $21.36 $510,065
2028 $23,879,441 $238,794 $8,605,118 $13,045,763 $13,284,557 $21.36 $793,823
2029 $37,163,998 $371,640 $3,930,450 $774,555 $1,146,195 $21.36 $818,306
2030 $38,310,193 $383,102 $8,605,118 $8,988,219 $21.36 $1,010,294
2031 $47,298,412 $472,984 $3,930,450 $3,930,450 $4,403,434 $21.36 $1,104,351
2032 $51,701,846 $517,018 $517,018 $21.36 $1,115,395
2033 $52,218,865 $522,189 $3,930,450 $4,452,639 $21.36 $1,210,503
2034 $56,671,503 $566,715 $566,715 $21.36 $1,222,608
2035 $57,238,218 $572,382 $572,382 $21.36 $1,234,834
2036 $57,810,601 $578,106 $578,106 $21.36 $1,247,183
2037 $58,388,707 $583,887 $583,887 $21.36 $1,259,655
2038 $58,972,594 $589,726 $589,726 $21.36 $1,272,251
2039 $59,562,320 $595,623 $595,623 $21.36 $1,284,974
2040 $60,157,943 $601,579 $601,579 $21.36 $1,297,823
2041 $60,759,522 $607,595 $607,595 $21.36 $1,310,802


$7,708,189 $53,658,929 $53,658,929 $17,775,493


2036


  2. The annual rate of inflation is assumed to be 1.00% over the life of the district.


  3. The tax rate is assumed to increase by 0.00% over the life of the district (based on the 2019 tax rate $21.36).


  4. Analysis assumes the TID expires at the end of the 20-year period without a 3‐year extension.


Assumptions


  1. The total amount of new development construction over the life of the TID is $53,658,929.


Last Year for Project Expenditures


Projected Tax Increment


51 West Development TIF Forecast


Page 1







Year
Tax 


Increment
Project 


Principal
Annual Debt 


Service


TID 
Planning & 


Admin
Total 


Expenditures
Annual 
Balance Total Balance


2021 $3,000,000 $289,027 $20,000 $309,027 ($309,027) ($309,027)
2022 $289,027 $5,000 $294,027 $294,027 ($603,054)
2023 $289,027 $5,000 $294,027 $294,027 ($897,081)
2024 $288,342 $289,027 $5,000 $294,027 $5,685 ($902,765)
2025 $307,086 $289,027 $5,000 $294,027 $13,060 ($889,706)
2026 $487,197 $289,027 $5,000 $294,027 $193,170 ($696,536)
2027 $510,065 $289,027 $5,000 $294,027 $216,038 ($480,498)
2028 $793,823 $289,027 $5,000 $294,027 $499,796 $19,299
2029 $818,306 $289,027 $5,000 $294,027 $524,279 $543,577
2030 $1,010,294 $289,027 $5,000 $294,027 $716,267 $1,259,845
2031 $1,104,351 $289,027 $5,000 $294,027 $810,325 $2,070,169
2032 $1,115,395 $289,027 $5,000 $294,027 $821,368 $2,891,537
2033 $1,210,503 $289,027 $5,000 $294,027 $916,476 $3,808,014
2034 $1,222,608 $289,027 $5,000 $294,027 $928,581 $4,736,595
2035 $1,234,834 $289,027 $5,000 $294,027 $940,808 $5,677,403
2036 $1,247,183 $5,000 $5,000 $1,242,183 $6,919,586
2037 $1,259,655 $5,000 $5,000 $1,254,655 $8,174,240
2038 $1,272,251 $5,000 $5,000 $1,267,251 $9,441,491
2039 $1,284,974 $5,000 $5,000 $1,279,974 $10,721,465
2040 $1,297,823 $5,000 $5,000 $1,292,823 $12,014,288
2041 $1,310,802 $5,000 $5,000 $1,305,802 $13,320,090


$17,775,493 $3,000,000 $4,335,403 $120,000 $4,455,403
24% of total tax increment


2036


Project Costs
Offsite/Upsize Improvements Stormwater Management


Principal $1,135,000 Principal $1,865,000
Interest 5.00% Interest 5.00%
Term 15 Term 15
TOTAL $1,640,227 TOTAL $2,695,175


Last Year for Project Expenditures


Projected Annual Performance


51 West Development TIF Forecast


Page 2







Parcel Number Type of Development


Unit 


Count Land Use Class Acres


Raw Value 


Added


Sensitivity 


Percentage


Estimated Growth 


in Value


Estimated 


Construction 


Year Notes


1 Condominiums 12 Residential 2.26 $3,930,450 100% $3,930,450 2031 Virgin Lake Comparison


2 Condominiums 12 Residential 2.12 $3,930,450 100% $3,930,450 2029 Virgin Lake Comparison


3 Condominiums 6 Residential 1.06 $1,965,225 100% $1,965,225 2026 Virgin Lake Comparison


4 MF Residential 36 Residential 1.53 $2,793,780 100% $2,793,780 2026 Developer Calculation


5 MF Residential 96 Residential 3.75 $7,450,080 100% $7,450,080 2028 Developer Calculation


6 MF Residential 16 Residential 2.55 $3,000,000 100% $3,000,000 2024 Developer Calculation


7 SF Residential 1 Residential 0.34 $462,015 100% $462,015 2025 Virgin Lake Comparison


8 SF Residential 1 Residential 0.28 $380,483 100% $380,483 2025 Virgin Lake Comparison


9 SF Residential 1 Residential 0.28 $380,483 100% $380,483 2026 Virgin Lake Comparison


10 SF Residential 1 Residential 0.28 $380,483 100% $380,483 2026 Virgin Lake Comparison


11 SF Residential 1 Residential 0.28 $380,483 100% $380,483 2027 Virgin Lake Comparison


12 SF Residential 1 Residential 0.29 $394,072 100% $394,072 2027 Virgin Lake Comparison


13 SF Residential 1 Residential 0.28 $380,483 100% $380,483 2028 Virgin Lake Comparison


14 SF Residential 1 Residential 0.28 $380,483 100% $380,483 2028 Virgin Lake Comparison


15 SF Residential 1 Residential 0.29 $394,072 100% $394,072 2028 Virgin Lake Comparison


16 Commercial 1 Commercial 1.74 $5,288,383 100% $5,288,383 2024 Developer Calculation


17 Commercial 3 Commercial 11.61 $15,051,584 50% $7,525,792 2026 Developer Calculation


18 MF Residential 160 Residential 4.86 $12,416,800 100% $12,416,800 2022 Developer Calculation


19 Duplex 1 Residential 0.32 $402,739 100% $402,739 2022 Nygaared/Jackson Area


20 Duplex 1 Residential 0.27 $339,811 100% $339,811 2022 Nygaared/Jackson Area


21 Duplex 1 Residential 0.27 $339,811 100% $339,811 2022 Nygaared/Jackson Area


22 Duplex 1 Residential 0.27 $339,811 100% $339,811 2023 Nygaared/Jackson Area


23 Duplex 1 Residential 0.32 $402,739 100% $402,739 2023 Nygaared/Jackson Area


O1 Outlot 0 Outlot 0.68 $0 100% $0 2021 Included for acreage


O2 Outlot 0 Outlot 1.98 $0 100% $0 2021 Included for acreage


O3 Outlot 0 Outlot 5.21 $0 100% $0 2021 Included for acreage


O4 Outlot 0 Outlot 1.50 $0 100% $0 2021 Included for acreage


O5 Outlot 0 Outlot 3.81 $0 100% $0 2021 Included for acreage


O6 Outlot 0 Outlot 1.22 $0 100% $0 2021 Included for acreage


O7 Outlot 0 Outlot 6.47 $0 100% $0 2021 Included for acreage


O8 Outlot 0 Outlot 2.52 $0 100% $0 2021 Included for acreage


ROW Right-of-Way 0 Right-of-Way 10.24 $0 100% $0 2021 Included for acreage


Total 356 69.2 $61,184,721 98% $53,658,929


New Development Forecast


51 West Development TIF Forecast


Page 3







Parcel Label Acreage Class Proposed Use Sum of Acreage % Acreage


1 2.26 Residential Zero Entry Condos Commercial 13.35 19.00%


2 2.12 Residential Zero Entry Condos Public 34.72 49.42%


3 1.06 Residential Zero Entry Condos Residential 22.18 31.57%


4 1.53 Residential MF Residential Grand Total 70.25 100.00%


5 3.75 Residential MF Residential-3 Story


6 2.55 Residential MF Residential Maximum Residential % 35%


7 0.34 Residential SF Residential


8 0.28 Residential SF Residential


9 0.28 Residential SF Residential


10 0.28 Residential SF Residential


11 0.28 Residential SF Residential


12 0.29 Residential SF Residential


13 0.28 Residential SF Residential


14 0.28 Residential SF Residential


15 0.29 Residential SF Residential


16 1.74 Commercial Commercial


17 11.61 Commercial Commercial


18 4.86 Residential MF Residential


19 0.32 Residential Duplex


20 0.27 Residential Duplex


21 0.27 Residential Duplex


22 0.27 Residential Duplex


23 0.32 Residential Duplex


O 34.72 Public ROW/Park/Stormwater


Total 70.25 24


Acreage Calculations


51 West Development TIF Forecast


Page 4







COMMERCIAL LOTS AVAILABLE 
1/20/21 


 
1. 2301 Wood View Drive 
2. 1521 E. Main Street 
3. 314 W. Main Street 
4. 2501 Jackson Street 
5. 2601 Jackson Street 


 







 


Tax Incremental  
Financing Manual


(R. 11-20)







Back to table of contents 2


Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Manual


Wisconsin Department of Revenue


Table of Contents
I.  General Background  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  3
 A .  Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Definition  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  3
 B . How TIF Works  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  4
 C . Summary Statistics   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  8
 D .  Summary of TIF Law Changes   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  10


II. Tax Incremental District (TID) Details  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .    14
 A . TID Creation  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  14
 B . TID Amendments  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  17
 C . TID Extensions  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  20
 D . TID Maintenance  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  21
 E . TID Termination   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  23


III. Joint Review Board (JRB)  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  24
 A .  JRB Purpose   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  24
 B .  JRB Members  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  24
 C .  JRB Procedures   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  25
 D .  JRB Document Review  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  25
 E . JRB Decision Criteria  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  26
 F . DOR Review Procedure   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  27 
 G . After the JRB Approves a TID   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  27


IV. Wisconsin Department of Revenue Responsibilities  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  27
 A .  Statutory Responsibilities  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  27
 B .  JRB Request for DOR Review .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  29
 C .  Substantial Compliance  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  30


V. Considerations for the Municipality   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  31
 A .  But For Requirement  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  31
 B .  Risk Factors to Recognize .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  33
 C .  Intergovernmental Agreements  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  35
 D . Effects on Overlying Taxing Jurisdictions   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  37


VI. Tax Incremental Finance (TIF) Glossary .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  38
 A .  TIF vs . TID   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  38
 B .  Other Terms and Concepts  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  38


VII. Resources/Contact Information  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  44



jfriedl

Highlight



jfriedl

Highlight



jfriedl

Highlight



jfriedl

Highlight



jfriedl

Highlight







Back to table of contents 3


Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Manual


Wisconsin Department of Revenue


I.  General Background


A.  Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Definition
1.  TIF basic function
TIF is a financing option that allows a municipality (town, village or city) to fund infrastructure and other 
improvements, through property tax revenue on newly developed property . A municipality identifies an area, 
the Tax Incremental District (TID), as appropriate for a certain type of development . The municipality identifies 
projects to encourage and facilitate the desired development . Then as property values rise, the municipality 
uses the property tax paid on that development to pay for the projects . After the project costs are paid, the 
municipality closes the TID . The municipality, schools, county, and technical college are able to levy taxes on the 
value of the new development .


TIF use varies depending on the project and the municipality . In some cases, the municipality chooses an 
area it would like to develop or that is unlikely to develop without assistance . Then the municipality designs 
improvements (ex: roads, sidewalks, sewer systems) to attract growth . In other cases, a developer or company 
identifies a site where they might locate . A developer may also negotiate with the municipality to use TIF to fund 
some improvements (ex: demolition, soil clean up, roads, water) the developer needs . Either way, an area facing 
development challenges receives help to grow . This creates a larger tax base for the municipality and the overlying 
taxing jurisdictions (ex: schools, county, technical colleges) . Generally, when the tax base grows and spending is 
stable, tax rates go down, decreasing property taxes for everyone .


Important
One key basis for the use of TIF is the "but for" requirement . As part of all creation resolutions, a municipality must 
affirm that the development would not happen "but for" the use of  TIF . The municipality must believe that without 
TIF the development would never happen . This requirement is important to ensure TIF assists development 
projects needing help, but that it is not a gift of tax dollars to private developers or property owners . Review 
Considerations for the Municipality for more information .


2.  TIF law background
Wisconsin adopted TIF legislation in 1975 to eliminate blighted areas in urban neighborhoods . Interest rates were 
high, making government borrowing expensive and municipal investment in infrastructure and redevelopment 
unattractive . In addition, the cost was high for redeveloping blighted areas compared to developing open areas . 
This was due to demolition, alteration, remodeling or repairing existing buildings, removing environmental 
contamination from soil or groundwater, or other site work . Before TIF law was enacted, if a municipality wanted 
to expand its local tax base, the municipality alone would pay the cost but the overlying taxing jurisdictions would 
also benefit from the growth . The legislature saw this situation as unfair and viewed TIF as a way to remedy the 
problem and encourage cooperation between local government .


Since TIF law was first adopted, changes have been made to expand the ways municipalities can use TIF and 
increase the involvement of the overlying taxing jurisdictions and local residents .







Back to table of contents 4


Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Manual


Wisconsin Department of Revenue


The chart below shows the law reference and creation year . Review Summary of TIF Law Changes for recent changes .


Eligible Municipality WI Statute Year Statute Created TID Type


City or Village 66 .1105 1975 Blight, Rehabilitation or Conservation, Industrial


City or Village 66 .1105 2004 Mixed-use


City or Village 66 .1105 2017 Environmental Remediation


Town 66 .1105 2005 Any of the above as part of an annexation/cooperation agreement


City, Village or County 66 .1106 1997 (ended 2017) Environmental Remediation (now in 66 .1105)


Town 60 .85 2004 Agricultural, Forestry, Manufacturing, or Tourism


Town 60 .23 2014 Same as created under 66 .1105
 


Review Summary Statistics for more details on the trends in numbers and types of TIDs .


B. How TIF Works
When a municipality creates a TID, the municipality and other taxing jurisdictions agree to support their operation 
from the existing tax base within the TID . They agree the municipality will use the taxes on the value increase in 
the TID to pay for the investment .


1.  Sharing the tax base


Value Increment  
of Active TID


TID Base Value


County


School


Technical CollegeCounty


School


Technical College


Municipality


Municipality


TID Created TID TerminatedTi
m


el
in


e
Pr


op
er


ty
  V


al
ue


s


Property Value


TID Value Growth and Tax Sharing


a.  TID creation
When the municipality creates a TID, it establishes the base value of all the taxable property within the defined 
boundaries . The county, school, technical college and municipality in the chart above, make up the overlying 
taxing jurisdictions for the property in the base value . The overlying taxing jurisdictions share the tax revenue 







Back to table of contents 5


Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Manual


Wisconsin Department of Revenue


collected on this portion of the property value . After the TID is created, this tax revenue is allocated the same way 
as before the TID was created . In the chart, the county, school, technical college and municipality collect taxes on 
the property in the TID base . In areas with special taxing districts (ex: sanitary district or lake rehabilitation district), 
this district would appear in a row below the municipality .


Any new construction or investment in the TID property increases the value . The municipality collects the taxes on 
the growth in value of the property (the Value increment) as Tax increment revenue . The municipality can only use 
this revenue to pay for the improvements it made to the property in the TID according to the approved project plan .


b.  TID termination
The municipality must terminate the TID at the end of the maximum life, or when the tax increments collected 
exceed the approved project costs . At termination, the entire value of the property in the TID returns to the 
tax rolls of the overlying taxing jurisdictions . In the TID Value Growth and Tax Sharing chart on the previous 
page, the column on the right represents the increased property value subject to taxes . While the TID exists, tax 
revenue for each overlying jurisdiction is limited to the base value of the TID property . After terminating the TID, 
all the overlying taxing jurisdictions share the tax base; tax rates can be lowered to generate the same amount 
of revenue for the jurisdiction . Without the development encouraged by TIF, the base value would be the only 
value available for the jurisdictions to tax . Partnering to facilitate development helps all the overlying taxing 
jurisdictions increase their tax base . If the TID property value does not increase as expected, the municipality may 
not receive enough tax increment to pay its expenditures . In this case, when the TID terminates, the municipality is 
responsible for the unpaid debts .


Important
At termination, if the tax increment revenue exceeds the project costs, the municipality must return the surplus 
revenue to the overlying taxing jurisdictions in proportion to overlying taxing jurisdictions' respective tax levy 
without TIF .


2.  Tax increment calculation
The Tax Increment Worksheet (Form PC-202) calculates the amount of taxes for the TIF fund . The worksheet uses 
the apportionment of each overlying taxing jurisdiction to determine the share of each district's tax revenues that 
will be part of the municipality's tax increment .


Example
This example shows how the county levy is apportioned and how the tax increment is calculated . The same 
process is used to determine the tax increment added to each of the other taxing jurisdictions' levies, including 
the levy for the municipality that created the TID .


Assumptions
a)  Entire county consists of four municipalities . Only Municipality "A" has a TID .
b)  Equalized property value in the four municipalities, including the TID increment are:


Municipal Values Total


A $400,000,000* B 70,000,000 C 20,000,000 D 10,000,000 $500,000,000


* Includes $30,000,000 value increment


c) Municipality "A" has a TID #1 with values of:
•  Base value  $20,000,000
•  Current value 50,000,000
•  Value increment 30,000,000



https://www.revenue.wi.gov/Pages/OnlineServices/slfiling.aspx





Back to table of contents 6


Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Manual


Wisconsin Department of Revenue


d)  The county needs $1,500,000 from property taxes for its budget
Note: Values of the taxing entity and any municipality with one or more TIDs, are reduced by the value increment in 
any of the TIDs . This is referred to as TID/OUT in the upcoming charts .


Step 1
Formula to determine each municipality's percent of the county's value:
Municipality Value ÷ County Value = % of County's Value


Municipality TID/Out
Municipality Value ÷ TID/Out


County Value = Percentage
County Value


A $  370,000,000 ÷ $  470,000,000 =  .787234
B 70,000,000 ÷  470,000,000 =  .148936
C 20,000,000 ÷  470,000,000 =  .042553
D 10,000,000 ÷  470,000,000 =  .021277


Totals $ 470,000,000 n/a 1.000000


Step 2
Formula to determine the county tax apportioned to each municipality:
Percentage County Value × County Levy = Apportioned Tax


Municipality Percentage
County Value × County Levy = Apportioned Taxes


A  .787234 × $     1,500,000 = $     1,180,850
B  .148936 × 1,500,000 = 223,405
C  .042553 × 1,500,000 = 63,830
D  .021277 × 1,500,000 = 31,915


Totals 1.000000 n/a $    1,500,000


Step 3
Formula to determine the county tax rate each municipality will collect, including the tax increment:


County Apportioned Tax ÷ (Municipality Equalized Value - Increment) = County Tax Rate per Municipality


Municipality Apportioned  
Municipality Taxes ÷ Municipality TID/Out


Equalized Value = County Tax Rate  
for Each Municipality


A $      1,180,850 ÷ $   370,000,000 =  .0031915
B 223,405 ÷ 70,000,000 =  .0031915
C 63,830 ÷ 20,000,000 =  .0031915
D 31,915 ÷ 10,000,000 =  .0031915


Totals $     1,500,000 ÷ $ 470,000,000 n/a


Step 4
Formula to determine the county tax rate for each municipality (referred to TID/IN below)
County Tax Rate × Total Equalized Value of all Municipal property = County Tax Collected (includes the tax 
increment for TID #1 in Municipality "A") 


Municipality Tax Rate × Total Equalized Value
Municipality TID/IN = County Taxes Collected


A  .0031915 × $  400,000,000 = $     1,276,600
B  .0031915 × 70,000,000 = 223,405
C  .0031915 × 20,000,000 = 63,830
D  .0031915 × 10,000,000 = 31,915


Totals n/a  $ 500,000,000 $    1,595,750


Total County Taxes Collected from Municipality "A" $     1,276,600
Total County Apportioned Taxes for Municipality "A" $     1,180,850
Tax Increment Received by Municipality "A" $          95,750







Back to table of contents 7


Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Manual


Wisconsin Department of Revenue


Step 1-4 Explanation
•  County tax collected is apportioned to individual property owners in each municipality based on the 


assessed value of each parcel
•  Amount of the tax apportioned by the county is $1,500,000 . Step 2 shows the amounts apportioned to each 


municipality .
•  Tax increment of $95,750 is the difference between the amount Municipality "A" collected by the county 


($1,276,600 shown in Step 4) and the amount apportioned for Municipality "A" ($1,118,850 shown in Step 2)
•  $95,750 is the county portion of tax increment Municipality "A" receives and must deposit into the TID #1 


fund for the TID's project costs


Step 5 Effect on the county tax rate if the TID in Municipality "A" terminates and the county's 
levy and each municipality's values remain the same


County Levy County Equalized Value Tax Rate


$ 1,500,000 $ 500,000,000*  .030000
* Includes TID value increment in TID #1, Municipality "A"


Step 5 Explanation
•  There is a difference in the tax rate of 19 .15 cents per thousand dollars of equalized value without the TID in 


Municipality "A" ( .0031915 shown in Step 3), compared to the rate with the TID ( .0030000 shown in Step 5)
•  This results in a $19 .15 tax decrease for the county portion of taxes on a property valued at $100,000 when 


the TID terminates


When a municipality has no TIDs, the municipal apportioned levy is the same as the county taxes collected . 
If there are no TIDs in a county, the county tax rate is lower for everyone . However, if there are TIDs, every 
taxpayer in the county pays a higher rate to generate the increment paid to the municipality operating the 
TID . All taxpayers in the county share this cost because they will all share the expanded tax base once the TID 
terminates .







Back to table of contents 8


Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Manual


Wisconsin Department of Revenue


C. Summary Statistics
The chart below shows TID creation by year . Overall, there has been steady growth since TIF was added to state 
law . There are a few noticeable spikes in creation activity due to law changes or economic trends .


1.  Creation by TID type
TIF law contains different rules based on TID type . The TID Criteria Matrix summarizes the rules governing the 
various TID types . 


In 2019, there were 68 new TIDs certified:
•  24 mixed use 
• 18 rehabilitation/conservation 
• 14 blight elimination
• 10 industrial
•  1 environmental remediation
• 1 town (sec . 60 .85, Wis . Stats .)



https://www.revenue.wi.gov/DOR%20Publications/tif-trix.pdf





Back to table of contents 9


Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Manual


Wisconsin Department of Revenue


2.  Active TIDs by type
Currently there are 1,341 active TIDs . The chart below shows a breakdown of the active TIDs by type .


   


        Current Active  
 TIDs by  Type


3.  TID requests by year
TIF law allows municipalities to create TIDs and amend existing TIDs in different ways . In 2018, the Wisconsin 
Department of Revenue (DOR) approved these TID requests:
•  68 creations
•  27 territory amendments
•  27 project plan amendments
•  16 allocation amendments
• 2 base value redetermination amendments
•  48 extensions


The chart below shows the number of creations and amendment types requested by year . 







Back to table of contents 10


Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Manual


Wisconsin Department of Revenue


Each municipality can add or subtract territory from an active TID up to four times during the life of the TID . 
Adding or subtracting parcels from an existing TID increases or decreases its base value .


Project plan amendments revise the planned development in the TID . An allocation amendment allows a 
municipality to transfer excess increment from one TID to another TID . There is no limit to the number of allocation 
or project plan amendments .


Base value redetermination amendments allow a municipality to reduce the base value of a TID in a decrement 
situation . One redetermination amendment is allowed during a TID's life .


A municipality may extend a TID's life to pay on existing debt and/or to use the last year of increment for 
affordable housing . There are three types of extensions available: standard extension, technical college extension 
and affordable housing extension .


Review TID Amendments and Extensions for more information .


4.  TIF and property taxes in Wisconsin
The Legislative Fiscal Bureau publishes Informational Paper 17 on TIF every two years . It contains background, 
municipal authority information and statistics on TIF use .


D. Summary of TIF Law Changes
2017 Acts 70, 15, 58
Act 70
1.  Environmental Remediation (ER) Tax Incremental Districts (TID)
•  Effective date: November 29, 2017
•  ER TIDs created by a municipal resolution:


»  Before November 29, 2017 – must follow sec . 66 .1106, Wis . Stats ., and are not affected by 2017 Act 70
»  On or after November 29, 2017 – must follow sec . 66 .1105, Wis . Stats .


•  All ER TIDs must now be created under sec . 66 .1105, Wis . Stats .


2.  Requirements/limits
•  Maximum life is 27 years with a possible three-year standard extension
•  Before creating an ER TID under sec . 66 .1105, Wis . Stats ., the municipality must obtain a certification of its site 


investigation report from the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources (DNR) and email both the report and 
certification to DOR . To obtain this certification, a municipality must provide DNR the site investigation report 
including:
»  Description of the environmental pollution in the proposed district
»  Proposed remedial action plan
»  Cost estimates for expected project costs
»  Schedule for remediation (design, implementation, construction)


•  At least 50 percent of the TID area has significant environmental pollution
•  Project plan must specify either:


»  All project costs will be paid within 90 percent of the TIDs remaining life
»  Expenditures will only be made in the first half of the TID life; exception – expenditures for significant 


environmental pollution not identified in the certified site investigation report may continue for 22 years  
(5 years before the maximum life)


•  May only allocate excess funds to other ER TIDs (created under sec . 66 .1105 or 66 .1106, Wis . Stats .)
•  A municipality may designate only one ER TID created under sec . 66 .1105 Wis . Stats ., as excluded from the  


12 percent value limit . Once the excluded TID is designated, it cannot be changed .



https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/misc/lfb/informational_papers/january_2019/0017_tax_incremental_financing_informational_paper_17.pdf

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/2017/related/acts/70.pdf

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1106

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105





Back to table of contents 11


Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Manual


Wisconsin Department of Revenue


3.  TID base value
•  When an ER TID is created under sec 66 .1105, Wis . Stats ., DOR sets the base value to $1
•  When the ER TID is amended to add territory, the full value of the additional parcels as of January 1 of the 


amendment year is added to the existing $1 base value


Act 15
1.  Termination and administrative certification fee deadline change
•  Effective: January 1, 2018
•  Changes the deadline for TID terminations from May 15 to April 15


»  Example 1: If a termination resolution is adopted from May 16, 2017 to April 15, 2018, the termination year 
is 2018 and TID number is removed from the 2018 tax roll


»  Example 2: If a termination resolution is adopted from April 16, 2018 to April 15, 2019, the termination year 
is 2019 and TID number is removed from 2019 tax roll


•  Changes deadline for administrative certification fee ($150 per active TID) from May 15 to April 15


2.  TID Annual Report changes
•  Effective: January 1, 2018 (for 2017 reporting year)
•  Sets maximum penalty of $6,000 for reports not filed timely – penalty for late filing remains $100 per TID per 


day (applied beginning 60 days after report is past due)
•  DOR reduces shared revenue payments for any unpaid penalty
•  Removes the extra 30-day extension when an estimated report is filed


3.  Base value for town TIDs created under 60.85
•  Effective date retroactive to October 1, 2015
•  Excludes town-owned property from the TID base value calculation
•  Town TIDs are now consistent with municipal TIDs as changed in 2015 Act 255


4.  Notification to DOR of adopted amendments
•  Effective: January 1, 2018
•  Removes municipality's requirement to notify DOR of TID amendments during May 1 to May 21 each year
•  Keeps requirement to notify DOR within 60 days after the amendment is adopted


Act 58
TIDs created in an electronics and information technology manufacturing (EITM) zone
•  Effective: September 20, 2017
•  Authorizes the creation of an electronics and information technology manufacturing zone and, in connection 


with that zone, creates special provisions for TIDs:
»  Exception to 12 percent limit (no limit for these TIDs and not in the calculation for other municipal TIDs)
»  30-year life with expenditures allowed throughout life
»  Mixed-use or industrial types
»  Allows TID project costs throughout the county
»  Allows police/fire costs (with some limitations)


• There are separate due dates/timeframes for these TIDs:
» Municipal resolution adopted January 1 to December 1 – if resolution states effective same year, then forms 


due to DOR December 31
»  Municipal resolution adopted January 1 to December 1 – if resolution states effective the following year, 


then forms due to DOR November 30 of the following year



http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/2017/related/acts/15.pdf

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/2015/related/acts/255.pdf

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/2017/related/acts/58.pdf





Back to table of contents 12


Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Manual


Wisconsin Department of Revenue


»  Municipal resolution adopted December 2 to 31 – effective date is the following year with the forms due to 
DOR November 30 of the following year


2015 Acts 254, 255, 256, 257
Act 254
1.  Three-year extension request
• Effective: March 3, 2016
• Allows municipality to amend the TID or request a three-year extension to a TIDs life through a Joint Review Board 


(JRB) resolution if tax increments are impacted by 2013 Act 145 that increased state aid to technical colleges


2.  DOR determination
• Effective: March 3, 2016
• Requires DOR to indicate in a fiscal estimate if a bill will increase or decrease the increment collection for TIDs 


or if the effect is indeterminate


Act 255
1.  Removes vacant property restriction
• Effective for TIDs created or project plans amended on or after October 1, 2015
• Removes restriction that vacant property may not comprise more than 25 percent of TID for creations after 


effective date


2.  Excludes city-owned property
• Effective for TIDs created or project plans amended on or after October 1, 2015
• Revises TID base value calculation to exclude exempt city-owned property


Act 256
1.  Increases JRB review time
• Effective: March 3, 2016 
• Changes JRB review period from 30 to 45 days to approve municipality’s TID resolution


2.  Changes levy limit calculation
• Effective: March 3, 2016
• Changes calculation of levy limit exception – a municipality’s Equalized Value for preceding year excludes the 


value of any TID increments for the year a TID terminates


3.  Restricts industrial zoning
• Effective: March 3, 2016 
• TID industrial zoning requirements only apply to industrial TIDs


4.  Changes public notice requirement on amendments
• Effective: March 3, 2016
• Changes Planning Commission Hearing Notice from Class 2 to Class 1 for TID amendments


5.  Adds one more year to TIDs created between September 30 and May 15
• Effective: March 3, 2016
• Adds one-year life and allocation extension for new TIDs when the municipality adopts the resolution between 


September 30 and May 15 



http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/2015/related/acts/254.pdf

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/2015/related/acts/255.pdf

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/2015/related/acts/256.pdf





Back to table of contents 13


Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Manual


Wisconsin Department of Revenue


Act 257
1.  Requires standing JRB
•  Effective October 1, 2015 for 60 .85 Town TIDs and October 1, 2016 for all TIDs
• Must meet July 1 annually or as soon as the annual report is available to review
•  Remains in existence the entire time TID exists with same taxing jurisdictions
•  May disband following termination of all existing TIDs
•  Applies to all TID types, including industry-specific town TID and Environmental Remediation TID


2.  Repeals DOR's review of industry-specific town TIDs
•  Effective October 1, 2015 for 60 .85 Town TIDs and October 1, 2016 for all TIDs
• Repeals DOR's review and determination whether the money expended, or debt incurred, by an industry-


specific town TID complied with state law


3.  Requires municipality to electronically submit annual TID Report
•  Effective October 1, 2015 for 60 .85 Town TIDs and October 1, 2016 for all TIDs
• Municipality must submit an electronic annual report for each existing TID to each overlying taxing jurisdiction . 


Annual reports are due to DOR starting July 1, 2016 for Town TIDs and July 1, 2017 for all other TIDs . The annual 
report must contain:
»   Name assigned to the TID
»   Developer named in agreement with municipality or receiving financial assistance
»   Date municipality expects TID to terminate
»   Tax increment amounts to be deposited into a special fund for the TID
»   Contact person designated by municipality to respond to annual report
»   Analysis of TID special fund:


-  Balance at beginning of the fiscal year
-  Amounts deposited by source, including amounts received from another TID
-  Special fund's expenditures by category of permissible project costs
-  Balance at end of fiscal year, including breakdown by source identifying portion of balance required for 


payment of anticipated project costs
-  Portion of ending balance not identified for payment of anticipated project costs designated as surplus


4.  Requires DOR to develop annual report process
•  Effective October 1, 2015 for 60 .85 Town TIDs and October 1, 2016 for all TIDs
• Create format of annual reports in 2016
•  Post reports no later than 45 days after receipt
•  Determine whether to grant an extension if municipality provides evidence report is being completed
•  Post on DOR website a list of extensions, period of extension and whether municipality filed annual report 


within extension period
•  Notify municipality annual report is past due if municipality does not timely file
•  Charge municipality $100 each day annual report is past due . Fees will be deposited in common school fund .



http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/2015/related/acts/257.pdf





Back to table of contents 14


Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Manual


Wisconsin Department of Revenue


2013 Acts 183 and 193
Act 183
TIDs in a decrement situation
•  Effective: April 4, 2014
•  Municipalities can request DOR redetermine the base value of a TID in a decrement situation
•  TID's current year value – (review the TID Statement of Changes Report) must be at least 10 percent below the 


base value of the TID for two consecutive years (decrement)
•  Municipality's resolution date stating a decrement exists determines the two consecutive years  


(ex: May 21, 2014 resolution date requires both the 2012 and 2013 TIDs to be 10 percent below the TID's 
current base value)


•  TID must be created under state law (sec . 66 .1105, Wis . Stats .)
•  One base value redetermination is allowed during the life of a TID


Act 193
1.  Creation of town TIDs under Sec. 66.1105, Wis. Stats.
•  Effective: April 6, 2014
• Expands the authority for certain towns to create TIDs
•  When the town adopts a resolution, the following two criteria must be met:


»  Prior year Equalized Value must be at least $500 Million
»  Prior year population must be at least 3,500 – use the Population Estimates Summary


•  Sewer service is or will be provided before use or operation of any improvements


2.  Allocation changes
•  Effective: April 6, 2014  
• Allows a regular TID to allocate increments to an Environmental Remediation (ER) TID
•  Allows an ER TID to allocate increments to a regular TID under state law (sec . 66 .1106(7)(e) and 66 .1105(6)(f ), 


Wis . Stats .)


II.  Tax Incremental District (TID) Details


A.  TID Creation
Wisconsin's Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) law regulates the creation of  TIDs . The law requires specific 
documentation and establishes the procedures a municipality must follow to create a new TID . The purpose of 
the requirements is to include the public in the decision-making process and make it easy for the public to obtain 
information . The project plan makes the TID information clear to the public . Mandatory notices, a public hearing, 
and waiting periods ensure the opportunity for public participation . The municipality must also create a Joint 
Review Board (JRB) to obtain approval from the overlying taxing jurisdictions . Having a JRB ensures all affected 
parties have a chance to understand and question the proposal .


Follow these steps to create a TID under state law (sec. 66.1105, Wis. Stats.). The TID 
Checklist has additional details.
1.  Prepare a proposed project plan describing the TID boundary, projects and costs (sec. 
66.1105(4)(f), Wis. Stats.)
•  Review Guidelines for Project Plans for a list of all topics that must be covered in the Project Plan



http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/2013/related/acts/183.pdf

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/Pages/EQU/tidchanges.aspx

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/2013/related/acts/193.pdf

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/Pages/Report/soc-eqv.aspx

https://doa.wi.gov/Pages/LocalGovtsGrants/Population_Estimates.aspx

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1106/7/e

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/6/f

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/6/f

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/DORForms/pe-109.pdf

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/DORForms/pe-109.pdf

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/4/f

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/4/f

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/DOR%20Publications/pe-215.pdf

jfriedl

Highlight







Back to table of contents 15


Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Manual


Wisconsin Department of Revenue


•  Projects impacting a TID, but not entirely in the TID's boundary, may have costs that are partly eligible  
(ex: if a water tower or sewer improvements serve the TID, the part of the total cost benefitting the TID  
can be paid with increment revenue) . The municipality must determine how much of the cost is eligible and 
identify this cost in the plan .


•  Wetlands can be within the TID's designated boundaries, but under state law cannot be included in a TID . To 
remove wetlands from the TID, include an explanation on the map stating all wetlands in the area are excluded 
from the TID . The exclusion of the wetlands must not eliminate the contiguity of the TID .


•  When preparing the project plan for a TID creation or territory amendment, DOR recommends involving the 
municipal and state manufacturing assessors, and the county real property lister


2.  Prepare a notice – indicating when the municipality will hold the public hearing on the proposed project 
plan, boundaries and creation of the district (sec . 66 .1105(4)(e), Wis . Stats .) . The notice:
•  Must include the place, date and time of the hearing
• Must state that the municipality will provide a copy of the proposed plan on request 
•  Must include a statement about cash grants, if applicable
•  Should include the location of the proposed district


3.  If the TID is a blight or rehabilitation/conservation type, identify the affected properties –  
notify the owners of property identified as blighted or in need of rehabilitation/conservation at least 15 days 
before the public hearing (sec . 66 .1105(4)(c), Wis . Stats .)


4.  Send a copy of the hearing notice to overlying taxing jurisdictions by first class mail, 
prior to publication (sec . 66 .1105(4)(a) and (e), Wis . Stats .)
•  Request that the local governing jurisdictions designate a representative to serve on the Joint Review Board (JRB)
•  Overlying taxing jurisdictions – include any governmental entity with the power to levy taxes on property 


located within the proposed TID boundaries (ex: county, school district(s), technical college district and any 
special taxing jurisdictions)


•  Special taxing jurisdictions – are metro sewer districts, sanitary districts or lake rehabilitation/protection districts
• Municipality must notify any affected special districts of the public hearing, but these special districts do not 


have a representative on the JRB


5.  Publish two notices for the public hearing – the first notice 14 days before the meeting and the 
second, seven days before, following Wis . Stats . Chapter 985 (sec . 66 .1105(4)(e), and 66 .1105(5)(d), Wis . Stats .)


Notices must be published properly or DOR cannot certify the district. Before publishing, verify the notice:
•  Includes the place, date and time of the hearing
•  States that the municipality will provide a copy of the project plan on request
•  Includes a statement about cash grants, if it applies
•  Includes the location of the proposed district


6.  Convene a JRB and publish a meeting notice – at least five days before the first JRB meeting  
(sec . 66 .1105(4m)(e), Wis . Stats .)
•  School district, county, technical college district and the municipality each appoints a member of the JRB
•  JRB also includes a public member appointed by the other members
•  First meeting – JRB must hold its first meeting within 14 days of the first hearing notice publication, but before 


the public hearing . The representatives select the chairperson and public member at the first meeting . 
•  JRB must continue while any TID exists in the municipality (sec . 66 .1105(4m)(a), Wis . Stats .)
•  Review Joint Review Board for more information on JRB representatives



https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/4/e

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/4/e

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/4/c

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/4/a

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/4/e

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/4/e

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/5/d

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/4m/e

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/4m/a

jfriedl

Highlight



jfriedl

Highlight



jfriedl

Highlight



jfriedl

Highlight







Back to table of contents 16


Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Manual


Wisconsin Department of Revenue


7. Hold a public hearing (sec . 66 .1105(4)(a), (e) and (f ), Wis . Stats .)
•  Planning Commission (or the municipality's Development or Redevelopment Authority) conducts a hearing on 


the proposed TID boundaries and project plan
•  These topics can be discussed in the same meeting or separate meetings
•  The meeting gives residents an opportunity to express their views


8. Adopt a Planning Commission resolution (sec . 66 .1105(4)(b) and 66 .1105(4)(d), Wis . Stats .)
The meeting to adopt the resolution can immediately follow the public hearing . The Planning Commission adopts 
a resolution that covers these items:
•  Boundaries of the TID
• Approval of the TID's project plan
• A statement that the TID promotes orderly development in the municipality
• After adoption, the Planning Commission submits its approval to the local legislative body


9. Approve the plan; adopt a municipal resolution (secs . 66 .1105 (4)(g), (gm), (i) and 60 .85(3)(h), Wis . 
Stats .)


• Municipal legislative body approves the project plan and adopts the creation resolution at least 15 days after 
the public hearing (30 days for a TID created under sec . 60 .85, Wis . Stats .)


• Boundaries adopted by the municipal legislative body are the final boundaries and do not have to match those 
adopted by the Planning Commission


• Project plan must be adopted before (or when) the TID is created
• Review the Resolution Checklist for details on required wording in the municipal resolution
• After the municipality adopts the project plan and creates the district, it forward the documents to the JRB


TID's official creation date is the date the municipality adopts the creation resolution. Creation 
date determines:
• Start date for the TID maximum life and when expenditures (other than planning) begin and end


»  Note:  In 2015, Act 256 (effective March 3, 2016) added one year of life for new TIDs when the municipality 
adopts the resolution between September 30 and May 15


• Valuation date
• When the creation documents are due to DOR


10.  Approve the proposal; adopt a JRB resolution (sec . 66 .1105(4m)(b) and (c), Wis . Stats .)
• JRB reviews the public record, planning documents and the municipal resolution
• JRB must approve or deny the TID within 45 days after receiving the creation resolution . The JRB may hold 


additional public hearings .
• JRB’s decision to approve or deny the proposal must be based on three criteria – whether the:


»   Expected development would occur without using TIF
»   Economic benefits are sufficient to compensate for the cost of improvements
»  Benefits outweigh the anticipated tax increments to be paid by property owners in overlying districts


• JRB resolution must state its findings on these criteria . Review Joint Review Board for more information .
• Majority of the JRB must approve the TID or it cannot be created


»    The JRB must submit its decision to the municipality within seven days of making the decision
»    If the JRB rejects the proposal, the JRB must issue a written explanation to the municipality


11.  Notify DOR – municipal clerk should email tif@wisconsin .gov to notify DOR of the creation resolution 
within 60 days of JRB approval



http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/4/a

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/4/e

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/4/f

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/4/b

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/4/d

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/4/g

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/4/gm

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/4/i

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/60/X/85/3/h

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/60/X/85

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/DORForms/pe-222.pdf

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/2015/related/acts/256.pdf

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/4m/b

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/4m/c

mailto:tif%40wisconsin.gov?subject=

jfriedl

Highlight



jfriedl

Highlight



jfriedl

Highlight



jfriedl

Highlight







Back to table of contents 17


Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Manual


Wisconsin Department of Revenue


12.  Email the required documents (sec . 66 .1105(5)(b) and (c), Wis . Stats .)
After the municipality and the JRB approve the TID, the municipal clerk must provide all the required documents 
to DOR by October 31 . 


Required documents are described in the TID Checklist:
• Legal documents (including required form)
• Map and boundary description


»  Parcel identification numbers (or tax key numbers) must match assessment roll
»  Parcel numbers on the map and value forms must match


•  Project plan with attorney opinion letter
• Value forms with clerk and assessor declarations


The municipal resolution adoption date determines the creation year . For more details on relevant creation dates, 
review the TID Creation Timeframes table . Review the Municipal TID creation or Town TID creation web page for 
required forms, publications, and more detailed information .


13.  Pay TID creation fee of $1,000 – through My Tax Account by October 31 (sec . 66 .1105(5)(a), Wis . Stats .)


14.  DOR reviews and certifies (sec . 66 .1105(5)(b) and 66 .1105(5)(d), Wis . Stats .)
DOR verifies the above steps were followed before certifying the TID base value . DOR determines the full value of 
the taxable property within the district and emails a certification letter to the municipal clerk with the approved 
base value .


15.  Identify the property on the assessment roll (sec . 66 .1105(5)(f ), Wis . Stats .)
The municipal assessor must identify property within a TID on the assessment roll . The clerk verifies the TID number is 
coded to the property on in the tax roll . Review the TID Creation Timeframes table to determine on which year's 
tax roll to include the TID number .


B.  TID Amendments
After a TID is created, the municipality may amend the TID .


1. Adopting a TID amendment
The process for adopting a TID amendment is similar to the process for creating the TID; however, there are two 
important differences . (sec . 66 .1105(4)(h)(1), Wis . Stats .)
• Amendments require one notice (creations require two notices) prior to the public hearing
• There is no waiting period prior to the municipal resolution (creations require 14-30 days) . The municipality 


may adopt the resolution any time after receiving the resolution from the Planning Commission .


Amendment notice must state:
• Amendment description, including purpose of the amendment and proposed projects
• Place, time and date of the hearing
• That copies of the project plan are available on request
• If applicable, that cash grants are part of the costs


Review the TID Checklist for details on the steps and documents required for each amendment type . For each 
amendment, the municipality must create an updated project plan detailing the changes .



http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/5/b

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/5/c

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/DORForms/pe-109.pdf

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/Documents/tif-creation-table.pdf

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/Pages/Form/govtif-tidbase.aspx

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/Pages/Form/govtif-townbase.aspx

https://tap.revenue.wi.gov/mta/_/

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/5/a

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/5/b

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/5/d

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/5/f

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/Documents/tif-creation-table.pdf

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/4/h/1

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/DORForms/pe-109.pdf

jfriedl

Highlight



jfriedl

Highlight







Back to table of contents 18


Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Manual


Wisconsin Department of Revenue


2.  TID amendment types
a.  Territory amendment (sec . 66 .1105(4)(h)(2), Wis . Stats .)
A municipality may revise the boundaries of a TID up to four times during the TID's life . 


1)  Adding parcels
Parcels can only be added if the following are true:
•  Additional territory is contiguous to the TID
• Municipality's equalized TIF value limit is below:


»  12 percent for cities or villages
»  7 percent or 5 percent for towns
»  For more information review TIF - Value Limit Common Questions


See the TID Checklist for required documents:
• Legal documents (including required form)
• Map and boundary description


» Map must identify added parcels but still show the entire TID boundary
» Parcel identification numbers (or tax key numbers) must reflect assessment roll
» Parcel numbers on the map and value forms must match
» Legal description must describe the full TID boundary updated to include the additional territory


• Project plan with attorney opinion letter
• TID Base Value Workbook with clerk and assessor declarations – only list the parcels that are being added to the TID


Review the Territory Amendment (adding parcels) web page for required forms, publications, and more detailed 
information .


2)  Subtracting parcels
• The process for subtracting territory parallels the process for adding territory, except the values used to 


subtract are based on the year when the parcel entered the TID 
• Parcels can only be subtracted if the TID boundaries remain contiguous after the subtraction
• Municipalities exceeding the value limit can subtract parcels


See the TID Checklist for required documents:
• Legal documents (including required form)
• Map and boundary description


» Map must identify subtracted parcels but still show the entire TID boundary
» Parcel numbers on the map and value forms must match
» Legal description must describe the full TID boundary updated to remove the subtracted territory


• Project plan with attorney opinion letter
• TID Territory Subtraction Workbook with clerk and assessor declarations – list subtracted parcels and value 


based on the year the parcels entered the TID


Review the Territory Amendment (subtracting parcels) web page for required forms, publications, and more 
detailed information .


3)  Adding and subtracting parcels  
• A municipality can add and subtract territory at the same time
• The process and requirements are the same as the addition and subtraction amendments; however, both 


amendments are completed simultaneously
• Addition and subtraction amendments completed at the same time are considered one amendment toward 


the limit of four
• A municipality may not subtract parcels and add them back into the TID in the same year 



https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/4/h/2

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/Pages/FAQS/slf-tif-vallimit.aspx

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/DORForms/pe-109.pdf

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/dorforms/tidbase.xls

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/Pages/Form/govtif-c-vboadd.aspx

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/DORForms/pe-109.pdf

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/dorforms/tidsub.xlsx

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/Pages/Form/govtif-c-vbosub.aspx





Back to table of contents 19


Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Manual


Wisconsin Department of Revenue


Parcels can only be subtracted and added if:
• TID boundaries remain contiguous after the subtraction and addition 
• Municipality is below the 12 percent value limit and remains below the limit after the addition and subtraction 


amendment or the municipality is above the 12 percent limit, but the combined value of the addition and 
subtraction amendments results in a negative value


 Note: The added parcels use the current value and subtracted parcels use the value from the year they entered 
the TID . 


See the TID Checklist for required documents:
• Legal documents (including required form)
• Map and boundary description


» Map must identify added and subtracted parcels but still show the entire TID boundary
» Parcel identification numbers (or tax key numbers) must reflect assessment roll
» Parcel numbers on the map and value forms must match
» Legal description must describe the full TID boundary updated to include the additional territory and 


remove the subtracted territory
• Project plan with attorney opinion letter
• TID Base Value Workbook with clerk and assessor declarations – only list the parcels that are being added to the TID
• TID Territory Subtraction Workbook with clerk and assessor declarations – list subtracted parcels and value 


based on the year the parcels entered the TID


See the Territory Amendment (adding parcels) and Territory Amendment (subtracting parcels) for required forms, 
publications, and more detailed information .


b.  Project plan amendment
A project plan amendment may revise any of the topics covered in the most recently approved project plan . The 
amended TID project plan must still cover the topics outlined in the Guidelines for Project Plans . 


The most common project plan amendment changes the projects and their costs . After work in the TID begins, 
additional projects may be needed or the growth in the TID's value may generate a larger tax increment than 
expected and provide revenue to finance additional projects . If project costs are added to the plan, update the 
financial analysis . The increment must still be able to pay for the improvements within the life of the district 
because the project plan amendment does not alter the expenditure period or the TID maximum life .


There is no limit on the number of project plan amendments during a TID's life . Review the Project Plan and/or 
Allocation Amendments for required forms, publications, and more detailed information .


c.  Allocation amendment (sec . 66 .1105(6)(d), Wis . Stats .)
An allocation amendment allows the municipality to redirect revenue from one TID (called the "Donor TID") to 
another TID (called the "Recipient TID") . This may be advantageous when one TID is generating more revenue than 
expected and another is performing below expectations . 


Before an allocation amendment is adopted, the JRB members and the public must understand that it will direct 
more revenue than planned to the municipality's TIF fund . The increment revenue transferred from the donor TID 
to another TID postpones the date the donor TID can fully pay its costs and be terminated . This delays when the 
value of the tax increment is available to the overlying taxing jurisdictions .


Allocation amendment requires:
• Donor and Recipient TIDs have the same overlying taxing jurisdictions
• Donor TID demonstrates the current increment is sufficient to pay off all costs and provide enough surplus 


revenue to pay some of the costs for the recipient TID



https://www.revenue.wi.gov/DORForms/pe-109.pdf

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/DORForms/tidbase.xls

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/dorforms/tidsub.xlsx

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/Pages/Form/govtif-c-vboadd.aspx

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/Pages/Form/govtif-c-vbosub.aspx

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/DOR%20Publications/pe-215.pdf

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/Pages/Form/govtif-c-vplan.aspx

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/Pages/Form/govtif-c-vplan.aspx

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/6/d





Back to table of contents 20


Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Manual


Wisconsin Department of Revenue


• Resolutions adopted by the Planning Commission and the legislative body to state specifically from which TID 
the increments are coming and to which TID the surplus is going


Allocations are only allowed in specific scenarios, which are outlined in the Allocation Amendment Fact Sheet . 
Review the Project Plan and/or Allocation Amendments web page for required forms, publications, and more 
detailed information .


d.  Base value redetermination amendment
A municipality can request a base value redetermination for a TID in a decrement situation if: 
• TID's current year value (review the TID Statement of Changes Report) is at least 10 percent below the base 


value of the TID for two consecutive years (decrement) (sec . 66 .1105(5)(h) and (i), Wis . Stats .)
» Municipality's resolution date for the redetermination amendment determines the two consecutive years
» Example:  a municipal resolution adopted May 21, 2021 must show that both the 2019 and 2020 values are 


10 percent below the TID's base value)
• TID was created under state law sec . 66  .1105, Wis . Stats .
• TID had no previous redetermination .  Only one redetermination amendment is allowed during a TID's life .


Complete the TID Base Redetermination Worksheet to confirm the TID qualifies . Review the Base Value 
Redetermination web page for required forms, publications, and more detailed information .


e.  Distressed/severely distressed amendment (sec . 66 .1105(4e), Wis . Stats .)
From 2008 through 2015, a municipality could extend the life of a TID experiencing financial difficulty by adopting 
a resolution designating the TID as distressed or severely distressed . This allowed the TID additional time to pay off 
expenditures . The ability to use this designation ended on September 30, 2015 . For more information, review the 
TIF Distressed/Severely Distressed web page .


f.  Amendment fees and due dates (sec . 66 .1105(5)(a) and (b), Wis . Stats .)
Amendment fees are payable by using My Tax Account .


Amendment Type DOR Fee Documents Due Date


Territory – Add parcels $1,000 October 31


Territory – Subtract parcels $1,000 October 31


Territory – Add and Subtract $2,000 October 31


Project plan 0 December 31


Allocation 0 December 31


Base value redetermination $1,000 October 31  


C.  TID Extensions
After a TID is created, the municipality may extend the TID's life in several ways . Review the Extensions web page 
for sample resolutions and more detailed information .


Extension types:
1)  Affordable housing extension (sec . 66 .1105(6)(g), Wis . Stats .)
After a municipality pays off a TID's project costs, it may extend that TID's life by one year if the municipality adopts 
a resolution that:
• Extends the TID's life for a specified number of months (up to 12)
• Specifies how the municipality intends to improve housing stock



https://www.revenue.wi.gov/Documents/alofacsht.pdf

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/Pages/Form/govtif-c-vplan.aspx

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/Pages/EQU/tidchanges.aspx

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/5/h

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/5/i

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105

http://www.revenue.wi.gov/DORForms/decrement.xlsx

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/Pages/Form/govtif-decrement.aspx

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/Pages/Form/govtif-decrement.aspx

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/4e

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/Pages/Form/govtif-tiddistrd.aspx

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/5/a

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/5/b

https://tap.revenue.wi.gov/mta/_/

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/Pages/Form/govtif-extension.aspx

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/6/g





Back to table of contents 21


Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Manual


Wisconsin Department of Revenue


The municipality must use at least 75 percent of the increment received to benefit affordable housing . The municipality 
must also use the remaining portion to improve housing . The municipality must email a copy of the municipal 
resolution to tif@wisconsin .gov . DOR will then authorize the tax increment allocation for one additional year . 


2)  Standard extension (secs . 66 .1105(7)(am)(1), (2), and (3), Wis . Stats .)
A municipality may extend a TID's maximum life through a request to the JRB . If the municipality provides an 
independent audit showing the TID cannot repay project costs within the maximum life, the JRB must approve the 
extension . Without an independent audit, it is at the discretion of the JRB whether to grant the extension .


The length of the standard extension varies based on the TID type and creation date . Not all TID types are eligible 
for the standard extension . For details on extension eligibility by TID type, review the row titled "Standard 
extension allowed" in the TID Criteria Matrix . 


The municipality must email a copy of the JRB resolution to tif@wisconsin .gov . DOR will then approve the request 
and extend the TID's maximum life based on the TID type .


3)  Technical college extension (sec . 66 .1105(7)(am)(4), Wis . Stats .)
A municipality may extend a TID's maximum life by three years if 2013 Wisconsin Act 145 negatively affected 
the annual and total increment amounts . This act increased state aid to technical colleges and in some cases, 
decreased the tax levied and tax increment collected for the TID . This extension only applies to TIDs with a 
municipal resolution adopted by September 30, 2014 . If the municipality provides an independent audit showing 
the TID cannot repay project costs within maximum life, the JRB must approve the extension . Without an 
independent audit, it is at the discretion of the JRB whether to grant the extension .


The municipality must email a copy of the JRB resolution to tif@wisconsin .gov . DOR will then approve the request 
and extend the TID's maximum life by three years .


D.  TID Maintenance
After a TID is created, municipal officials must maintain the TID in good standing with DOR and the overlying 
taxing jurisdictions that partnered to create the TID .


1.  Annual filings with DOR
a.  Administrative certification fee (sec . 66 .1105(6)(ae), Wis . Stats .)
Each municipality must pay a fee of $150 for each active TID by April 15 . During the first week of March, DOR sends 
each municipality a notification letter through My Tax Account listing the active TIDs and the total amount due 
from the municipality . The fee must be paid through My Tax Account . If the municipality does not pay the fee, DOR 
will not certify a value increment for that year .


Effective January 1, 2018, the Administrative certification fee deadline changed from May 15 to April 15 with 2017 
Act 15 .


b.  Municipal Assessment Report (MAR) (sec . 66 .1105(6)(a), Wis . Stats .)
On the MAR, the assessor identifies the current assessed value for each TID in the municipality . Assessors must 
electronically file (e-file) the MAR using My DOR Government Account (MyDORGov) by the second Monday in 
June . If final data is not available, the assessor must submit a best estimate . If the assessor does not file the MAR 
timely, DOR will use the previous years' non-manufacturing certified TID Equalized Value .  As a result, any value 
increase will not be reflected in the value increment and the municipality cannot collect the associated tax 
increment funds .



mailto:tif%40wisconsin.gov?subject=

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/7/am/1

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/7/am/2

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/7/am/3

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/DOR%20Publications/tif-trix.pdf

mailto:tif%40wisconsin.gov?subject=

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/7/am/4

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/2013/related/acts/145.pdf

mailto:tif%40wisconsin.gov?subject=

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/6/ae

https://tap.revenue.wi.gov/mta/_/

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/2017/related/acts/15.pdf

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/2017/related/acts/15.pdf

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/6/a

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/Pages/OnlineServices/slfiling.aspx

https://ww2.revenue.wi.gov/VaultExternal/index.html





Back to table of contents 22


Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Manual


Wisconsin Department of Revenue


c.  Annual reports (sec . 66 .1105(6m)(c), Wis . Stats .)
The municipality must complete an annual report for each TID describing the expenditures and revenues . By July 1 
each year, the municipality must e-file this report using  MyDORGov .  See the DOR website for annual reports . DOR 
posts the reports the day after submission . 


By law, DOR must charge a penalty for any report that is not filed within 60 days after the July 1 due date . The 
penalty is $100 per TID per day, after the 60-day grace period . 


By July 1 or when the report is available, the municipality must provide a copy to the overlying taxing jurisdictions 
and hold a Joint Review Board to review the report . (sec . 66 .1105(4m)(f ), Wis . Stats .)


d.  Tax Incremental Worksheet 
The municipality must complete this form by the third Monday in December to calculate the amount added to the 
levy including the tax increment . The municipality must e-file this report using MyDORGov before calculating the 
tax rates .


 2.  Periodic TID audits (sec . 66 .1105(6m)(a) and (b), Wis . Stats .)
At least three Certified Public Accountant (CPA) audits are required for each TID . The CPA must determine if the TID 
financial transactions are legal and comply with the project plan and TIF law . The cost of performing these audits is 
an eligible TIF project cost . Including the cost as part of the original project plan is advisable .


Each audit is due within 12 months of:
• When the first 30 percent of the project costs are spent 


» This audit may occur at different times for different TIDs depending on when project costs occur (ex: for a TID 
with $1 million in total project costs, conduct the audit after the year spending reaches $300,000, regardless 
of how much was spent that year or the age of the TID .) 


» Include the revenues and expenditures from the TID creation through the year of the audit
» If the municipality adds projects as part of an approved project plan amendment, it must repeat the audit 


when the TID reaches 30 percent of the amended project costs
» The municipality must save a copy of this audit in its TID records


• End of the expenditure period 
» Address the revenues and expenditures from the TID creation through the year of the audit 
» The TID account may be in debt at this point because the tax increment revenue collected is less than the 


total expenditures for the TID
» Terminate the TID if increment revenue is greater than or equal to the total project costs
» The municipality must save a copy of this audit in its TID records


• Termination – this audit accounts for all revenue and expenditures during the entire life of the TID, including 
any excess increment returned to the overlying taxing jurisdictions . Review TIF Termination for more 
information .


3.  TID records 
Every municipality with a TID must retain all records related to the TID including:
• Creations – project plan, legal documents, value forms, boundary legal description and map, DOR certification 


letter, developer agreement, if applicable
• Territory amendments – project plan, legal documents, value forms, boundary legal description and map, DOR 


recertification letter,  developer agreement, if applicable
• Redetermination amendments – project plan, legal documents, decrement form, DOR redetermination letter
• Project plan and/or allocation amendments – project plan, legal documents, DOR approval letter, developer 


agreement
• Extensions – adopted resolution, meeting notice and minutes, DOR approval letter



http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/6m/c

https://ww2.revenue.wi.gov/VaultExternal/index.html

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/4m/f

https://ww2.revenue.wi.gov/VaultExternal/index.html

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/6m/a

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/6m/b





Back to table of contents 23


Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Manual


Wisconsin Department of Revenue


• Annual reports – copy of reports, JRB meeting notices and minutes
• Audit reports 
• Terminations – adopted resolution, TID Final Accounting Submission Date Agreement (Form PE-223), TID Final 


Accounting Report (Form PE-110)


E.  TID Termination
A TID's termination must be completed according to deadlines established by law .


Follow these steps to terminate a TID:
1.  Adopt a termination resolution
• A municipality must adopt a termination resolution when either of these occur:


» TID reached its maximum life
» TID received tax increment payments that equal the project costs


• A municipality may also choose to terminate the TID for some other reason


TID Maximum Life
TID Type Max Life


Any type created before October 1, 1995 27 years
Blight/Rehabilitation after October 1, 1995 27 years*  
Industrial after October 1, 1995; before October 1, 2004    23 years*
Industrial or Mixed-use on or after October 1, 2004   20 years*
Environmental Remediation before November 29, 2017 23 years
Environmental Remediation on or after November 29, 2017 27 years*
*Maximum life may be extended. Review TID Extensions for details.  


A sample termination resolution is available on the Municipal TIF Termination web page .


If the municipality adopts the termination resolution by April 15 of any year, the effective date of termination is 
the current year . If the municipality adopts the resolution between April 16 and December 31, the effective date 
is the following year . Review TID Termination Timeframes table for additional information . For more details on the 
termination effective date, review sec . 66 .1105(8)(b), Wis . Stats .


2.  Complete Form PE-223 and email documents to DOR  (sec . 66 .1105(8)(a), Wis . Stats .)
Within 60 days of adopting the termination resolution, the municipal clerk must email tif@wisconsin .gov a copy 
of the termination resolution and a completed Final Accounting Submission Date Agreement (PE-223) . DOR 
recommends the municipality also notify its municipal assessor, county property lister, and overlying taxing 
jurisdictions .


3.  Complete the TID Final Audit
The municipality must have a Certified Public Accountant (CPA) complete the final audit for all revenue and 
expenditures during the TID life . The municipality must save a copy of the audit in its TID records and does not 
need to submit a copy to DOR .


4.   E-file the TID Final Accounting Report (PE-110)
Before the termination is final, the municipality must electronically file (e-file) the Final TID Accounting Report  
(PE-110) using MyDORGov . The TID Final Accounting Report (PE-110) is due to DOR based on the date agreed 
upon between the municipality and DOR on the Final Accounting Submission Date Agreement (PE-223) . The  
PE-110 form includes total expenditures and revenue during the TID life based on the final audit . 



https://www.revenue.wi.gov/Pages/Form/govtif-Home.aspx

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/Pages/Form/govtif-Home.aspx

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/Pages/Form/govtif-tidterm.aspx

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/Documents/tif-termination-table.pdf

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/8/b

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/8/a

mailto:tif%40wisconsin.gov?subject=

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/Pages/Form/govtif-Home.aspx

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/Pages/Form/govtif-Home.aspx

https://ww2.revenue.wi.gov/VaultExternal/index.html

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/Pages/Form/govtif-Home.aspx





Back to table of contents 24


Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Manual


Wisconsin Department of Revenue


If a municipality does not e-file this report within the specified timeframe, it will delay the certification of future TIDs . 
For more details on termination reporting, review (sec . 66  .1105(8)(c), Wis . Stats .) .


Final Accounting Report must show either:
• Increment revenue paid all project costs and the TID account has a surplus . The municipality must return the 


excess increments to the overlying taxing jurisdictions in proportion to the amounts that belong to each taxing 
jurisdiction .  


• Increment revenue did not cover the project costs and the TID account has a deficit . The municipality is 
responsible for paying the remaining debt .


The final TID account balance must be zero either after the surplus is distributed or after the municipality pays the 
remaining debt .


III.  Joint Review Board (JRB)


A. JRB Purpose
State law provides for a JRB and defines its members and responsibilities . JRB members represent a taxing jurisdiction 
(municipality, county, school, technical college) . It is the JRB’s responsibility to approve or deny the creation or 
amendment of a Tax Incremental District (TID) . If the JRB approves the TID, it viewed or heard convincing evidence of 
the need for Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) assistance to make the development a reality . The JRB jurisdictions agree 
to sacrifice some amount of tax revenue for many years into the future expecting the tax base will ultimately increase .


B.  JRB Members 
The JRB consists of one representative from each taxation jurisdiction (school district, technical college, county, 
municipality), and one public member . 


District representatives
• School – the school board president, or their designee with preference to the school district’s finance 


director . If the TID is located in a union high school district, the school seat is shared by the union high school 
representative and school district representative; each having one-half vote .


• Technical college – the technical college district director, or their designee with preference to the district’s 
chief financial officer


• County – the county executive or the county board chairperson, or this person’s designee with preference to 
the county treasurer


• City/village/town – the mayor or city manager, the village board president, town board chairperson or their 
designee with preference to the person who administers the economic development programs, the municipal 
treasurer or another person with knowledge of local government finances


• Public member – a majority of the other members chooses the public member at the JRB’s first meeting . State 
law has no requirements for the public member . A public member can be appointed as chairperson . For a 
multijurisdictional TID, each participating municipality may appoint one public member .


If more than one school, union high school, technical college or county district has the power to levy taxes on the 
property within the TID, the district with the greatest value chooses the representative to the JRB .


Examples:
• School District "A" serves 75 percent of the area in the TID, but only has 40 percent of the TID value . School 


District "B" serves 25 percent of the area in the TID but has 60 percent of the TID value . District "B" chooses the 
JRB member .



https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/8/c





Back to table of contents 25


Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Manual


Wisconsin Department of Revenue


• In the case of a territory amendment, if adding property from one county to an existing TID in a different 
county, the county with the majority value chooses the JRB member . The calculation to determine majority 
value is the existing base value plus the additional parcels' current value .  


C.  JRB Procedures
1.  Organize the JRB 
• When creating a TID, the municipality must send the overlying taxing districts a letter with a copy of the public 


hearing notice (by first class mail before the notice is published) to request a representative to serve on the JRB 
for that TID


• Within 14 days after the public hearing notice is published and before the public hearing for a TID creation, all 
JRB members must be appointed and the first organizational meeting held . At the organizational meeting, the 
members must select a public member and chairperson by majority vote . They may also review details of the 
new TID .


• Any JRB member may request additional JRB meetings or public hearings 
• At all JRB meetings, one of the members must take minutes and record votes . The municipality is responsible 


for keeping these TID records . 
• The municipality must publish a notice for any JRB meeting at least five days before the meeting, under state 


law (ch . 985 and sec . 66 .1105(4m)(e), Wis . Stats .) . This does not apply to town TIDs created under sec . 60 .85, Wis . 
Stats . or Environmental Remediation TIDs created under sec . 66 .1106, Wis . Stats . 


2.  The JRB must approve or deny the resolution
•  After receiving the municipal resolution, the JRB must meet again to vote on the resolution:


»  Within 45 days – City/Village TIDs created under sec . 66 .1105, Wis . Stats . 
» Between 10 days and 45 days – Town TIDs created under sec . 60 .85, Wis . Stats . or Environmental 


Remediation TIDs created under sec . 66 .1106, Wis . Stats .
• The JRB adopts its own resolution to document its decision based on the three criteria required in state law  


3.  After the JRB resolution is adopted
• JRB must respond to municipal officials within seven days of its decision
• If the JRB rejects a resolution, the JRB must explain in writing why the proposal did not meet the decision criteria


D.  JRB Document Review 
The municipality must provide the JRB with specific information under state law (secs . 66 .1105(4)(i), 60 .85(3)(k), 
and 66 .1106(3)(b), Wis . Stats .) . JRB members may request missing or additional information .


1.  Required information the municipality must provide 
• Specific projects and costs, including the amounts expected to be paid by tax increments and the estimated 


tax increments over the life of the TID
• Value increment after project costs are paid and the TID terminates
• Reasons why the property owners benefitting from the improvements within the TID should not pay the project costs
• Share of the projected tax increments estimated to be paid by the property owners in each of the overlying 


taxing jurisdictions
• Benefits the taxpayers will receive to compensate for their share of the projected tax increments



http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/985/01

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/4m/e

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/60/X/85

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/60/X/85

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1106

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/60/X/85

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1106

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/4/i

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/60/X/85/3/k

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1106/3/b

jfriedl

Highlight



jfriedl

Highlight







Back to table of contents 26


Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Manual


Wisconsin Department of Revenue


2.  Additional information the JRB must review (sec. 66.1105(4m)(b)1., Wis. Stats.)
• Public records – copies of the public hearing minutes and notices
• Planning documents – copies of the project plan and signed development agreement, if applicable
• Resolutions – copies of the Planning Commission and municipal resolutions


3.  Additional information the JRB may request
• Economic feasibility study – detailing the projected tax increments and estimates of increased property values
• For multijurisdictional TIDs – copy of the signed intergovernmental agreement created under state law  


(sec . 66 .0301, Wis . Stats .) . The agreement must provide the specific information listed in sec . 66 .1105(18)(b), Wis . Stats .


E.  JRB Decision Criteria
The JRB must make a decision based on the documents and information provided by the municipality and three 
criteria found in state law (secs . 66 .1105(4m)(c), 66 .1106(3)(c), and 60 .85(4)(c), Wis . Stats .) . The JRB must determine 
whether the:
1 . Development expected in the TID would occur without the use of TIF ("but for" requirement)
2 . Economic benefits of the TID, as measured by increased employment, business and personal income and 


property value, are sufficient to compensate for the cost of the improvements
3 . Benefits of the proposal outweigh the anticipated tax increments to be paid by the property owners in the 


overlying taxing jurisdictions


Each criterion is important to ensure the TIF project is beneficial for all taxpayers in the overlying taxing 
jurisdictions . Many consider the first criterion, the "but for" requirement, the most important . "But for" gets its 
name from the phrase, "This development would not happen but for the financial support of TIF ." This means the 
project is not economically viable without the use of TIF to pay for the infrastructure improvements . Review But 
for Requirement for more information .


Questions to consider
1 . Would the expected development occur without ("but for") the use of TIF? Would the development occur if the 


project was scaled back or the timeframe pushed out? Did similar projects proceed without the use of TIF?
2 . Will the development’s economic benefits measured by increased employment, business and personal income 


and property value, compensate for the cost of the improvements?
3 . Do the benefits outweigh the taxes residents of overlying districts are expected to pay?
4 . How does the planned development fit into the overall economic picture in the district? How does the 


development fit with other development in the district? Will the potential businesses benefit the district in the 
long term? How many and what type of jobs will this development create?


5 . How does the TID benefit taxpayers in my district? Is the total expenditure for eligible project costs feasible?  
6 . Is there a better use for the development site, the tax revenue and the limited TIF capacity?
7 . What is the general opinion of my district’s residents on this TID?
8 . How will the planned development affect the demand for services in my district?  Consider items such as:  


increased population, traffic impact, fire and police protection, emergency medical services, water, sewer, 
administrative services, increased student population, demand for training or housing . 


9 . Is the developer receiving a subsidy, such as a cash grant, incentive or forgivable loan? If so, how was the need 
and benefit analyzed? Is there a written developer’s agreement? Was the public informed of the developer’s 
subsidy in the published hearing notice?  


10 . What guarantees are in place to ensure the development will occur as anticipated and the property value will 
increase as expected?



http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/4m/b/1

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/III/0301

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/18/b

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/4m/c

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1106/3/c

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/60/X/85/4/c

jfriedl

Highlight



jfriedl

Highlight



jfriedl

Highlight



jfriedl

Highlight







Back to table of contents 27


Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Manual


Wisconsin Department of Revenue


F.  DOR Review Procedure
Under state law (sec . 66 .1105(4m)(b)4, Wis . Stats .), the JRB may request DOR review the facts contained in the 
documents listed in Additional information the JRB must review .


1.  To request a DOR review
•  Majority of the JRB members must support the request
•  JRB must submit a written request to DOR and must specify which fact or item the members believe is 


inaccurate or incomplete
•  Within 10 working days of receiving a request for review that complies with the filing requirements, DOR will 


investigate the issues raised and send a written response to the JRB
• Review JRB Request for DOR Review for more information


2.  DOR review
• If DOR determines the information does not comply with state law or contains a factual inaccuracy, the JRB may 


request (but may not require) that the municipality correct and resubmit the proposal for review
»  If the municipality resubmits the proposal – the JRB must vote to approve or reject under state law . The 


JRB must submit its decision to the municipality within 10 working days after receiving the resubmitted 
proposal . 


»  If the municipality does not resubmit the proposal – the TID is not certified  
• If DOR does not identify any factual inaccuracies, the JRB must vote to approve or reject as otherwise specified in 


state law . The JRB must submit its decision to the municipality within 10 working days of receiving DOR’s written 
response .


G.  After the JRB approves a TID 
• Municipality sends DOR a request to certify the TID and includes all the required documents . If DOR determines 


procedures were followed, DOR will email the municipality a certification letter .    
• While the TID is active, the JRB must meet yearly to review the annual performance and status of the TID based 


on the annual report (sec . 66 .1105(4m)(f ), Wis . Stats .)


IV.  Wisconsin Department of Revenue Responsibilities


A.  Statutory Responsibilities
The Wisconsin Department of Revenue (DOR) has multiple responsibilities assigned by state law in administering 
Tax Incremental Districts (TIDs) . These duties, include:


1.  Determine property values
Establishing the Equalized Value of property throughout the state is one of DOR's primary responsibilities . 
Equalized Value is an estimate of the total value subject to property tax in a district . DOR calculates the Equalized 
Value independently of the value estimate by the local assessor . DOR uses Equalized Values to calculate a TID's 
base value when it is created and to adjust the base value due to a territory addition or subtraction . For more 
details on determining a Tax Incremental Base, review sec . 66 .1105(2)(j), Wis . Stats .


When certifying a new TID, state law requires DOR to use the most recent Equalized Values as of the creation year . 
Based on the documents provided by the municipality, DOR determines the total Equalized Value of the taxable 
property in the TID . This valuation sets the district's tax incremental base . DOR provides the municipal clerk the 
certification letter with the base value . For more details on TID base certification, review sec . 66  .1105(5)(b), Wis . Stats .



https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/4m/b/4

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/4m/f

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/2/j

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/5/b





Back to table of contents 28


Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Manual


Wisconsin Department of Revenue


For a territory amendment, DOR revises the base value according to the value of the territory added or subtracted . 
When adding territory, DOR uses the Equalized Values as of the amendment year .  When subtracting territory, DOR 
uses the Equalized Values from the year the property was added to the TID . 


DOR also uses Equalized Values to establish the value increment in each subsequent year . For more information on  
establishing a value Increment, review sec . 66 .1105(2)(m), Wis . Stats .


State law limits municipalities' use of TIF based on the Equalized Value . The Equalized Value of taxable property 
of the new or amended district, plus the value increment of all existing districts cannot exceed 12 percent of the 
total Equalized Value of taxable property within the municipality . This is called the "12 percent value limit ." DOR 
posts the TIF Value Limitation Report yearly showing the existing limit calculation for each municipality based on 
existing TID's value increment and municipal Equalized Value . Before adopting a resolution to create or add to a 
district, the local legislative body must calculate the limit percentage using the new or amended TID's value plus 
the most recently reported Equalized Value increment and municipal value .


For more details on the 12 percent value limit, review sec . 66 .1105(4)(gm)4 .c ., Wis . Stats .


2.  Approve TID actions
DOR reviews all TID creation and amendment documents to confirm the municipality followed procedures described 
in state law . This includes publishing notices, holding a public hearing, designating boundaries and adopting 
municipal and Joint Review Board (JRB) resolutions . DOR may not certify the base value of a new or amended TID if a 
municipality does not email DOR all required documents by the deadline . Also, DOR cannot certify the base until 
it confirms the municipality is within the 12 percent value limit . Review the TID Checklist and sec . 66 .1105(4), Wis . 
Stats . for more information . Note: DOR does not review the facts supporting any project plan adopted .


3.  Collect fees
DOR collects a $1,000 fee from municipalities for each resolution adopted to create or amend a TID's boundaries . 
For a territory amendment that both adds and subtracts property, the base value is recalculated twice and DOR 
collects a $2,000 fee . For more information on TID fees, review sec . 66  .1105(5)(a), Wis . Stats .


4.  Calculate annual increment
After the TID number is added to the property on the tax roll, DOR authorizes the allocation of tax increments each 
year . By April 15 each year, the municipal clerk must pay the administrative certification fee ($150 per TID) . When 
the municipality pays this fee, the TID is considered active and DOR calculates the increment for that year . For DOR 
to calculate the increment, the assessor must also e-file the Municipal Assessment Report (MAR) before the second 
Monday in June .


5.  Track notification from municipality
TIF law requires the municipality to notify DOR about TID amendments and terminations within 60 days of the 
adopting the municipal resolution .


 For more information on: 
• Amendment notification – review (sec . 66  .1105(5)(cm), Wis . Stats .), and TID Amendments for the amendment 


process  
• Termination notification – review (sec . 66  .1105(8)(a), Wis . Stats .),  TID Termination and TIF Termination web 


page for the termination process


6.  Review requests for substantial compliance
DOR determines, on case-by-case basis, whether a municipality met substantial compliance when creating or 
amending a TID . Review Substantial Compliance for more information .



http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/2/m

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/Pages/equ/tiflim.aspx

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/4/gm/4/c

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/DORForms/pe-109.pdf

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/4

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/4

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/5/a

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/Pages/OnlineServices/slfiling.aspx

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/5/cm

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/8/a

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/Pages/Form/govtif-tidterm.aspx





Back to table of contents 29


Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Manual


Wisconsin Department of Revenue


7.  Review requests by the JRB
DOR may review specific documents or facts if requested by the JRB . Review JRB Request for DOR Review for more 
information .


8.  Generate reports
Each year DOR must provide the Equalized Value of property in the TID to the officials for the overlying taxing 
jurisdictions . DOR posts this notice annually (approximately September 1) on the TID Certification Report web 
page . DOR also generates other reports to share TID information, including:
•  TID Statement of Changes
•  Apportionment of County Levy
•  Reports – select category "Tax Incremental Financing" for active TIDs, created TIDs, terminated TIDs, and 


amended TIDs


9.  Create TIF Manual and forms
Under state law, DOR creates and updates a TIF Manual to explain the TIF rules and processes . TIF staff revises the 
documents and forms as new legislation is enacted . For more information on the TIF Manual, review  
sec . 73 .03(57), Wis . Stats .


10.  Provide training and education
In addition to providing formal documents and publications, TIF staff is available to answer any questions; email 
questions to tif@wisconsin .gov . Also, use this email address to attach TID documents for new creations and 
amendments . TIF staff also provides information at workshops and conferences . Consultants and professional 
associations may also offer training workshops for TIF users .


DOR uses email to communicate TIF updates, announce updated reports and resources, and provide reminders 
on upcoming deadlines . Subscription to the TID/TIF email list is free and voluntary . Sign up on DOR's website by 
selecting the TID/TIF list and entering your email address . The addresses are only used by DOR to send these emails . 
Users may unsubscribe at any time by following the instructions in each message .


B.  JRB Request for DOR Review
Before the JRB approves a TID creation or amendment, a majority of the JRB members can request that the DOR 
review details from documents the JRB received from the local legislative body (city council, village board or town 
board) . There are limited items subject to this review, and a strict timeline for making decisions . DOR's review can 
provide the JRB with an objective assessment of the facts and documents presented by municipal officials .


Note: DOR only reviews objective facts in hearing documents or resolutions for inconsistencies or factual 
inaccuracies . DOR does not review economic assumptions, eligible project costs, non-project costs, forecasts, 
projections, development estimates or other non-factual items .


Review steps and timeline
After the local legislative body adopts the TID creation or amendment resolution, it forwards the resolution to the JRB 
for consideration . Once received, the JRB must approve or deny the resolution within 45 days . During its deliberations, a 
majority of members may request a formal DOR review under state law (sec . 66 .1105(4m)(b)4, Wis . Stats .) .


1. JRB request – to begin the review process, the JRB must submit a formal request to DOR before the 
deadline for JRB action (45 days after receipt of resolution) . The request must be in writing and include the 
following:
•  Municipality's name and TID number
•  List of JRB members, meeting date, and a record of the vote requesting DOR review (majority of the members 


must support the request)



https://www.revenue.wi.gov/Pages/SLF/tif-TIDCertReport.aspx

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/Pages/SLF/tif-TIDCertReport.aspx

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/Pages/EQU/tidchanges.aspx

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/Pages/EQU/coapprt.aspx

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/Pages/Report/t.aspx#tif

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/73/03/57

mailto:tif%40wisconsin.gov?subject=

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/Pages/HTML/lists.aspx

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/4m/b/4





Back to table of contents 30


Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Manual


Wisconsin Department of Revenue


•  Copy of the documents subject to the review
•  Specifics for DOR to review:


»  Items for completeness
»  Facts for accuracy


Because of the tight deadlines imposed by law, the JRB must provide all documentation with the request that 
impacts the proposal . This ensures DOR has all documents to complete the review . The submission should include 
any information that provides insight into the accuracy of the reviewed document .


2.  DOR review – within 10 working days after receiving the request, DOR will investigate the issues raised and 
will send the JRB a written response
•  If DOR does not identify any inaccuracies during the review – DOR will send its response to the JRB . The JRB 


then has 10 days to submit its decision (approving or denying the TID) to the local legislative body . The JRB 
must make a decision to approve or deny based on the same criteria as if no review was requested .


•  If DOR finds a factual inaccuracy or the proposal does not comply with the statutes – DOR will respond to 
the local legislative body, not to the JRB . The letter will describe the inaccuracy and direct the municipality 
on how to correct the error . The JRB may request, but not require, the municipality to correct the errors and 
resubmit the proposal .
»   If the legislative body decides to resubmit the proposal


- It must do so within 10 days of receiving DOR's letter
- JRB must then act to approve or deny the TID resolution within 10 days of receiving the resubmitted 


proposal
» If the legislative body decides not to resubmit the proposal


-   DOR will not certify the new TID . Any costs already incurred in the TID creation, become the responsibility 
of the municipality .


-   DOR will not approve a TID amendment and the municipality cannot proceed with any action based on 
the amendment


C.  Substantial Compliance
DOR follows specific requirements in TIF law to approve or deny TID creations or amendments . If a municipality 
meets the essential statutory requirements for creating or amending a TID, but missed a certain requirement, then 
the municipality may use the substantial compliance process .


If the municipality did not meet a requirement, it must send a letter to DOR requesting a finding of substantial 
compliance . For DOR to approve the request of substantial compliance, the municipality must show the missed 
requirement does not affect the fairness of the process or the public's ability to participate in the process . Once 
received, DOR reviews the request and decides whether substantial compliance is met . If it is, DOR sends an 
approval letter and the municipality may create or amend the TID as if the law had been followed . For more 
information on substantial compliance, review sec . 66 .1105(15), Wis . Stats .


1.  TIF laws allow a municipality to request a finding of substantial compliance on:
•  Public hearing notices including, failure to:


»  Publish the required notices timely or correctly
»  Include required wording on cash grants or that the project plan is available upon request


•  Failure to:
»  Notify the overlying taxing jurisdictions
»  Notify property owners of a blight or rehabilitation/conservation TID
»  Include all necessary information in the project plan
»  Provide DOR all required documents



http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/15





Back to table of contents 31


Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Manual


Wisconsin Department of Revenue


2.  These requirements are not eligible for a finding of substantial compliance
•  Planning Commission, Municipality or Joint Review Board fails to approve the resolution
•  Required TID documents are not submitted to DOR timely, by:


»  October 31 – creation, territory amendments, or base value redeterminations
»  December 31 – project or allocation amendments


3.  Head of government must submit a formal letter to DOR 
Request must include:
•  Details of the error, including the specific section of the law not followed
•  Explanation of why the error occurred and how the interests of the public were not affected
•  Request for a finding of substantial compliance
•  Description of actions taken to ensure the error does not reoccur


If DOR determines the municipality complied with the law in a way that does not significantly affect the fairness 
of the TID process, then DOR approves the request . The TID approval proceeds as usual . DOR administers a new 
or amended TID certified under the substantial compliance provision in the same way it administers other new or 
amended TIDs .


If DOR determines the error did substantially affect the public, DOR must deny the request . The TID creation or 
amendment cannot proceed .


V.  Considerations for the Municipality


A.  "But For" Requirement
TIF benefits municipalities by encouraging development that would not occur without TIF assistance . This 
standard is called the "but for" requirement . The name comes from the assertion, "The development would 
not occur but for the use of TIF ."  In other words, the proposed development would not happen without 
financial support from TIF . For example, a development may not occur in a certain area because there are not 
enough streets, sidewalks, sewer lines or other types of physical infrastructure . After using TIF to build these 
improvements, the development becomes cost effective and proceeds .


1.  Meeting the "but for" requirement
It is important all local officials understand and can justify the "but for" requirement . When the Planning 
Commission and local legislative body review new developments requesting TIF, they should consider how the 
development could help their municipality and the effect on projected profits for the developer . Review Questions 
to consider for more information . 


The JRB must consider the "but for" requirement before approving a TID creation or amendment . According to TIF 
law, the JRB must base its approval on three criteria listed in state law (sec . 66 .1105 (4m)(c), Wis . Stats .), whether the:
a .  Development expected in the TID would occur without the use of TIF
b .  Economic benefits of the TID, as measured by increased employment, business and personal income and 


property value, are sufficient to compensate for the cost of the improvements
c .  Benefits outweigh the anticipated tax increments to be paid by the owners of the property in the overlying 


taxing districts


The second and third criteria work with the "but for" requirement . Meeting these criteria demonstrate that using 
TIF is justified . JRB members should ask relevant questions and request documentation to confirm claims related 
to the "but for" requirement . They can hold additional public hearings if needed . 



https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/4m/c

jfriedl

Highlight



jfriedl

Highlight







Back to table of contents 32


Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Manual


Wisconsin Department of Revenue


Before JRB members agree to the "but for" criterion, they must have convincing evidence showing the TIF is 
necessary to make the development possible . The members sacrifice some tax revenue for the taxing jurisdiction 
they represent many years into the future . If TIF assistance is not needed before a development proceeds, the JRB 
members should not agree to the "but for" criterion .


2.  What "but for" means
When considering a new development project, there is often considerable risk involved for the developer . As a 
reward for taking the risk, the developer must make a certain profit . Even if the developer expects a profit, it may 
not be large enough to compensate for the risk; therefore, the project may not be worthwhile .


TIF can alter the profit picture by shifting some of the development costs from the developer to the taxpayer  
(ex: a site may require environmental cleanup, which can be costly . If a municipality cleans up the site and pays for 
it with TIF, the developer does not take on this cost) .


Why would a municipality take on expenses and risks to increase the profits of a private developer? The basic 
concept of TIF is that there are some projects the municipality finds desirable, but are not profitable enough 
for private developers . By accepting increased risk and paying for physical improvements in the short-run, the 
municipality will benefit from an increased tax base once the TID terminates . The municipality must evaluate the 
short-term risks and the long-term benefits to determine whether a TIF project is worthwhile . The JRB must also 
agree the long-term benefit is worth the short-term cost .


Examples and why the "but for" requirement is important
1 .  A developer would like to build a strip mall on vacant land near a freeway interchange . The developer requests 


TIF assistance to pay for roads and sewer line connections . The municipality decides not to use TIF, but the 
developer builds the mall anyway . The developer pays for the roads and sewer lines in addition to the cost of 
constructing the building . The property value increases due to the site improvements . This results in increased 
tax revenue for the taxing jurisdictions without using TIF .


2 .  The same scenario but after the municipality decides against using TIF, the developer decides not to proceed 
with the project; the property is not developed and remains vacant . The small tax revenue from the vacant 
land continues to be collected .


3 .  The same scenario but this time the municipal government negotiates with the developer . After the developer 
shows how public funding of some infrastructure will make the project feasible, the municipality approves 
TIF . The vacant land value establishes the TID's base value . Later improvements (ex: construction of the mall) 
increase the value and create the value increment . The tax revenue on the value increment funds the roads 
and sewer lines .


In the first example, the municipality's tax base grows due to private investment . Growth usually occurs this way . 
Due to the growth, the tax levy is distributed over more property value . In the second example, the development 
does not happen because the project is not profitable . The tax base does not grow and the tax levy stays the 
same . In the third example, the development happens using TIF . The municipal taxpayers pay for the infrastructure 
improvements . In the end, the tax base grows, but at the cost of higher tax levies during the TID life .


If a proposed development would occur without TIF, TIF should not be used because it will cost taxpayers more 
than it should for the resulting growth . However, if TIF is used to encourage a development that would not 
otherwise happen, the tax base can be increased . A larger tax base may reduce tax bills . The "but for" requirement 
is critical to this distinction . The "but for" finding means the JRB believes the development will not occur without 
some public assistance . The JRB is approving the use of property tax money, which would otherwise fund its 
taxing district, to generate growth . By encouraging growth, TIF can be a useful tool to increase the tax base and 
control taxes .



jfriedl

Highlight



jfriedl

Highlight



jfriedl

Highlight



jfriedl

Highlight







Back to table of contents 33


Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Manual


Wisconsin Department of Revenue


B.  Risk Factors to Recognize
TIF is one of the most powerful tools available to local governments for encouraging development . Using tax 
revenues to finance certain site improvements encourages growth by attracting development; however, using TIF 
has risks, which include:


1.  Over-investment
One of the most common TIF uses is to fund infrastructure improvements (ex: sewer lines, roads, curbs and 
gutters) that make a site more attractive to business . By enhancing the site with physical improvements, there 
may be fewer costs to locate and start a business . Municipalities are willing to make these investments because 
the private development should expand its tax base . When TIF is used, this growth pays for the infrastructure 
investments that encouraged it .


Municipalities can invest significant amounts of money in infrastructure improvements, hoping growth will 
follow . However, if little or no private development occurs, there may be no tax increment revenue to pay for 
those improvements . If there is no increment revenue, the municipality must use general tax revenue to finance 
improvements . Paying for these costs without a larger tax base, results in higher taxes .


Another risk of over-investing occurs when the site improvements prevent some development types from using 
the site . For example, roads, sewer lines, sidewalks and curbs installed in a TID allow almost any use of available 
land (ex: commercial, residential, industrial) . New buildings; however, may limit the potential uses . In this case, the 
improvements meant to attract development could actually prevent it .


Municipalities can avoid over-investing by planning improvements in stages based on the TID's location or the 
amount of money they wish to invest . When using this approach, one area is improved and development occurs 
before moving to the next phase . Part of the TID grows before all the improvements are made . Each phase's 
development generates value increment, resulting in tax dollars to pay for the next phase of improvements . The 
phased approach encourages a steady growth rate and prevents the municipality from spending too much money 
before it is certain the development will occur .


Important
TID project plans can be amended unlimited times during the TID's expenditure period . The TID boundaries 
can be changed up to four times . Using these amendments allow for flexibility in planning, which can reduce 
development risks . Review TID Amendments for more information on the amendment process .


2.  Under-investment
The opposite of over-investing is not improving the site enough to attract development . If a site does not have any 
improvements, businesses may not find it attractive to locate there . If a municipality is too cautious using TIF to 
finance improvements, the expected development may not occur .


A coordinated approach may reduce this risk . Rather than waiting for large growth to ensure payment for the site 
improvements, coordinating important investments with sizable development ensures the growth and investment 
happen together . A well-written project plan and a phased approach to development help make a TID successful .


3.  Dislocation
Municipalities might create TIDs to encourage the growth of a new retail or commercial district . These TIDs can use 
large sections of vacant land near the edge of town or highway intersections . This may be a good way to add to 
the non-residential tax base .


When a municipality already has a large retail area, it must consider how a new commercial development will 
affect existing businesses . For example, a new strip mall along a major highway may increase tax revenues and 
take advantage of a prime location . However, if the municipality has a downtown or main street corridor, the new 



jfriedl

Highlight



jfriedl

Highlight



jfriedl

Highlight



jfriedl

Highlight



jfriedl

Highlight







Back to table of contents 34


Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Manual


Wisconsin Department of Revenue


development could reduce the retail business there . If using TIF damages existing businesses, the property value 
decreases may offset the property increases in the TID resulting in no net growth for the municipality .


A municipality must also consider the impact of its new development on neighboring communities . Individual 
municipalities create their own TIDs, but their decisions may affect surrounding communities . Municipalities 
should work together to increase growth and development . JRBs which include county, school, technical college 
and other representatives, should share concerns on how using TIF may impact each jurisdiction .


4.  Excess growth
State law limits how much property municipalities can have in TIDs at one time . This restriction is the "12 percent 
value limit ." The total value increment for all existing TIDs divided by the total Equalized Value of the municipality 
cannot exceed 12 percent . When a municipality reaches this limit, it cannot create any new TIDs and cannot add 
property to any existing TIDs .


A well-planned TID may create significant new growth, which results in substantial increment revenue, allowing 
many projects or making costly projects feasible . The risk for a successful TID is having so much growth in the TID 
that the municipality exceeds the 12 percent limit . A fast growing TID in a small community could contain over  
12 percent of the municipality’s value after just a few years .


Example:  Village of Beta has a total Equalized Value of $1,000,000 . To encourage growth, it creates an industrial 
TID made up of vacant land . As growth begins, the property value increases . When the TID's value increment 
exceeds $120,000, the Village will pass the 12 percent limit .


Once the municipality reaches the limit, it cannot create any new TIDs until it terminates a TID or subtracts some 
property to reduce the value increment .


To avoid this risk, a municipality may plan a smaller TID, resulting in smaller value increment . The municipality can 
also create TIDs likely to generate development outside the TID . That way property values grow both inside and 
outside the TID, maintaining stable TIF capacity . The municipality can also remove some land from a TID to reduce 
the municipality’s TIF usage . Using other incentives to encourage growth outside of TIDs can also help avoid this risk .


5.  Impacts of growth
Using TIF to attract development can be a powerful way to expand the tax base . Municipalities must plan TIF 
development carefully to ensure it fits the community's overall composition . In Wisconsin, communities create 
"comprehensive plans" which describe growth expectations . TIF can help generate growth, but without careful 
preparation, TIF may actually work against the comprehensive plan . For example, a municipality designates 
an area for residential development; however, an industry wants to use TIF to expand in that area . Expanding 
industrial use may make the area less attractive for residential development . Municipalities should anticipate these 
effects when creating TIDs .


Another impact of growth municipalities must consider is increased demand on services (ex: emergency 
responders, police and fire protection, traffic, trash, water, schools and housing) . The comprehensive plan should 
address these development impacts . For example, if the plan includes a large residential development, it must 
also address the increased demands on public schools as more families move into the district . Jobs are also an 
important factor to consider . New residents will not move to a new residential development without jobs in the 
area . Therefore, municipalities must consider the growth within the TID and outside the TID as a whole .


6.  Political risks
The municipality's elected officials are responsible for creating TIDs, so the public may hold them accountable 
for any unfavorable outcomes . This makes planning the TID particularly important . TIF law requires one public 
hearing, but with a controversial proposal, additional hearings may be worthwhile . The Planning Commission, 
local legislative body, or JRB can hold hearings . These hearings allow additional opportunities for public input and 



jfriedl

Highlight



jfriedl

Highlight



jfriedl

Highlight



jfriedl

Highlight



jfriedl

Highlight







Back to table of contents 35


Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Manual


Wisconsin Department of Revenue


for those opposed to make their case . Ultimately, the elected leaders decide what action to take, but hearing from 
their constituents may help them make a better decision .


7.  Development risks
A TID's success depends on the amount of growth and private development . When the expected growth does 
not occur, the municipality must pay for the improvements with general-purpose tax revenue . This may result in a 
higher tax levy .


Municipalities can use development agreements to reduce risk . These agreements establish the municipality's 
and developer's expectations for the development itself and the timeframe . Some development agreements 
include a "look back" clause requiring periodic review of the developer's progress compared to specific project 
requirements . These clauses may require assessment of the development generated compared to TIF costs spent . 
Other provisions can:


•  Limit the profit a developer makes on the subsidized development (with surplus profits going to the municipality)
•  Require specific property uses within the TID
• Require a minimum property value
•  Require the developer pay some project costs if the development does not proceed as expected


If both parties agree to the development terms in advance, it decreases the chance of a conflict later .


C.  Intergovernmental Agreements
1.  Boundary agreements
Growth near municipal borders can strain relations between municipalities because development affects 
surrounding areas . Issues including, cost of servicing the new growth, increased pollution or traffic, effects on the 
housing market and on public schools, and other complicated matters can create problems .


Municipalities can use boundary agreements to manage their growth in cooperation with each other . Two or more 
neighboring municipalities may use a boundary agreement to arrange for providing services, plan for a future 
annexation, or document a tax sharing agreement .


By partnering to address issues in a boundary agreement, local leaders may be able to prevent problems . 
Solutions, such as collaborative services (where one municipality provides services to another at a negotiated 
price), tax sharing, annexation agreements, border freezes, and cooperative development can be explored .
Each solution is unique to the issue facing the specific municipalities . Municipalities interested in using boundary 
agreements can consult the Wisconsin Department of Administration or the University of Wisconsin Cooperative 
Extension .


There are two types of TIDs that require special agreements:
• Cooperative TIDs – require municipal officials to sign a boundary agreement
• Multijurisdictional TIDs – allow two or more cities to enter into an intergovernmental cooperation agreement 


under state law (sec . 66  .0301, Wis . Stats .), to create a TID


2.  Cooperative TIDs
State law (sec . 66 .1105(16), Wis . Stats .), governs Cooperative TIDs .  These TIDs are meant for towns with development 
needs more like those of a city . A Cooperative TID allows a town that signs a boundary agreement with a neighboring 
city or village to exercise City/Village TIF powers following sec . 66 .1105, Wis . Stats . This means the town can create 
additional TID types not usually available to towns, including industrial, mixed-use, rehabilitation/conservation, 
blight and environmental remediation . The same rules and timelines required to create a TID under sec . 66  .1105, Wis . 
Stats ., apply to a Cooperative TID .



https://doa.wi.gov/Pages/LocalGovtsGrants/BoundaryAgreements.aspx

https://lgc.uwex.edu/intergovernmental-cooperation/

https://lgc.uwex.edu/intergovernmental-cooperation/

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/III/0301

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/16

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105

jfriedl

Highlight







Back to table of contents 36


Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Manual


Wisconsin Department of Revenue


Note: A cooperative TID can only be created in a town that shares a border with a city or village . Without that 
common border, a boundary agreement cannot be signed .


Along with the other forms, hearings and resolutions, a Cooperative TID also requires the:
• Town to enter into a cooperative plan with a city/village, under sec . 66 .0307, Wis . Stats . In this plan the city/


village agrees to annex all or part of the town in the future .
• City/village that is annexing the town to adopt a resolution approving the creation of the Cooperative TID
• Cooperative TID to be completely within the territory that will be annexed by the city or village


Cooperative TIDs have the same lifetime, expenditure period, reporting requirements and audits as other TIDs 
created in a city/village under sec . 66  .1105, Wis . Stats . Review TID Details for more information .


After the city/village annexes the land in a Cooperative TID, the city/village must administer the 
TID according to the requirements in sec. 66.1105, Wis. Stats. 
The TID also has these conditions (sec . 66 .1105(6), Wis . Stats .):
•  Creation date is the date the town originally adopted the resolution creating the TID
•  Project plan is the plan approved by the town when the TID was created


3.  Multijurisdictional TIDs
State law (sec . 66 .1105(18), Wis . Stats .), governs Multijurisdictional TIDs . The TIDs created under this section are 
the only ones that can be created in more than one municipality . Some cities would be better able to meet 
development needs if they could collaborate with other cities . A Multijurisdictional TID allows two or more cities 
that enter into an intergovernmental cooperative agreement to create a joint TID .


The same rules/timelines for a TID created under sec. 66.1105, Wis. Stats., apply to a 
Multijurisdictional TID.
Multijurisdictional TID must also follow these requirements:
•  Two or more cities must enter into an intergovernmental cooperation agreement under sec . 66 .0301, Wis . Stats . 


Each city participating in the agreement must border at least one parcel in one of the other cities .
•  TID's borders must contain territory in all of the cities that are part of the agreement
•  District's area must be contiguous


a.  Intergovernmental cooperation agreement must contain:
1 .  Description of how the participating cities will meet the requirements of sec . 66 .1105, Wis . Stats ., and exercise 


the authorized powers
2 .  Description of how decisions will be made related to incurring debt, spending funds for project costs, and 


distributing positive tax increments allocated by the Wisconsin Department of Revenue (DOR)
3 .  Description of which city will be authorized by the other participating cities to act on behalf of the other cities 


on some or all matters relating to the district
4 .  Binding dispute resolution procedure  the cities will use to resolve any disputes, including provisions allowing 


the cities to dissolve the district
5 .  Description of the proposed membership for the Joint Review Board
6 .  Description of the responsibilities for each city's Planning Commission, the membership and authority of the 


TID's Planning Commission, and the operating procedures of the TID's Planning Commission
7 .  Description of the responsibilities for each city's clerk, treasurer, assessor, and any other official carrying out 


the TIF law requirements, and which clerk, treasurer, assessor, or official will be responsible for each task 
specified in the law


8 .  Agreement on which city will be the lead city responsible for completing any documents or tasks
9 .  Agreement that the lead city will submit all the TID's documents at one time



https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/III/0307

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/6

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/18

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/III/0301

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/III/0301

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105





Back to table of contents 37


Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Manual


Wisconsin Department of Revenue


10 .  Statement that the entire TID will terminate at one time (as a single entity) and that the lead city will submit all 
necessary termination notices and reports to DOR


11 . Detailed description of the procedures participating cities will follow to determine:
a .  When the TID's life may be extended
b .  How the project plan or boundaries can be amended
c .  How any annexation costs incurred will be shared


b.  Limitations – Multijurisdictional TID may not:
• Become a donor district or receive tax increments from a donor district
• Incur project costs for any area outside the TID's boundaries
• Cause any participating municipality to exceed the 12 percent value limit . The 12 percent limit applies to 


all cities that are part of a Multijurisdictional TID . The total base value of the Multijurisdictional TID plus the 
existing value increment for TIDs in an individual municipality divided by that municipality's Equalized Value 
equals the value limit percent .
»  Exception – when an individual municipality exceeds the 12 percent limit, if the governing bodies of all 


overlying taxation districts for that municipality each adopt a resolution approving the TID's creation even 
though that city exceeds the 12 percent limit, the TID may be created under sec . 66 .1105(18)(c)3 ., Wis . Stats .


Multijurisdictional TIDs have the same lifetime, expenditure period, reporting, and audit requirements as TIDs 
created under sec . 66 .1105, Wis . Stats . Review TID Details for more information .


4.  Comprehensive plan
Long-term growth in a community is often facilitated by creating a comprehensive plan . Growing communities 
should consider the need for a comprehensive plan to help direct growth . State law outlines the necessary parts of 
a comprehensive plan in sec . 66 .1001(2), Wis . Stats . These include housing, transportation, economic development 
and intergovernmental cooperation .


D.  Effects on Overlying Taxing Jurisdictions
Although cities, villages and towns create TIDs, other overlying taxing jurisdictions participate in financing a 
TID . Counties, school districts, technical college districts, metropolitan sewer/town sanitary districts and lake 
protection/rehabilitation districts all provide TIF through their property taxes . Officials in these districts should 
understand how the use of TIF in their districts affect tax collections . Review How TIF Works for more information .


1.  Effects on all overlying taxing jurisdictions
• Creating a TID may result in larger levies in the short term due to the tax increment 
• The TID's property value increase is removed from the Equalized Value of the district for tax apportionment 


purposes 
» As a result, the tax rate for all residents of the district is the same  
» This also contributes to replacing the revenue that would have been generated by that portion of the 


property value
• The TID's value increment is used to calculate the tax increment and pay for TID improvements
• The tax levy may be reduced over the long term if the TID creates development that would not have happened 


without using TIF 
• When the TID closes, the larger tax base may reduce taxes on residents of the overlying taxing jurisdictions


2.  District specific information
• A large part of tax increment revenue comes from the school levy . In most areas, the school levy represents the 


largest portion of the property tax bill . 
• School districts, technical colleges and county governments receive property taxes and state aid   



http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/18/c/3

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/X/1001/2





Back to table of contents 38


Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Manual


Wisconsin Department of Revenue


• Special taxing jurisdictions created for certain purposes, such as lake protection and rehabilitation, sewer 
management, and sanitary services do not receive state aid and depend entirely on their taxable property to 
generate revenue


 Note: Although the municipality creating a TID must notify any affected special districts, these special districts 
do not have a representative on the Joint Review Board . 


VI.  Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Glossary


A.  TIF vs. TID
It is important to understand the difference between these two terms:


TIF – Tax Incremental Financing; an economic development technique available for municipalities to expand its 
property tax base, where the development would not occur without public assistance


TID – Tax Increment District; the contiguous geographical area within a municipality identified for development 
using Tax Incremental Financing . A TID consists of whole units of property assessed for general property tax 
purposes not including railroad right of ways, rivers or highways, or wetlands (sec . 23 .32, Wis . Stats .) .


B. Other Terms and Concepts
Affordable housing – housing that costs a household no more than 30 percent of the household's gross 
income . A municipality may extend the life of a TID which has paid project costs up to one year if it uses 75 percent 
of the final increment on affordable housing .  


Amendment – general category for types of changes to a TID . All amendments must be submitted to the Wisconsin 
Department of Revenue (DOR) for approval . Review TID Amendments for details .
•  Allocation – transferring an identified amount of increment funds from one TID (donor TID) to help pay the 


costs of another TID (recipient TID) . 
•  Project plan – a change to the TID project plan . The change may add projects, modify eligible costs, change 


financial plans, add cash grants, or half-mile radius option .
•  Territory – a change to the area or boundary of a TID . Territory may be added or subtracted up to four times 


during the life of a TID . The TID boundaries must remain contiguous .
•  Base value redetermination – a reduction of the TID's base value . To qualify, the TID's Equalized Value must be 


at least 10 percent below the current base value of the TID for two consecutive years .


Annexation – the transition of land from the control of one entity to another . In relation to TIF law, this usually 
refers to town territory annexed by a city or village . After January 1, 2004, annexed land cannot be included in a 
new TID or added to an existing TID, unless one of the following applies:


•  At least three years passed since the annexation occurred
•  City/village enters into a cooperative boundary agreement with the town
•  City/village and town enter into an agreement where the city/village pledges to pay the town an amount equal 


to the property taxes levied on the annexed territory for each of the next five years


Base value – the total value, as equalized by DOR, of the real and personal property located within the TID as of 
the valuation date .



https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/23/32





Back to table of contents 39


Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Manual


Wisconsin Department of Revenue


Blighted area – areas in a damaged condition . TIF Law provides two specific meanings for the designation of 
blight . Neither definition includes any open land developed only for agricultural purposes:


•  Definition 1: An area in which the structures, buildings or improvements contribute to ill health, transmission 
of disease, infant mortality, juvenile delinquency, or crime and are detrimental to the public health, safety, 
morals or welfare, due to dilapidation, deterioration, age or obsolescence, inadequate provision for ventilation, 
light air, sanitation or open spaces, high density population and overcrowding, or the existence of conditions 
which endanger life or property by fire and other causes


•  Definition 2: An area which is predominantly open and which consists primarily of an abandoned highway 
corridor as defined in sec . 66 .1333(2m)(a), Wis . Stats . or that consists of land on which buildings or structures 
have been demolished and because of obsolete platting, diversity of ownership, deterioration of structures or 
of site improvements, substantially impairs the sound growth of the community


Boundary agreement – an agreement between two adjoining municipalities about their cooperation 
regarding issues such as land use, services, revenues, or boundaries . This type of agreement allows territory 
annexed from a town after January 1, 2004 to be included in a TID even if three years have not passed since 
the annexation . Sec . 66 .0307, Wis . Stats ., provides for the boundary agreement mentioned in TIF Law . Review 
Intergovernmental Agreements for more information .


Cash grants – payments made from tax increments to owners, lessees or developers of property included in a 
signed development agreement .


Class 1 notice – legal announcement of a meeting or hearing following ch . 985, Wis . Stats . This notice requires 
one publication at least seven days before the event . The public notice must be published in a newspaper likely to 
notify the people or place affected by the TID . The notice must say when, where and for what purpose the meeting 
or hearing is being held . Public hearings regarding any type of TID amendment require a Class 1 Notice; however, 
all Joint Review Board (JRB) meetings regarding the TID require notice at least five days before the meeting .


Class 2 notice – legal announcement of a meeting or hearing following ch . 985, Wis . Stats . This notice requires 
two publications, one in each of two consecutive weeks with the last published at least seven days before the 
event . The public notice must be published in a newspaper likely to notify the people or place affected by the 
TID . The notice must say when, where and for what purpose the meeting or hearing will be held . Public hearings 
regarding the creation of a TID require a Class 2 Notice .


Contiguous – geographically connected or sharing a border . All parcels in a TID must be contiguous .  


Creation – the process of identifying a contiguous geographic area targeted for development and submitting an 
application requesting DOR designate it as a TID .


Creation date – the date the municipality adopts the creation resolution for the TID . The creation date 
determines the maximum life and the beginning of the expenditure period . Only costs related to planning for the 
TID can be incurred before the creation date .


Creation resolution – the municipality's formal document approving the TID . This document must contain 
specific information about the TID . Review the Resolution Checklist for details on content .


Current value – the total equalized value of the real and personal property in the TID as of January 1 of the 
current year, certified annually on approximately September 1 .


Decrement situation – when the aggregate value, as equalized by DOR, of all taxable property within the TID is 
at least 10 percent less than the base value for two consecutive years .



https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XIII/1333/2m/a

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/III/0307

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/985/

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/985/

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/DORForms/pe-222.pdf





Back to table of contents 40


Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Manual


Wisconsin Department of Revenue


Distressed TID – designation in the TIF law that allowed a TID more time to pay off project costs . This 
designation ended September 30, 2015 . Distressed TIDs added 10 years to their maximum life .


District type – one of five categories of TIDs . The creation resolution must declare the TID type . The five TID 
types include: blighted, rehabilitation or conservation, industrial, mixed-use, and environmental remediation . The 
declaration is based on the type of land that makes up 50 percent of the area in the TID .


Environmental pollution – the contaminating or rendering unclean or impure the air, land or waters, or 
causing damage or harm to public health, fish, bird, animal or plant life, or harmful for commercial or recreational 
use . (sec . 299 .01(4), Wis . Stats .)


Environmental Remediation district – a TID with significant environmental pollution . Before creating an 
Environmental Remediation TID, the municipality must obtain certification of the site investigation report by the 
Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources . In the report, the municipality must describe the pollution, how it 
will be cleaned up, costs and a timeframe for the clean-up .


Equalized value – the DOR process of creating a uniform value for all general property in the state . Equalized 
property value is based on 100 percent of market value .


Expenditure – the exchange of money for the delivery of goods or services . No TID expenditures may be made 
before the adoption of the municipal resolution, except for costs directly related to planning for the TID . TIF law 
lists eligible expenditures:


a . Capital costs – such as public works; new buildings or structures; demolition, remodeling, repair or 
reconstruction of existing buildings; environmental remediation; and the clearing of land


b .  Financing costs – including interest paid to bond holders and premiums paid for early redemption of bonds


c . Property assembly costs – meaning a deficit incurred due to the sale or lease of land within a TID for less than 
its cost to the municipality


d .  Professional services – such as planning, architectural, engineering, accounting, consulting, legal advice and 
services


e .  Administrative costs – for municipal employees' time directly related to creating the TID or time spent 
implementing the TID project plan


f .  Relocation costs – including relocation payments made following condemnation under sec . 32 .19, Wis . Stats .


g .  Organizational costs – related to environmental impact statements and public notices


h .  Payments – to a town for property taxes on annexed land included in a TID


i .  Portion of major infrastructure projects – inside or outside the TID that will serve the land in the TID  
(ex: water tower, sewer or water treatment plant)


j .  Removal or containment of lead contamination – in buildings or infrastructure that the municipality 
declares a public health concern


k .   Developing newly-platted residential areas in a mixed-use TID – when the residential development meets 
certain qualifications


l . Cash grants – if a development agreement is signed


m .  Fees to DOR – to certify the base or value increment of a TID



http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/299/01/4

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/32/I/19





Back to table of contents 41


Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Manual


Wisconsin Department of Revenue


Expenditure period – the time during the life of the TID when expenses may be incurred to implement the 
approved projects . The maximum expenditure period for all districts (except Environmental Remediation districts 
created before November 29, 2017) ends five years before the unextended maximum life of the TID . Environmental 
Remediation TIDs created before November 29, 2017, have a 15-year expenditure period .


TID Expenditure Period


TID Type Maximum Expenditure Period


Any before October 1, 1995 22 years


Blight or Rehabilitation/Conservation after October 1, 1995 22 years


Industrial after October 1, 1995 but before October 1, 2004 18 years


Industrial or mixed-use on or after October 1, 2004 15 years


Environmental Remediation before November 29, 2017 15 years


Environmental Remediation on or after November 29, 2017 22 years


Extension – requesting extra time for the TID . This extends the TID maximum life . Review TID Extensions for 
details on obtaining an extension .


Three extension types:
1 .  Affordable housing extension – an extension of up to 12 months to the TID maximum life when the final 


increment is used to improve housing . The municipality must use 75 percent of the increment to improve 
affordable housing . The municipality must adopt a resolution approving the extension and email a copy to 
DOR .


2 .  Standard extension – a non-specific statutory extension . The length of the extension depends on the type of 
district (review TID Criteria Matrix for details) . The JRB must approve this extension and the municipality must 
email a copy of the approval to DOR .


3 .  Technical college extension – a three-year extension to the TID maximum life when the TID's increment was 
negatively impacted by 2013 Wisconsin Act 145 . The JRB must approve this extension and the municipality 
must email a copy of the approval to DOR .


Increment – see Tax increment or Value increment


Industrial district – TID with more than 50 percent of land suitable for industrial sites . Any real property within 
an industrial type TID that is zoned for industrial use must remain zoned for industrial use for the life of the TID .


Ineligible project costs – expenses that may not be paid for with the tax increment revenue . TIF law identifies 
the following ineligible project costs:
•  Constructing or expanding administrative, police and fire buildings, libraries, schools, recreation and 


community buildings, unless they were destroyed before January 1, 1997 by a natural disaster
•  Constructing any building or facility if the municipality generally finances similar facilities only with utility user fees
•  General government operating expenses unrelated to the planning or implementation of the project plan
•  Cash grants made by the municipality to owners, lessees, or developers of land within the TID, unless the 


recipient has signed a development agreement with the municipality . The muncipality must send a copy of the 
agreement to the JRB or, if the TID terminated, retain the agreement in the official records of the TID .



https://www.revenue.wi.gov/DOR%20Publications/tif-trix.pdf

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/2013/related/acts/145.pdf





Back to table of contents 42


Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Manual


Wisconsin Department of Revenue


Joint Review Board (JRB) – a committee with members representing the overlying taxing jurisdictions 
responsible for approving or denying the creation or amendment of a TID . When creating a TID the municipality must 
create a standing JRB to vote on all TID actions and review the TID Annual Report . The standing JRB must continue 
until all the TIDs within the municipality terminate . Review Joint Review Board for more information .


Lands proposed for newly platted residential use – state law does not define the phrase "lands proposed 
for newly platted residential use ." A "plat" is a map of a subdivision . "Newly platted" refers to land that has 
not been previously subdivided or is currently subject to a replat as defined in sec . 236 .02(11), Wis . Stats . The 
word "residential" commonly means relating to a place where people live . When reviewing a project plan, DOR 
considers the current use, or zoning, and the future use, or zoning, as indicators of whether an area consists of 
"lands proposed for newly platted residential use ." An example of "lands proposed for newly platted residential 
use" would be subdividing a farm field for housing . Under state law, increment revenue may only be spent 
on newly platted residential development in a mixed-use TID if the TID includes less than 35 percent of lands 
proposed for newly platted residential use and if one of the following applies:
•  Density of the residential housing is at least three units per acre
•  Residential housing is located in a conservation subdivision, as defined in sec . 66 .1027(1)(a), Wis . Stats .
•  Residential housing is located in a traditional neighborhood development, as defined in sec . 66 .1027(1)(c), Wis . Stats .


Local legislative body – municipal governing body responsible for administering local government (ex: the 
village/town board, city council or common council) . This body must adopt a resolution to create, amend, or 
terminate a TID; or extend the TID's life for affordable housing .


Mixed-use district – TID with a combination of residential, commercial, and industrial uses . Mixed-use TIDs can 
only include lands proposed for newly platted residential use if they do not exceed 35 percent, by area, of the real 
property in the TID and the residential development meets other qualifications .


Multijurisdictional district – TID created by two or more cities that have entered into an intergovernmental 
cooperation agreement under sec . 66 .0301, Wis . Stats ., which addresses the provisions required by sec . 66 .1105(18)
(b), Wis . Stats .


Municipality – a city, village or town .


Non-project costs – project expenses that are not eligible for TIF increment funds or that are paid for with other 
types of revenue, such as a grant . Any non-project costs in the TID must be detailed in the project plan .


Overlap – when the boundary of one TID covers another existing TID's boundaries .


Overlying taxing jurisdiction – school districts, county governments, technical college districts and other 
special districts (ex: sanitary districts, sewer districts or lake rehabilitation districts) . The tax increment generated 
by the levies of each of these jurisdictions is collected by the municipality that manages the TID to pay for the 
approved project costs . A representative from the county, municipality, school and technical college districts 
serves on the JRB .


Planning Commission – a committee that creates and adopts a master plan for physical development of the 
municipality as specified in sec . 62 .23, Wis . Stats . If a municipality does not have a Planning Commission, a board 
of public land commissioners or the planning committee may serve this role . Steps assigned to the Planning 
Commission under TIF law may be carried out by the Redevelopment or Community Development Authority of 
the municipality .



https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/236/I/02/11

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/X/1027/1/a

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/X/1027/1/c

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/66.0301

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/18/b

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/XI/1105/18/b

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/62.23





Back to table of contents 43


Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Manual


Wisconsin Department of Revenue


Project costs – any expenditure planned or made that can be paid for with tax increment revenue . DOR does 
not make decisions on the eligibility of specific project costs . Each municipality must consult with its legal and 
accounting advisors to decide whether a project or specific cost is eligible under TIF law .


Project plan – a document explaining the financial details and development plans for the TID .


Public hearing – the presentation of the TID project plan before the Planning Commission where the 
community may voice its opinion on the TID . As part of creating or amending a TID, the Planning Commission 
must hold a public hearing and make copies of the project plan available .


Rehabilitation or conservation work – to restore, preserve or repair . Defined for the purposes of TIF law in 
sec . 66 .1337, Wis . Stats ., rehabilitation and conservation includes any of the following (these descriptions do not 
override the restrictions on project costs defined above):
•  Operating a program of voluntary or compulsory repair and rehabilitation of buildings or other improvements
•  Acquisition of real property and demolition; removal or rehabilitation of buildings and improvements on 


the property to eliminate unhealthful, unsanitary or unsafe conditions, lessen density, reduce traffic hazards, 
eliminate uses detrimental to the public welfare, remove or prevent the spread of blight or deterioration, or 
provide land for needed public facilities


•  Installation, construction or reconstruction of streets, utilities, parks, playgrounds, and other improvements 
necessary for the objectives of an urban renewal project


•  The disposition of any property acquired in the area of the project for uses meeting the objectives of the urban 
renewal project


Severely distressed TID – designation in the TIF law that allowed a TID more time to pay off project costs . This 
designation ended September 30, 2015 . Severely Distressed TIDs were allowed a maximum life of 40 years from 
the creation date .


Substantial compliance – when the essential (substantial) requirements of the statutes are met even though 
the formal requirements were not . When creating or amending a TID, if the municipality does not meet certain 
requirements, the municipality may submit a written request asking DOR to find substantial compliance . This 
means that despite certain errors, a TID may be created because the error did not affect the fairness of the process 
or the public's ability to participate in the process . This process allows DOR more flexibility when approving TIDs .


Tax base – the total of all equalized real and personal property in an entire municipality or taxing jurisdiction on 
which property taxes are levied .


Tax increment – the taxes levied by all overlying taxing jurisdictions on the value between the base value and 
the current value of the TID . The municipality that manages the TID uses these taxes to pay for the approved 
project costs . Review the TID Creation Timeframes for information on when increments begin for a new creation . 
Review TID Termination Timeframes for information on when increments end for a termination .


Termination – the process of ending a TID . This process includes adopting a resolution, notifying DOR, 
completing the final audit and filing the appropriate documents with DOR . After the tax increments collected 
exceed project costs or the TID reaches its maximum life, it must terminate . If the municipality terminates a TID 
and there is remaining debt then it becomes the municipality's responsibility . Review TID Termination and  TID 
Termination Timeframes for more information .


Valuation date – January 1 of the year the TID is created or amended . The valuation year is the same as the 
creation year .  The date the municipality adopts the creation or amendment resolution determines the valuation/
creation year . Review the TID Creation Timeframes to determine the creation year .



https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/66.1337

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/Documents/tif-creation-table.pdf

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/Documents/tif-termination-table.pdf

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/Documents/tif-termination-table.pdf

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/Documents/tif-termination-table.pdf

https://www.revenue.wi.gov/Documents/tif-creation-table.pdf





Back to table of contents 44


Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Manual


Wisconsin Department of Revenue


Value increment – the difference in value between the base value and the current value of the TID . This is the 
amount of property value that can be attributed to the TIF investment used to generate the tax increment that 
pays for the investment .


Value limit – a way to determine if the municipality can create a TID . The value of taxable property in the new TID 
plus the value increment of existing TIDs divided by the total municipal equalized value cannot exceed 12 percent . 
This limit also applies when adding territory .


VII.  Resources/Contact Information
For more Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) information:
• Visit  TIF Information on our website
• Contact us at tif@wisconsin .gov or (608) 266-7750



https://www.revenue.wi.gov/Pages/SLF/tif.aspx

mailto:tif%40wisconsin.gov?subject=





City of Stoughton Policy  
for the Creation of Tax Incremental Finance Districts  


and the Approval of TIF Projects. 
 
1. Purpose.  This policy has been prepared to assist the City in determining whether to 


create a Tax Incremental Finance District, and in determining whether to approve 
the use of Tax Incremental Financing for particular projects.  The authority to 
approve the use of Tax Incremental Financing is vested solely in the City Council.  
The City reserves the right to reject any and all projects, including projects that are 
eligible for the use of Tax Incremental Financing, for any reason or no reason.  The 
City Council reserves the right to approve or disapprove any project as it deems 
appropriate. 
 


2. General Goals for the use of Tax Incremental Financing.  The City may consider 
whether a TIF District or a TIF project serves one or more of the following general 
goals when deciding whether to create a TIF District, or whether to provide TIF 
financing for a particular project: 
 
A. Eliminate blighting influences, redevelop underutilized lands, and provide 


suitable sites for industrial, commercial or residential development. 
B. Achieve or accelerate development on sites that would not be developed 


without the use of Tax Incremental Financing. 
C. Increase employment opportunities in the City. 
D. Increase the tax base for the City and other taxing jurisdictions. 
E. Assists implementation of the City’s Comprehensive Plan. 
F. Provide affordable housing opportunities. 
G. Encourage unsubsidized private development in the City. 
 


3. TIF District Creation. 
 
A. TIF Districts will be created in accordance with the procedures and standards 


in Wis. Stat. § 66.1105, and as such statute may be amended.  (See Appendix 
A - Department of Revenue TIF Creation Checklist).   


B. The City Council may, in individual cases, expand the process for creating a 
TIF District in such manner as it deems appropriate.   


 
4. TIF Project Approval.  All TIF projects must be approved by the City Council, 


following review and report by the Finance Committee.  The Finance Director shall 
provide a report to the Finance Committee and the City Council addressing the 
following issues, which shall be considered by the Finance Committee and City 
Council before approving any TIF project: 


 
A. Is the project authorized by the Project Plan for the TIF District? 







B. Does the project serve one or more of the City’s general goals for the use of 
TIF? 


C. Is Tax Incremental Financing feasible, in that the TIF District will support 
the level of TIF investment? 


D. Is the amount of Tax Increment Financing requested reasonably necessary to 
make the project financially viable? 


E. Should a development agreement be required, and what terms should be 
included in the agreement? 


F. Is more process (such as additional public hearings or a referendum) 
appropriate? 


G. Will the potential developer’s equity in the project exceed 10%? 
H. Will the ratio of equity to assistance be at least equal (1 X Equity = or > 


Assistance)? 
I. Such other factors as either the Finance Committee or the City Council deem 


appropriate. 
 


5. Permissive Referendum.  Before the City may issue bonds or otherwise borrow 
funds that will be payable over more than 10 years to fund a TIF project, the City 
Council must first adopt a resolution declaring its intent to borrow the funds.  If a 
number of electors of the city equal to at least 15% of the of the votes cast for 
governor at the last general election in the city sign and file a petition conforming 
to the requirements of Wis. Stat. § 8.40 with the city clerk requesting submission of 
the resolution, the City may not issue bonds or borrow funds for financing the TIF 
project without calling a special election to submit the question of bonding or 
borrowing to the city electors for their approval.  
 


6. Negotiations.  City staff and the city attorney will negotiate development 
agreements within the parameters established by the City Council, and subject to 
final approval by the City Council.   
 
It should be noted that “pay-as-you-go” is the preferred TIF financing mechanism 
of the City Council to help reduce the financial exposure of the City. Under this 
financing method the developer pays the upfront costs of the project. The City 
would then establish the criteria to fully or partially reimburse the developer using 
future tax increment. 
 


7. Suspension of Policy.  This policy shall be followed in all cases, except where the 
common council approves deviating from this policy by a vote of two-thirds of the 
members present. 
  
 
 
 







    








Plan Commission Meeting Minutes 


Monday, December 14, 2020 at 6:00 pm 


Virtual Meeting 


Members Present: Mayor Tim Swadley, Chair; Todd Barman; Phil Caravello; Tom Robinson; Tom 


Selsor; and Brett Schumacher 


Members Absent: Tom Majewski 


Staff: Rodney Scheel, Director of Planning and Development; Michael Stacey, Zoning Administrator 


Press: None 


Guests: Phil Harrison; Vic Malling; Dennis Steinkraus; Rachel Snyder; Ryan Wiesen; Jamin Friedl 


1. Call to order. Mayor Swadley called the meeting to order at 6:03 pm. 


2. Consider approval of the Plan Commission meeting minutes of November 9, 2020. Motion 


by Schumacher to approve the minutes as presented, 2nd by Caravello. Motion carried 


unanimously. 


3. Council Representative Report. 


Caravello stated the Common Council approved the ordinance to repeal group developments 


regulations. 


4. Staff Report - Status of Current Developments. 


Scheel gave an overview of the current status of developments as outlined in the packet of 


materials. He highlighted that the Madison Powder Coating expansion project will now likely 


proceed. There were no questions. 


5. Set Public Hearing date regarding a TIF 4 allocation amendment to donate excess increment 


to TIF 5 and 8. 


Ryan Wiesen, Assistant Finance Director explained the intent of the allocation amendment. TID 4 


expenditure period will end in March 2021 and State law allows communities to allocate excess 


funds to other TID’s. 


Motion by Schumacher to set a Plan Commission public hearing date of January 11, 2021 at 6 pm 


to amend TIF 4, 2nd by Caravello. Motion carried unanimously. 


Barman arrived at 6:08 pm. 


6. Request by Vik Malling to amend zoning ordinance section 78-722(7) Swimming 


Pool Standards. (public hearing on September 12 and postponed from November 9, 


2020) Scheel gave an overview of the proposed amendments. 


Barman likes the changes but questions the language in section 


7. Attorney Rachel Snyder suggested modifying section 7. 


Vik Malling inquired whether there is a depth amount that triggers fencing. Scheel stated the 
regulations require fencing for any pool that has the ability to have a water depth greater than 36”. 


The group discussed possible changes to section 7. 


T:\PACKETS\APPROVED COMMITTEE MINUTES\Plan Commission\2020\Plan Minutes 12-14-20.docx 



file://///sto-FS1/Global-Public-Files/PACKETS/APPROVED





Plan Commission Meeting Minutes 


12/14/20 


Page 2 of 3 


There was agreement to amend a portion of section 7 to read, “All pools, including those pools 


existing at the time of passage of this section, shall comply with the fencing requirements of 


this section.” 


Motion by Barman to recommend the Common Council approve the proposed ordinance 


as amended, 2nd by Robinson. Motion carried unanimously. 


7. Request by Phil Harrison to discuss the regulations for flags and banners 


used for commercial signage. (Tabled on November 9, 2020) Scheel 


explained the proposed ordinance amendments.  


Barman suggested instead of allowing each business to have a feather flag, allow one feather flag 


per street frontage. This will prevent clutter. 


Business districts in the City include: Planned Business, Neighborhood Business and Central 


Business. 


The group discussed how this would affect the downtown. Scheel stated zoning regulates private 


property not signage within the public right-of-way. A separate ordinance regulates what is placed 


in the right-of-way in Ordinance Section 64-9. 


A public hearing will be set for January 11, 2021. 


8. Discuss potential zoning code amendments to allow mobile food vending on private property. 


(Tabled on November 9, 2020) 


Scheel introduced Attorney Rachel Snyder who has been working on mobile vending ordinance 


amendments for the City. 


Rachel Snyder gave an overview of the proposed ordinance amendments including 


handling mobile vending by licensing vs zoning. 


Schumacher questioned whether the language would affect private use in a residential district. 


Rachel Snyder stated the intent is to regulate venders selling a product for consumption to the 


general public. A vendor hired by a resident to serve guests at a home would generally not be 


covered under these regulations. Schumacher would like to see language added to be clear that this 


does not apply for private residential use. 


Barman stated there is considerable redundancy between General Temporary Outdoor Sales 


and Mobile Food Vending. Barman believes these 2 sections should be combined. 


The group discussed whether or not to combine the sections. Consensus is to not combine the 


sections because one section is for temporary outdoor sales while mobile vending may become 


more permanent. 


Barman stated the limit of 180 days/year will be a discussion point. 


T:\PACKETS\APPROVED COMMITTEE MINUTES\Plan Commission\2020\Plan Minutes 12-14-20.docx 



file://///sto-FS1/Global-Public-Files/PACKETS/APPROVED





Plan Commission Meeting Minutes 


12/14/20 


Page 3 of 3 


Schumacher would like the Chamber of Commerce notified of the public hearing for this 


agenda item. 


9 .  R e q u e s t  b y  J u n c t i o n  1 3 8 ,  L L C  f o r  a n n e x a t i o n  a p p r o v a l  o f  


1 . 1 5 2  a c r e s  o f  l a n d  f r o m  t h e  T o w n  o f  R u t l a n d .  S c h e e l  


e x p l a i n e d  t h e  r e q u e s t .  


Motion by Robinson to recommend the Common Council approve this annexation, 2nd 


by Schumacher. Motion carried unanimously. 


1 0 .  R e q u e s t  b y  K e t t l e  P a r k  W e s t  L L C  f o r  a n n e x a t i o n  a p p r o v a l  o f  


4 . 0 1 0  a c r e s  o f  l a n d  f r o m  t h e  T o w n  o f  R u t l a n d .  S c h e e l  


e x p l a i n e d  t h e  r e q u e s t .  


Motion by Robinson to recommend the Common Council approve this annexation, 2nd 


by Schumacher. 


Caravello questioned if there is a way to pursue access to the west for the parkland. Dennis 


Steinkraus stated they will be looking at access to the west as part of future development. 


Motion carried unanimously. 


1 1 .  Future agenda items. 


Sign code rewrite; Outdoor dining; USAA for Dvorak property 


1 2 .  Adjournment. 


Motion by Schumacher to adjourn at 7:25 pm, seconded by Robinson. Motion carried 


unanimously. 


Respectfully Submitted, 


Michael P. Stacey 


T:\PACKETS\APPROVED COMMITTEE MINUTES\Plan Commission\2020\Plan Minutes 12-14-20.docx 



file://///sto-FS1/Global-Public-Files/PACKETS/APPROVED





T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2021 PACKETS\01-26-2021\Minutes\02-Landmarks Minutes 12-10-20.docx 


Landmarks Commission Meeting Minutes 


Thursday December 10, 2020 – 6:30 pm 


Virtual 
 


Members Present:  Peggy Veregin, Chair; Todd Hubing; Greg Pigarelli, Secretary; Kimberly 


Cook; Kristi Panthofer; Jean Ligocki and Alan Hedstrom, Vice-Chair 


Staff:  Michael Stacey, Zoning Administrator 


Absent: None  


Guests: Curt Brink; Bill Weber; Doug Hursch 


Press: None 


 


1. Call to order.  Veregin called the meeting to order at 6:30 pm. 
 


2. Consider approval of the Landmarks Commission meeting minutes of November 12, 2020.   


Motion by Hedstrom to approve the minutes as presented, 2nd by Hubing.  Motion carried 7 - 0. 
 


3. Request by Bill Weber for COA approval for roof replacement at 529 E. Main Street. 


Veregin introduced the request for a COA. 


 


Bill Weber explained the proposed project is due to many roof leaks and a deteriorating roof.  


Bill noted the roof materials are manufactured by GAF and the color palate is provided in the 


packet.  Diaz Roofing will be doing the job. 


 


Motion by Hedstrom to approve the COA for roof replacement, 2nd by Hedstrom.  Motion 


carried unanimously. 


 


4. Discuss Stoughton Riverfront Development Concept. 


Master Developer Curt Brink and Doug Hursch gave a presentation and explained the 


conceptual plans. 


 


The group discussed the project including the proposed residential uses, street/trail location, 


area elevations, potential rooftop greenspace, project timing and potential future uses of the 


power plant building. 


 


The Commissioners are pleased with the proposed project concepts. 


 


5. Discuss Local Downtown District Planning. 


Veregin stated that due to extenuating circumstances, the new date for the final presentation is 


tentatively planned for January 6, 2021 since this date is the soonest the Lakota Group are 


available.  The Commissioners are fine with this new date. 


 


Veregin stated property owners within the district will need to be notified.  Hedstrom suggested 


a HUB article and will contact Mackenzie Krumme. 


 


Stacey to check with Mayor Swadley about having a Committee of the Whole meeting. 


 


Veregin will work with Stacey and Lakota Group to get the meeting setup with Lakota Group 


essentially running the meeting from their office. 







Landmarks Commission Meeting Minutes 


12/10/20 


Page 2 of 2 


 


T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2021 PACKETS\01-26-2021\Minutes\02-Landmarks Minutes 12-10-20.docx  


6. Decide on potential projects for CLG grant application. 


Veregin stated the new deadline for grant applications is January 4, 2021.   


 


Veregin stated the Commission decided on 2 options for the grant application, one being a 


resurvey of the historic districts and the other being updating the downtown design guidelines. 


 


Veregin spoke with the grant administrator who suggested this may be the year to request a 


grant for design guidelines which normally would not be high priority.  Due to Covid, it is 


anticipated there will be fewer applications. 


 


Veregin suggested the Commission only apply for the design guidelines to increase the odds of 


acceptance.  The Commissioners agreed. 


 


Veregin has already filled out the application and has prepared the request for proposals (RFP) 


to finalize the application related to cost of the project.  Veregin will work with Stacey to get the 


RFP’s out tomorrow. 


 


Motion by Hedstrom to submit a CLG application for downtown design guidelines, 2nd by 


Hubing.  Motion carried unanimously. 


 


7. Discuss the Landmark website. 


Stacey reported Derek Westby will be leaving the City for a new job by the end of the year. 


 


Hedstrom will have something to report by next meeting.   


 


Veregin has found a good website and will provide a link to the Commissioners. 


 


8. Commission Reports/Calendar.   
None discussed. 


 


9. Future agenda items.   
Veregin would like to move forward with listing the Depot Hill Historic District. 


 


Veregin stated the Commission will need to review the draft nomination for the power plant 


building. 


 


Ligocki would like to discuss drafting advanced directives with the group. 


 


10. Adjournment. Motion by Hedstrom to adjourn at 8:40 pm, 2nd by Hubing.  Motion carried 


unanimously. 


 


 
Respectfully Submitted,  
 
Michael P. Stacey 







FINANCE MINUTES 


December 22, 2020 @6:00 p.m. 


GoToMeeting 


Present: 


Jenson, Doom, Schumacher, Reeves and Mayor Swadley 


Also Present: 


Finance Director Friedl, Police Chief Leck, Opera House Director Brehm, Clerk Licht, Alder Hundt 


Call to Order: 


Schumacher called the meeting to order at 6:00 pm. 


Communications: 


Friedl said that he is in communication with the Senior Center Annex businesses and that item 


would be back on the finance agenda in January.  


Reports: The following reports were entered into the record.  
• YTD December 15, 2020 Contingency Report  
• November 2020 Financial Report 
• November 2020 Treasurer’s Report  


 


Approval of the December 8, 2020 Finance Committee Minutes 
Motion by Jenson, second by Reeves to approve the minutes. Motion carried 5-0. 
 


Discussion and possible action regarding request from the Police Department to utilize 


unspent 2020 CIP amounts to exceed the Community Camera Interface budgeted costs by 


approximately $4,000 


Motion by Jenson, second by second by Reeves to approve the request. Motion carried 5-0. 


Discussion and possible action regarding request from the Opera House to invest up to 


$52,000 from its 2020 Entertainment Venue Relief Program funds to install a permanent 


streaming system 


Motion by Reeves, second by Doom to recommend that council approve. Motion carried 5-0. 


FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS 


- Senior Center Annex Lease Agreements 


- Future Treatment of Costs Eligible for Special Assessments 


Adjournment: 


Motion by Jenson, second by Reeves to adjourn at 6:48 p.m. Motion carried 5-0. 


Respectfully Submitted,  


Holly Licht, City Clerk 





		01-Plan Minutes  12-14-20

		02-Landmarks Minutes 12-10-20

		03-12-22 Finance Minutes






Meeting of: MEETING OF COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 


STOUGHTON 


Date//Time: Tuesday, January 12, 2021 @ 7:00 p.m. The GoToMeeting line will be open at 


6:50 p.m. so everyone can get connected. No business will be conducted until 


7:00 p.m. 


Location: The meeting of the Common Council will be conducted virtually due to 


COVID-19. You can join the meeting from your computer tablet or smartphone: 


https://global.gotomeeting.com/join/486766581.  You can also dial in 


using your phone:  +1 (571) 317-3116. Access Code: 486-766-581. 


 


Members: Mayor Tim Swadley, Sid Boersma, Phil Caravello, Ozzie Doom, Ben Heili, 


Regina Hirsch, Fred Hundt, Greg Jenson, Jean Ligocki, Tom Majewski, Lisa 


Reeves, and Brett Schumacher, Joyce Tikalsky 


 


CALL TO ORDER 


 


Roll Call, Communications, and Presentations:  


Mayor Swadley called the meeting to order at 7:02 p.m.   


 


Clerk Licht called the roll and noted there were 12 alders present.  


 


Hirsch communicated that there would be a Committee of the Whole meeting on Thursday, February 4th 


at 6:30 p.m. to address the Whitewater Park.   


 


Mayor Swadley stated that it is Salt Awareness Week  


 


Mayor Swadley stated that Monday is MLK day.  


 


VITA will be doing personal income tax returns this year at the Fire Station.  


 


Minutes and Reports: 


Finance (12/22/20); CAP (10/6/20)  


 


Public Comment Period: 


 Karen Keller, 915 S. Page St., spoke in favor of Shakers Saloon keeping their liquor 


license.  


 Vicky Elsing, 124 W Chicago St., spoke in favor of Shakers Saloon keeping their liquor 


license.  


 Brad Dillman, 5309 Portsmouth Way, spoke in favor of Shakers Saloon stating that the bar 


is safe.  


 Rafael Raglund, 131 Tower Dr., comments for Shakers Saloon keeping their license were 


read.  


 William Osborne, 2294 White Oak Trail, spoke in favor of Shakers Saloon keeping their 


license. 


 Aaron McCarroll spoke in favor of Shakers Saloon keeping their license.  



https://global.gotomeeting.com/join/486766581

tel:+15713173116,,486766581





 Sharon Mason-Boersma, 243 E McKinley St.,  spoke in opposition of the Whitewater Park 


and dam removal.  


 


Consent Agenda 


A. December 22, 2020 Council Minutes 


B. R-6-2021-  Authorizing and directing the proper city official(s) to issue Operator Licenses to 


various applicants. 


 


Motion by Reeves, second by Boersma to approve the consent agenda. Motion carried 12-0. 


 


OLD BUSINESS 


 


 


 


NEW BUSINESS 


 


HEARING: Discussion and possible decision on the complaint seeking Revocation of the “Class B” 


Reserve Combination License held by Shakers Saloon, LLC d/b/a Shakers Saloon located at 111 Chalet 


Dr.  


 


Motion by Hundt, second by Schumacher to grant the extension for written arguments for Shakers.  


Motion by Hundt, second by Boersma to have written briefs filed by January 17th and then discussion at 


next council meeting.  Motion by Jenson, second by to allow the prosecution to file written briefs by the 


close of business on the 20th.  Motion carried 10-2 with Ligocki and Boersma voting ‘no’.  Motion failed 


on a vote of 6-6 with Boersma, Caravello, Doom, Ligocki, Reeves and Tikalsky voting ‘no’. Mayor 


Swadley broke the tie with a ‘no’ vote. Motion failed 6-7. Original Motion failed on a vote of 1-11 with 


Hundt voting ‘yes’.  


 


Steve Meyer stated that the shooting did not happen at Shakers Saloon, but 40 yards away near the hotel.  


He stated that they have not received a video from the city of the incident. He stated multiple times that 


his bar is safe and complied with all the rules. He stated that the police department did not inform 


Shakers that the victim tested positive for COVID.  He stated that they have not been provided due 


process. 


 


Hirsch asked if they were aware of the public health rules at the time. Meyer stated that he was told by 


the tavern league said they could be open at 25%. 


 


Manthe gave his oral argument stated that Shakers license should be revoked for a variety of reasons. He 


stated it would be a public safety risk to allow Shakers to keep their license.  


 


Motion by Boersma, second by Reeves to adopt the report recommend by the public safety committee. 


Motion carried 12-0.  


 


Motion by Boersma, second by Jenson to revoke the “Class B” Reserve Combination License held by 


Shakers Saloon, LLC d/b/a Shakers Saloon located at 111 Chalet Dr. Motion carried 12-0. 


 







 


R- 1-2021- Resolution Approving an Amendment to the Project Plan of Tax Incremental District No. 4, 


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin  


 


Motion by Schumacher, second by Hirsch to approve R-1-2020. Resolution Approving an Amendment 


to the Project Plan of Tax Incremental District No. 4, City of Stoughton, Wisconsin. 


 


O- 1-2021- An Ordinance Providing for the Direct Annexation by Unanimous Approval of a Portion of 


the Town of Rutland to the City of Stoughton, Dane County, WI 


 


Caravello read O-1-2020 for the first reading. It will be back before the council on January 26th.  


 


O- 2-2021- An Ordinance Providing for the Direct Annexation by Unanimous Approval of a Portion of 


the Town Rutland to the City of Stoughton, Dane County, Wisconsin  


 


Caravello read O-2020 for the first reading. It will be back before the council on January 26th. 


 


O- 3-2021- Amending Zoning Code Sections 78-722 of the Stoughton Municipal Code  


 


Caravello read O-3-2021 for the first reading. It will be back before the council on January 26th. 


 


R- 2-2021- Standard Construction Details for Concrete Sidewalk & Driveway Entrances  


for the City of Stoughton  


 


Motion by Majewski, second by Reeves to approve R-2-2021. Standard Construction Details for 


Concrete Sidewalk & Driveway Entrances for the City of Stoughton. Motion carried 12-0 


 


 


R- 3-2021- Amending the Council Rules to Include updates to Public Comment Period  


 


Motion by Heili, second by Hirsch to approve R-3-2021 Amending the Council Rules to Include 


updates to Public Comment Period. Motion carried 12-0. 


 


R- 4-2021- Amending the Agenda Items (Placement of) Policy  


 


Motion by Heili, second by Hirsch to approve R-4-2021 Amending the Agenda Items (Placement of) 


Policy. Motion carried 12-0. 


 


R-5-2021- Authorizing and directing the proper city official(s) to approve the continuation of the 


City of Stoughton’s current COVID absence policy with the exception of excluding day care and 


school closures  


 







Motion by Reeves, second by Hundt to approve R-5-2021 Authorizing and directing the proper 


city official(s) to approve the continuation of the City of Stoughton’s current COVID absence 


policy with the exception of excluding day care and school closures. Motion carried 12-0. 


 


Adjourn: 


Motion by Majewski, second by Reeves to adjourn at 9:40 p.m. Motion carried 12-0.  


 


Respectfully Submitted,  


 


Holly Licht, City Clerk  


 
 





